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THE CENADIAN CABINET, 1848 - 1858

A STUDY IN DUALITY

ABSTRACT

The 'federsal character of the Union of Upper and Lower Canada made
it unavoidable that the French Canadians be given representakion in the
Executive Council. The years between 1841 and 1848 were a period when
various experiments were made to determine the basis and extent of
French Canadian representation in the Executive Council. The determin-
ation of the French Canadians to obtain influential position in the |
administration as a means to preserve their identity and the eagerness
of the Canada West Reformers to enlist the French support for their
movement for responsible government resulted in a tacit acceptance of a

double cabinet and a double majority scheme.

After the granting of responsibility in 1848 a !'double cabinet! was
formed under Lafontaine and Baldwin in which every attempt was made to
balance the strength and influence of the two sections. The differences
in the needs and aims of the two sections of the province made cabinet

cohesion difficult and resulted in sectiocnal responsidlity.

The difficulty of maintaining a majority in Canada West for that
section of the cabinet brought about the combination of various
political groups. The strength of the French Canadian party in power

compelled the Tory-Conservative group to submit to the political duality.
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The cabinet became an instrument to maintain the political duality.
The attempt of the radicals to form an alternate government failed be-

cause their programme had been hostile to the existing political duality.

Thus by 1858 the cabinet had adjusted itself to the !federal!

character of the legislatiye Union ef the two provinces.
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INTRODUCTION

THE UNION AND THE BEGINNING OF POLITICAL DUALITY

Lord Durham's emphasis on a legislative rather than on a federal
union of the two Canada and his recommendatiocn of responsible govern-
ment, outwardly changed the nature of the political conflict that
existed previous': to 1841l. The primary aim of the legislative union
was to assimilate the French section of the population to the British
population,l Together with responsible govermment, this was to be the
guarantee for the continued British connection, The imperial govern=
ment accepted the idea of a legislative union but rejected responsible

government as ineompatible with the British coimesction,

The attempt to work a legislative union over » two distinct racial
and cultural groups, with the aim of assimilating one to the other and
the reluctance to grant responsible govermment strongly influenced the

evolution of cabinet govermment in Canada after 1841,

Lord Sydenham, who was sent to implement the above policy of the
impefial govermment, established most of the elementary conventions nec-
essary for a cabinet system of govermment, A committee of the Executive
Council was established under a President to co-ordinate the functions of

various depa,rtmentsa2 He established: that all departmental heads should be

1, Sir C,P, Lucas, Lord Durham's Report, (0xford, 1912), vo%. 2, pp. 289,307,

2, W, Halliday, Evolution of the Presidency of the Queen'‘s Privy Council
for Canada, (A paper at:Public Archivés; Ottawa),"p.2. .
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Executive Councillors and that they should be either in the Assembly or
2
the Legislative Council.” The Union Act placed the contrel of revenue in
the Assembly with the restriction that.only. members of the Executive
Council could introduce money billsé Besides, the governor himself acted
- . . . . a‘ 0 . »
as the prime minister, bringing/certain amount of cohesion into the

Executive Council,

The Union gave equal representation to the two former provinces in
the Assembly and Sydenham established the practice of double ministries::
in the Council. There were two Attorneys General, two Solicitors
General and two Provincial Secretaries in his Council, Outside the coun-
cil there were two ministers of Finance? Thus the federal element in the
legislature and the executive dates from the Union itself and from the

first administration formed under the Union,

Sydenham, however, never yielded any responsibility to his ministers.
It waé a 'ministerial! rather than a cabinet government. Nevertheless
Russell instructed Sydenham,to -
meesss call to your counsels and to
employ in the public service those

persons who, by their position and
character have obtained the seneral

3. CoS. Burchill, The Evolution of the Canadian Cabinet from the Executive

Chunail .
ﬁwith Special Reference to Upper Canada 0. (4n unpublished thesis,

Queens University, Kingston, 1930), p. &0.

Le Ibid., D. Sk,

5. J.C. Coté, Political Appointments and Elections in the Province of

Canada, From 1841 to 1867. (Ottawa, 1866),pp. 3 - 10,
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confidence and esteem of the
inhabitants of the province,"

6

This implied that both sections of the population had to be given rep-
resentation in the Council. Atcordingly the Governor-General offered
a2 seat in the council to Lafantainee7 He was aware of the fact that an

all British administration could never be strong.

The French were bitterly opposed to the Union as well as its terms
éné the way it was imposed on them. The motives for the Union were
sufficiently clear that it was impossible for the French to join the
ﬁiniétry, at least‘ﬁot until they could be convinced that they could ob-
tain what theyvrequired under the Union, in spite of its intended puwpose,
This was the role of the Reformer of Canada West, especially Hincks and

Baldwin during the early years of the Union,

"Lord Durham ascribes to you national
objects; if he is right, Union would be
ruin to you; if he is wrong and that
you are really desirous of liberal
institutions and economical government
union would in my opinion give you all
you could desire,.ao"s

"On the union question you should not
mind Lord Durham'!s moiives but the
effects of the scheme.., I wish we
could convince you that a really respon=-
sible Executive Council would accomplish
all what we wanteﬂg

6, W.P.M. Kenmnedy, Documents of the Canadian Constitution, 1759-1915 R
(Taronto,»l'{)l&?s9 0. 518, Lord John Russell to Poulett Thomson,oepte,?,183%,

7. . G.P. Scrope, Charles Lord Sydenham (London, 1843), p. 179.

8. Lafontaine Papers (Public Archives of Canada), Hincks to Lafontaine,
Aug., 18, 1839,

99 Ibid@g Aple 303 18399
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Hincks attempt was to form a united party with the French in order to

force the issue of responsible govermment on the Imperial government,
therefore he had to win the confidence of the French for the Reform
party of Canada West,

"Above all things do not lose confidence

in the sincerity of your brother Reformers

in Upper Canada, we will not deceive you,”lo

A gregt deal of persuation had to be used to convince the French that

union was essential Tor constitutional governmemtell Lafontaine and his
colleagues accepbed the Union as a necessary evil. They were afraid that the
alternative to a union might be the return of a Special Council in

Lower Canadaalz

A change of govermment in England replaced Russell with Stanley as
the Colonial Secrebary., His instructions to the new governor, Bagot
advocated a poliey of 'divide and rule!, He instructed Bagot to "mulbiply

the vendeuse', "to play the game of divide et imperal and to admit the

French into the council "as a people" not "as a party", 3

This was an admission of the fact that the "all-British Ministry" of

10, Lafonbaine Papers (P.A.C.), Hincks to Lafontaine, June 17, 1840,

11, Ibid., Sept. 9, 1839.

12, Sir Franecis Hincks, Reminiscences, (Montreal, 188L), ppe 53-5k.

13. Bagot Papers (Publlc Archives of Canada) Stanley to Bagot, Oct,
3, 1842, Cited by V., Jensen, Lafontaine and the Canadian Union
(Unpublished thesis, University of Toronto, 1942), Dre 74=75e
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Sydenham could not be worked. S.B. Harrison - the Provineial Secretary -
wrote to Bagots -~

"There is no diguising the fact that the
French members possess the power of the
country, and he who directs that power
backed by the most efficient means of
controlling it is in a situation to govern
the province best".lh

The truth of this statement was not doubted by Bagot and on the lines

indicated by Stanley, Duval and Chervier were offered seats in the council,
The failure of this attempt to strengthen the administration was followed
by a threat of the existing Exegutive.Council to resign, unless the French
were given seats in the council°l5 This forced Bagot to yileld to the
terms of Lafontaine . Three offices had to be vacated for the French and
a seat for Béldwin, whose admission was insisted on by the French.l6 The
negotiations and the events involved in this reconstruction of the council
wefe of conéiderable significance. The Tories as well as the Governor
were convinced that no administration was strong. without the inclusion of
French representatives, Further the Governor had to accept the French as
representatives of a party or a united group and to recognize the leader-
ship of Lafontaine., It was also the first concrete expression of the
acceptance of the Union by the French . MNoreover the inclusien ‘of Baldwin in
the council~a result of French insistence rather than an admission of any
sbrength of responsible government movement in Canada west ,~laid the

foundation of the concept of double leadership in the ministry. The council

14, Ibid,v. 2, p. 412-427, Harrison to Bagot July 11, 1842, Cited by
V;ﬁJenSeﬁ,_QE, eit., p. 88,

15, Burchill, op. cit., p. 86,

16, Hincks, Reminiscences p. 87.




was gradually filled with their respective supporters. Aylwin and lorin
under Lafontain%g leadership formed the French section of the ministry
while Hincks,Sullivan and Killaly tended to follow Baldwins leadership.
When in September 1843 the two sections decided to resign:only Daly was

left in the council.17

Although the first Lafontaine - Baldwin ministry presented no completé
homogeneity. even on a sectional basis, or implied any grant of responsi-
bility, the council was beginning to think in terms of a cabinet, Out‘of;
the six new ministers five were asked. for the first time ;to seek re-clec-

18

tion. In his first confidential despatch Metcalfe wrote to Stanley: -

"The council are now spoken of by themselves

and others generally as 'the ministry! the

'Administrator! the 'Cabinet! the !'Govermment!

and so forth, They regard themselves as a

responsible ministry, and expect that the

policy and conduct of the Governor shall be

subservient to their views and party purposes,"l9

Bagot's illness had kept him away from most of the council meetings,

This made the meetings less formal and more cabinet-like, Instead of the
governor or the President of the Executive Council, who deputised for the

Governor, the party leaders took an important role in the deliberations.

This strengthened the double leadership in the ministry.

Metcalfds endeavour was to Wweaken the responsible government movement,

17. J:0. Oote] Political Aprointments and Elections in the Province of
- Canada, p. 2k,
18, Burchill, op..cit., p. 86,

19. HMetcalfe to Stanley, Ap.L4. 1843, cited by V. Jensen, op. cit., p. 105,
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which was now ubToﬂ“bﬂCﬁlH as a result of the alliance between the
French and Baldwirs party. He realized that the main reason for this
alliance was Baldwin's promise of justice to the French and his readiness
to fight for the IFrench cause, Therefore, in order to break their
alliance,letcalfe abandoned the assimilation policy.

"If the French Canadians are to be ruled to

Tthelr satisfaction, and who would desire to

rule them otherwise, every attempt to

metamorphose them syst ematlcally must be

abandoned, and the atbtalnment of that object ;
whether to be accomplished or not must be R
left to time and the expected increase and B
predominance of the English over the French

population., The desired result cannot be

produced by measures which rouse an 1nd1~—

nant spirit against it," 20

He began to make concessions to the French in order to.wim'the support - . .

. . N - s e % . — 2
oi the French people and weaken Lafontaines position in Canada ast,‘l

Failing to win any considerable support from the French she tried to

old s upo orte r of I——‘oJa

jvor
od
©

=<3
e
[oje]
O]
&

split the unity of the French party.

Papineau, and a rebel leader himsell, was Jealous of Lafontaine’s position.

He accepted office together with D.B. Papineau. They were branded as "Les

Vendeuse" and lost their popularity among the French population. This wes

the fear that kept most French Canadians from accepting office,

20.  C.0. 537 (P.4.C.) vol, 142, 257-68. HMetcalfe to Stanley May 10.-
1843, Cited by W.G., Ormsby, Canadian Union. The Emergence of the
Federal Concept. (Unpublished thesis. Carleton Jaiversity,l959),p.l963

2l. lMetcelfe out-manoeuvred the Lafontaine party by allowing the
ministry to move an address to the Throne requesting the removal
of restrictions on the use of French Language. He yielded to the
demand for an amnesty for Papineau and two other French Canadians., He
also favoured the removel of the seat of Govermment to Montreal.

Ormsby. Pp. 146, 197.
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Although Lafontaine by 184L accepted responsible government as a
desirable goal,22 it provided to be only a very weak bond between the

Canada West Reformers and the French. The 1844 elsctions weakened the

o,

Reformers of Canada West, This intensified bthe already existing criti-
¥ g

cism of the French that Lafontaine was sacrificing too much for Baldwin's

23

theories of responsible government.

Lafontaine wrote to Baldwin,

"Our friends, even the best disposed place little
reliance vpon the reformers of Upper Canada with
the exception of a few, when you know as well as
myselfe... they (Reformers of Canada West) cannot
expect that Lower Canadians will conbinue to injure
their own interests by fighting for their cause,
which they have so shamefully abandoned.!

g

Lafontaine had to face the disappointment of Quebec leaders like Caron
and ﬁylwin325 whio were amxious Lo negotlale with the Tories for places in
the council. They put the blame for their exclusion from office on
“Lafontaine, On September 23rd 1845 Lafontaine informed Baldwin that there

was a feeling of distrust of Canada West Reformers, on the part of his

French followers,

unless Baldwin is in power they are to abandon
Upper Canada Reformers for all times... such
feeling getting stronger in Quebec°"26

22, Baldwin Papers (Public Reference Library, Towonto), Lafontaine to
Baldwin, Feb, 15, 184k,

23, R,Seilongleyj‘Sir Francis Hincks, {(Toronte 1943), p. 182,

2. Baldwin Papers (P.R.L.T.), Lafonbaine to Baldwin, Sept. 27, 18L5,

- LANN

25. Aylwin was of Irish-Welsh origin and waes in close asscclation with the
French,

26, Baldwin Papers (P.R.L.T.), Lafontaine to Baldwin, Sept. 30, 18L5.




Lafomtaine had perfect trust in Baldwin but could not depend on the rest
of the Reform party, Even Hincks was not dependable especially after he
accepted office under Bagobt, in spite of opposition from Baldwin and
Lafontaine. The weakening of the Reformers in the election of 18LL,

was a seb back for the alliance, Canada West Reformers obtained only
thirteen seats, The responsible government movement was losing ground in
Canada West, and the cry for office sﬁrengthening in Canada East. Caron,
Morin and Aylwin were toc eager for offices and co-cperated with the
Tories whose policy on the-Uﬁioﬁ and responsible government was by no
means favourable to the French, There was no union between the cause of

responsible govermment and the cause of French nationality,

Lafontaine had no faith in Metcalfe and would not take any position
under him. However, he presented no insurmountable opposition to anyone
of his colleagues negotiating with the Tories, pro&ided tﬁat the terms éf
the French were granted. The Draper = Caron Correspondence -provides the
classic proof of the French precccupation with the struggle to obtain the
- immediate aims of preserving their identity., Responsible goverrmment was

still a distant hope for the French.

Draper approached Caron in the summer of 1845 and suggested that
three offices in the council might be filled by French Ganadians@27 He
also expressed his desire to include Lafontaine in the council were it

not for the personal differences between Lafontaine and the Governor-General.

27. 1. Presidency of the Executive Council.
11, Solicitor Ganeralship for Canada East,
111. Assistant Secretaryship for Canada East.
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Caron was in favour of the idea and informed Lafontaine that "what was
offered is indeed little, but it might be a beginning of something

beﬁter"%a He further stated that Draper,

M, ..after having strongly insisted upon the.
advaentages that would result to the public in
general and particularly tothe French part of
the population by having in the council of the
country persons knowing the wants of all, and
able to provide for theMeeoo!

29

Lafontaine found that the above view of Draper and Caron's approval of

it implied a principle}

M, ...from the tenor of your letier although not
stated in express terms that you are of the
opinion that in the circumstances of the country
the majority of each province sheuld govern
respectively in the sSense cecvecevccosccosccncse
+ss« that Upper Canada should be represented in
the Administration of the day by men posse551ng
-the confidence of the political party in. that
section of the province which was the majority in
the House of Assembly and that it should be the
same for Lower Gaﬁada,"BG

Thus was born the concept of a double Cabinet supported by the respective
majorities in the two sections of the province, It was Lafontainets

the
creation, though he tried to attribute the idea to/Draper-Caron convei-

sation. Neither Draper nor Caron ever thought of a systematic plan to

reconstruct the council, As Lafontaine himself pointed out, Draper was

28, Hincks, Reminiscences, R.E. Caron to Lafontaine, Sept. 7, 1845, p. 148,

29, Tbid.

30. Hincks, Reminiscences, Lafontaine to Caron, Sept. 10, 1845, p. 150,




merely interested in patching up the administration, by discarding the
now wnpopular D.B, Viger and D.B. Papineau, in favour of more prominant
French Canadian politicianseBl Lafonbaine's conclusion was, since the
Canada Wesat sectioﬁ of the administration was formed on the prineiple of
the majority party representing in the Executive Council, that ..,
Lower Canada should have wnat is granted to Upper Canada - nothing more

but alsc nething lesso"sz

This was the basic prineciple in Lafontaine's double majority scheme.
In practice this would mean mullification of, not only the motives of the
Union but, also its form., The united legislabure would in effect become
a-double legislature with repercussions on the executive, No party
could develop strictly on political prineiples embracing both sections

of the province,

Not once did Lafontaine mention responsible goverrment in his letter.
The only political principle emphasised was the right of the majority in
each section to form its own ministry. Duality, irrespective of party
politics, was their immediate aim, The ideal of the Canada West Reformers
of a united Reform party fighting for responsible govermment had only a
remote hope., Any success of unity and degree of co-operation between
the parties of Lafontaine and Baldwin depended on how much the Tories were

willing to yield. In fact there was no Liberal or Reform party among the

31. Ibide, pe 152,

32@ Ibid@g pa 153@
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French Canadians, The term 'Liberals' was used merely to distinguish
them from the Tories of British origin end a handful of radicals who

still believed in the 1837 tradition.

Caron in communicabing the views of Lafontaine on the reconstruction
of the council explained the corollaries of a "double cabinet" system.

"It has been assumed as a principle that the
direction of affairs should be in the hands
of the two prevailing parties in each section
of the province; that the Administration
ought no more to govern Lower Canada by means
of a majority obtained in Upper Canada than
it ought to govern the majority of Upper
Canada by means of the aid that Lower Canada
should give To it, and that no Administration
whatever ought to last any longer than it
shall be sustained by a majority in each of
the sections of the province respectively"3

This implied sectional.responsiblity in the cabinet. with sectional
legislation as the necessary consequence, Theoretically, it stipulated that
any important measure introduced by either section of the cabinet had
to obtain majorities in both sections of the legislaturé, This
necessitated a very high degree of agreement in bobth the cabinet and the
Assembly. One section of the cabinet could not undertake to support
a measure brought by the other section, even if its’ operation was

be
limited to that particular section alone, unless the former could/assured
of a majority in their owm gection. An unfavourable vote in one section
of the legislature, on a measure introduced by the other section would

E L -~ " the N . 1 £ f‘
theoretically invelve / resignation of the former.

33. Hincks, Reminiscences. Caron.io'Draper; Sept. 17, 1845, po 15k
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Thevimplications of these stipulations were of great significance owing
to the existing recial and cultural differences between the two sections
of the province, The ultimate practical effects would be, firstly, that
most legislation would take a sectioﬁal character,and?clash of sectional
interests would make agreement extremely difficult, Secondlyﬁsectional
responsiblity would involve sectional resignations and reconstructions in
the cabinet, The cabinet resigning as a whole would be a rare occurrence
because of the difficulty of defeating the administration in both
sections of the Ascembly on a single measure. On the other hand, the

stronger section of the administration could use their strength to

bargain with the other section.

The nature of the problems facing the two sections of the population
and deep rooted differences between them woﬁldbmake such a scheme extreme—
ly impracticable. Any attempt to strictly adhere to the system would
mean complete deadlock, Yet the most remarksble feature in the history
of the period after 1848 until Confederation was not that the double
majority scheme failed but that it worked with little departure from

the conditions laid down by Lafontaine and Caron,

Caron's letter to Draper furthe: emphasised that according to the
scheme Canada Fast should obtain an equal number of seats in the council
as Canada West and that the minority in Canada East should be given "a
reasonabie share in the direction of affairs,"34 Thus even the numerical

composition of the ministry was to be fixed on a sectional basis.

3k, Ibid. pp. 154=155,
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Finally Caron assured Draper,
", ..that this is the opinion of 2ll
those with whom I have spoken, and
being so you will either find no
individual disposed to lend himself
to the arrangement you have in view
(that of replacing the two members
who should retire), or if you should
find anyone ..., he would be of no
use to you."35

This was a warning that the French would have 'all or nothing!. Draper's
reply was

".oo while individually I am ready to
make any effort to atbtain an:end I con-
sider so desirable.... I have to secure
much cooperation, as well as to enter into
much consultation, with those with, as
well as those under whom I am actingeece.."

36

The most important result of this correspondence was that the double
majority scheme obtained sufifsetent publicity and came to be regarded as
almost a tsine qué nop! for French cooperation for any administration.
Lafontaine shrewdly made use of the correspondence to,publicly lay down

their terms. On April 7th 1846 Lafontaine read the entire correspondence

in the Assembly and initiated a heated debate on the subjecte37

Metcalfe's departure on November 26th, 1845 removed the main obstacle

38

that prevented Lafontainéstaking an active part in the negotiations,

35. 1Ibid, pp 155-156. The two members to be replaced were D.B. Viger and
D.B. Papineau,

36, Ibid, p 156. Draper to Caron Oct. 16, 1845,
37. Hincks, Reminiscences, pp 147 - 168,

38, Ibid, p. 158.
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This strengthened his position as the leader of the French population.

He emphasised « : the unity of the French as the essential condition for
achieving their constitutional rights??%&e condemned any attempt to
accept offices as individuals. This would "....break the only bond which

constitutes our strength, viz, union among oUrselves, .37

It is significant to note the reaction of the Canada West Reformers
to the double majority scheme, Theoretically, the scheme was‘unacceptable
to all Reformers, but none openly attacked the French for demanding it. .

: that

Baldwin, apologetically, and in the hope/ at least Lafontaine would not
misunderstand him, pointed out to the latter that the scheme would be
not: only hammful to the whole province, but d¥~weudd-be particularly
injurious to the interests of the French Canadians themselves,

"Tt will perpetuate distinctions, invite

animosities, sever the bonds of political

sympathy and sap the foundations of

political morality."

50O ,

He warned Lafontaine that the Tories would abandon the French when the
latter!s power of enforcing the stipulations were spent. Then they would
resort to the same policy they pursued in carrying out the Union in 18L41.
Baldwin repeated that responsible government could be the only guarantee

for ... French rights.hl In October 1845 Baldwin wrote to Lafontaine

M. eso I fully concede that assuming the
principle of a double cabinet to be

39, Ibid.,p 153,

L0, Baldwin Papers, (P.R.L.T.), Baldwin to Lafontaine, (18L45-no date and
” month).

L1, Tbid.
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supported by a double majority you
have put the matter upon the only
footing upon which the foundation
of such, as I conceive it, anomalous
political machine could be accomp-
lished with any regard whatever even
to the forms of responsible
government,"

He maintained %hat the principle "to be inadmissible and wholly
impracticable," However,

"I can well understand that in the
practical work of legislation a certain
deference should be paid to the
majorities from the respective sections
of the province in respect to such
measures as are solely applicable to
elther, and that such measures should
not be forced upon them against the
decided opinion of a considerable
majority of representatives from such

a section, Bub this is my view, if it
is, an entirely different principle
from that of having a Double. Cabinet,
and the one half dependent for its
existence on the confidence of the
Representatives of Lower Canada and
others in the confidence of the
Representatives from Upper Canadaeeeg"hz

Baldwin maintained that the Tories had no desire to rule by the major-
’ities from both sections of the province. Instead,théywam:ohly trying
© to reinforce theirmeaké&d.majority.hB More than once Lafontaine had
mentioned that the movement for responsible government#@s weak and the
Reformers themselves were losing their strength. Baldwin expressed his

great faith in the triumph of sound principles. In:spite of discouraging

42, Lafontaine Papers (P.A.C.) Baldwin to Lafontaine Oct. 16, 1845,

L3. Ibid,
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results of the electio§7§;form‘movemant had been so far successful.™*
These letters of Baldwin provide sufficient proof of - the failure
of the Canada West Reformers to win the support of the French for a
united Reform party., Baldwin while emphasising .. the danger of the
double majority scheme admitted that,at least in practice, & -similar
arrangement was unavoidable. Hincks was less concerned about the
principles involved. He always put expediency before principle, The
double majority scheme, he believed, would break the Draper adminis—
tration by splitting the Canada East Tories from the Canada West Tories.
Itwas worth giving it a trial, at least to teach a lesson to the Quebec

5

lead.e:r's.,LF

The Examiner declared that the scheme was

M,eeod nullification of the Unioneee..
.'.OO'OQOOO'OC’.OQG.G‘OObiﬂ.hbﬂolﬂnoﬁ

If this scheme were to be carried out

why continue the name of the Union?

Why have two wrangling majorities with

separate interests in one house"hé
'Thus%at the beginning it seemed that;éauble majority scheme was going to
be a major obstacle to a close union between the Canada West Reformers
and the French Canadians, Atleast Draper had expressed his desire to
concede the terms of the French. If the French were included in the
council the Tories would be strengthened. and the prospects for the

Reform party and responsible govermment would not be encouraging. How-

ever, the Tories and the new Governor General Lord Elgin were not ready

hie Ibid.

45, Baldwin Papers, (P.R.L.T.),Hincks to Baldwin,Mer, 29, . 1847,

46, The Examiner (P.A.C, Microfilm), Apl. 22, 1846,
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to accept the scheme,

Lord Elgin realized that a strong administration was possible only
with French support. Therefore,he attempted to break the "unnatural
alliance"*! bebween Baldwin and Lafontaine by inviting the French
Canadians to accept office on M"reasonable and fair tea:‘.nrus“.l*‘8 A confiden~
tial memorandum inviting the French to accept office was first sent to
Morin who refused to accept office unless the majority party in Canada
- Bast was admitted to o:ﬁ‘fj.celf9 This was the basis of the double‘majority
scheme, One important aim of Lord Elgin in addressing the memorandum
to Morin rather than to Lafontaine was to exploit certain differences

50

that existed between the two French leaders:;  Lord Elgin immediately

passed on the memorandum to Taché who after consulting the French

, him _
leaders informed/that they were not willing' to:join: the existing Tory
ministry.5l A final attempt was made by Cayley,the Inspector General in

the existing council, who virtually offered the double majority'terms to

Caron. Three places in the council should be filled by the French,

47. Sir A.G. Doughty, The Elgin-Grey Papers, (Ottewa, 1937), vol.l,
13. Elgin to Grey, Feb. 247, 1847.

L8, Ibid., p. 19, Confidential Memorandum, f¥em Elgin to Morin
Febo 233; : 1814-70

49.  Ibid.,pp-2l, 24 Secret Memorandum, - Morin to Elgin, Feb. 27, 1847.

50, Baldwin Papers, (P.R.L.T.) Hincks to Baldwin, Aug. 16 1846,

51, Elgin—Grey‘PapErs, vol. 1, 24. Elgin to Grey Mar, 27, 1847.
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balanced by three councillors from Canada West, and the seventh place should
be filled by a representative of British minority in Canada Bast. Caron
insisted on the dismissal of Daly who had been representing Canada East
. . 2 s ‘s ,

without a break since lSAlg This last condition was unacceptable to Lord
Elgin@52 The presence of Daly was incompatible with the double majority
principle of placing the whole section of the council for Canada East at
the discretion of the French. Lord Elgin was anxious to follow the British
constitutional practice,

"It is above all necessary to inculcate

the belief..... that the British

government and its representative:

place entire confidence in the loyalty

of all parties in the Provinceeeeo.-..

and that they seek it by means that

are strictly constitutional.”53
Hdwever, he was aware of the difficulties arising out of sectional
tendencies in Canadian politics. He regretted the lack of unifying political
parbies which resulted in the French section forming a powerful opposition
bloc to any party that excluded it from the minj.str:}r,slP He admitted that
t.55

no strong goverrment could be formed without French suppor The fajlure
to split the French in order to avoid the granting of double majority left
the governor and the Tofies with the only alternative of being satisfied

with'renegades' Like D.B. Papineau° Meanwhile, the Canada West Reformers had

given their tacit approval to the scheme, at first to embarass the Tories,

but later in order to get the French closer into thelr camp. Lafontaine

520 Ihid,,rpplibleh3u. o e i s DO
53, Ibid,, pp.39-40, Elgin to Grey, May 18th, 1847,
54, Ibid,,p. 20,Elgin to Grey, Mar. 27, 1847

55. 1bid., p.-46, Elgin to Grey, Ap. 26, 1847.
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by 1847 had become an uncompromising, and domineering leader of the French
Canadians. He had no desire to join with the Tories and used his

prevent
influence to/his followers from joifing them, While his distrust of the

Tories and the Imperial government increased, he began to rely more on

responsible govermment as the means for regaining French Camadian rights,

As the cause of the French and that of responsible government came
closer together after 1846 the double majority scheme became an essential
part of the alliance,

"dhen first made Lafontaine's double

majority scheme seemed a serious

danger to the continued union of the

Upper Canada Reform party and the

French Canadians, By the spring of

1847 it had become its chief defence." 54
Lord Elgin desired unifiéd: political parties with strict principles in
order to avoid sectarian politics. Howeverqnothing short of the creation

of a party embracing all members of British origin in the united Assembly.

~ could have prevented the emergence of dualism,

The grant of responsible government in March,1848 helped to crystal-
ize the idea of double majority rather than to abandon it. The Lafontaine -
Baldwin ministry, in its composition and operation followed the double
cabinet and double majority concepts. The corollaries of the double
majority principle were applied whererem=: possible. The double premier-
ship and balancing of numerical as well as administrative strength of the
tio sections in the cabinet were followed as a rule. Iegislation and

cabinet responsiblity as a rule remeined sectional, The major cabinet

56, George E. Wilson, The Life of Robert Baldwin (Toronto, 1933), p. 224.
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reconstructions until the Brown-Dorion Ministry of 1858 were on a
sectional basis, The Frenéh Canadians could remain undefeated in the
Assembly while the Canada West section of the cabinet had to bhe rein-
forced with Clesr Grits in 1851, and Tories in 1854, Tn 1858 the
Conservatives completely took over thé Canada West section of the
partnership. In order to obtain the support of the French section, the
party principles of their counterparts had to be either abandoned,
modified or soft pedalled. No opposition party in Canada West could
hope to come to power on principles unaccepiable tg the French Canadian
party. The Brown-Dorion cabinet which was the only attempt by the
opposition to form an administration on different principles (though

not uwmodified) could live only for a few hours.,

The period between 1841 and 1848 saw the.establishment of prece-
dents and acceptance of rules for a dual cabinet system. The following
chapters are an attempt to examine the extent to which the cabinets in
the decade that followed reflected the inherent duality in the Canadian
society, in relation to the developments that took place since the

Union of Upper and Lower Canada,
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CHAPTER 1

"PHE DOUBLE CABINETH

By the end of 1847 the essential principles of Responsible

Government for Canada had been accepted by the Imperial Govermment.
Of these the most fundamental to Cabinet Govermment was the principle
B,.0othat any transfer which may take place of
political power from the hands of one party in
the Province to those of another is the result
not of an act of yours Governor's , but of the
wishes of the peoples themselveSeo.oo!

The overwhelming victory of the Reformers of Canada West and Canada
East at the electiens of Jamuary 1848 mede it clear that the Covernor
General would eptrust them with the task of forming a new administration.
The Daly-Sherwood Miﬁistry, however, was reluctant to interpret the
electoral defeat to mean an automatic resignation. The Reformers theme-
selves were not without doubts as to the course of action that the
Governor General would follow, though they had been silently preparing
themselves to accept office,

4T heard that the Governor General had de-
clined to make appointments under present

circumstances, This I have some reason to be-
lieve to be actually the casee“2

1. W.P.M. Kennedy, Documents of the Cammdian Constitution (Toronto, 1918),
Pe 572. Earl Grey to Sir John Harvey, Nov. 3, 1846, Submitted to
LOI"d Elgino
Sir A.G. Doughty - Elgin Grey Papers, 1846 - 1852, vol., 1, 123,
Elgin to Grey, Feb, 5, 1848,

2, Baldwin Papers (P.R.L.T.), Lafontaine to Baldwin, Jan, 25, 1848.
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Lord Elgin expected the resignation of the ministry in a body
immediately after the elections, and expressed & desire to call
Lafontaine and Baldwin to form a neW'administration,3 But the Ministry
insisted on meeting the House and went through a defeat on the election
of a Speaker and also on the vote on the Address on the 3rd. of March

L

1848, before resigning on the following day.

The fluidity of party allegiance during this time. made an exact
estimetion of party strength in the assembly. extremely difficult. The
Toronto Globe could count fifty-seven Reformers from both sections of
the Province, giving all the "loose fish" to the minisiry.s This
difficulty had made the election of a Speaker a test of strength.6 Sir
Alan MacNahb the ministerial candidate,was defeated by 19 to 5.4. Later,
the vote on the Address, which., was considered as amounting to a vote of

no confidence,7 made practically no change in the division. (20 to 54).

3e Sir A.G. Doughty, Elgin - Grey Papers, 2&b-—i852, vol, 1,118,

Lo Ibid., p.135, Elgin to Grey. Marws 17, 1848.

5. Toronto Globe; Jan. 25, 1848,
the House

6. Col. Prince, seconding Sir Alan MacNab's name reminded/that the British

practice of electing a Speaker onron-political grounds, and that it
should not be a test of strength. Baldwin refused to accept the
British Practice since in Canada the Speaker should be bilinguale-
Toronto Globe, Mar, 1., 1848,
T "According to the British system of Executive Government
: there is no defeat which a ministry can sustain more
fatal than that of having their reply to the speech
altered by their opponents....." it is equivalent to a
vote of want of confidenced
Globe, May 21, 1850,




However, the Reformers did not form & well knit party. It was
nothing but an alliance between two distinct groups., Lafontaine
expressed his doubts as to who might be called in by the Governor
General, Baldwin, in his belief that normél British constitutional
practice would be followed by the Governor General, expected that the
leader of the majority group in the assembly would to be called in.

"You seem to doubt who will be sent
for., 1T have no doubt on this subject,
perhaps, it is because I have no
doubt who ought to be sent for,"8

This was a definite admission of the distinet identity of the two
groups in the Reform party. The divisibn was on the basis of Canada
Bast and Canada West, They agreedveﬂiy on responsible govermment. Be-
yond that there was no common political platform. The Canada East sec—
tion of the Reformers formed the single majority group in the assembly
and therefore, had the right to lead the new administration. On
January 16th Lafontaine informed Baldwin that, whether the Governor
called Morin or himself they would need Baldwin very much, and a secret

code was arranged by which Baldwin would be summoned to Montreal. to

decide on the details of a new administration,

Lord Elgin informed Earl Grey that he sent for Lafontaine and

10

Baldwin,™ but it was actually Lafontaine whom he consulted first,

8. Lafontaine Papers: (P.A.C.)y Baldwin to Lafontaine Jan. 25, 1848,

9. Baldwin Papers: (P.R.L.T.),Lafontaine to Baldwin, Jan. 16, 18483,

10, Elgin - Grey Papers vol, 1,135, Elgin to Grey, Mar; . 17, 1848,
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Lafontaine immediately conferred with Baldwin and then consultation took
place among the threeall The double premiership was recognized by the
Governor and the two leaders, However, the leading part in the fommstion
of the ministry was played by Lafontaine. He requested Baldwin to

12 Baldwin named twenty-four

suggest the personel for the new ministry.
from both sections (including two from the Upper House), besides other

possible names from Canada Bast., This was an indication of the looseness
of pafty allegience and a need to satisfy the various sectional interests,
Previously, the formation of the Executive Council was the responsibility

of the Governor. As a rule the councillors were summoned as individuals

rather than as a group of representatives of a political party.

Lafontaine and Baldwin were for the first time faced with the
problem of forming a cebinet which was to assume complete responsibility
for all Provincial matters. They were bound to recognize and give
expression to all sectional predjudices and interests in the Province.,

"They dwelt much on difficulties arising out
of pretensions advanced in various quarters

vwhich gave me the opportunity to advise them
not to attach toco much importance to such

1l. Hincks$ Reminiscences, p, 188.

12, Baldwin Papers, (P.R.L.T.), Lafontaine to Baldwin, Feb, 2, 1848,



considerations and to bring together

a council, strong in administrative

talent and to take their stand on the

wisdom of their policy,”l3
The tWo:léaders vere noteblind bierthe owlsdomiof othid advice; but .
their hands were tied by the existing 'federal! character of the Union,

Apparently, the only change they made in their originai arrangement was

to include R.B. Sullivan in the Cabinet,1¥

According to the stipulations made in the Draper-Caron correspon-
dence, which were tacitly accepted by the leaders on both sides, the
cabinet had to be formed on a Tederal basis., ZLafontaine was determined
to adhere to all the stipulations made in the above correspondence . in
order, at least to ensure equal power and influence in the cabinet, The
cabinet was the ultimate centre of power under parliamentary government,
The aim of preserving the French identity couid be achieved only by
asserting sufficient power and influence at the executive level,
Responsible government was only a means for "la survivance" of the French
community. Equality in representation at the legislative level had to be

extended to the executive level too. The 'double-cabinet! idea of 1845

13. Blgin-Grey Papers; vol. 1, 135, Elgin to Grey Mar, 17, 1848,

14, R.B. Sullivan - a cousin of Robert Baldwin, was a member of the
Executive Council from 1836 - 1844, In the latter year he resigned
with the rest of the Lafontaine-Baldwin ministry. Lord Elgin,
Lafontaine, Baldwin and Hincks were very anxious to give him a
place in the Cabinet because of his long administrative experience,
He refused, but later accepted office on condition that his '
acceptance of Office would not hinder his expected promotion to the
Bench,
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had to be given complete expression., The new cabinet, therefore,
broadly presented a duality, with the distinect sections corresponding

to the former divisions, Lower Canada and Upper Canadael5

Lord Elgin's advice contained the core of the problem that faced
the Cabinet under Lafontaine and Baldwin. It was not only the claims of
various sections of the community for places in the cabinet that
determined its character, but alsc the question, how far could the meme
bers take their stand on "wisdom of their measures and policy"? How far
could the cabinet as a body rise above the fears, predjudices énd interests
that divided the community as a whole? Not only were there deep rooted
differences between the French and thé British sections of the population,
there were also deep rooted antipathies and distrust, The result was
that the cabinet found it extremely difficult to follow either aspect of
Lord Elgin's advice. Cabinel making became & federal arrangement. Be-
sides, it was a,s&ngiéi,ﬁegislative authority over both Canada East and
Canada West, It waé the combination of these two feabures that made it
possible for the‘more united section, the French, in the assembly and in

the cabinel to occupy a bargaining position,.

15, These divisions will be referred to as Canada East and Canada VWest.

win
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In spite of Baldwin's attempt to recognize Lafontaine as the head

f . - s s . 6 ..
and the premier of the new aqmlnlstratlon,l the double premiership was

inevitable,

This outward duality was modified in actuwal working of the
y g

Cabinet system because of Lafontaine's larger and more united following

and his domineering personality.

The seals in the Cabinet were divided equally. between Canada East

and Canada West,

1. LAFONTATNE Attorney General
2. H.,&, CARON Speaker of Legislative Council,
3. L.M, VIGER Recelver General
he E.P. TACHE Chief Commissioner of Public Works.
5. J. LESLIE President of Executive Council.
6. T.C. AYLWIN Solicitor General,
CANADA WEST
1. HROBERT BALDWIN Attorney General,
2. F. HINCKS Provincial Secretary.
3. R.B., SULLIVAN Inspector General.
L. J.H. PRICE Commissioner of drown Lands
5. M, CAMERON Asst, Commissioner of Public Works
6, W.H. BLAKE Solicitor General.

16, Baldwin always used to refer to the ministry as Lafontaine's
ministry. -~ Baldwin Papers (P.R.L.T.), Baldwin to Lafontaine.
Jan, 24, 1843,
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According to the Caron - Draper correspondence, the "minority in
should

Lower Cenada,/be given a reasonable share in the direction of affairs
and represented in the Council jz%equitablﬂ manner"°l7 Thus out of the
six ministries from Canada Bast two were given to the English speaking
minorities. James Leslie, a Presbyterian of Scottish origin was to
represent the Protestant interests, especially of Montreal, Aylwin, of
Irish~ielsh origin, represented the Irish population in Canada East.,
His resignation in April 1848 brought L.T. Drummond into the Cabinet,
Drummond was a Roman Catholic of Irish origin and like Aylwin was
closely associated with the French. The allocation of these two seats
was not based on the mmerical strength of the two minorities, but
mainly for the purpose of obtaining the support and confidence of these

sectblons of the popula,tiona18

There is no evidence, except an incidental analysis made by Lord
Elgin,l9 to show that the Canada West section of the ministry was
formed on a particular sectional basis. Baldwin, Hincks, Blake and

Sullivan were of Irish origin., Price and Cameron were English and

(et

17. Lafontaine Papers (P.4.C.), Caron to Draper Sept. 17, 1848,

18, Hincks, Reminiscences. p. 275,Joseph Cauchon to Hincks,- Nov. 8, 1851
© Cauchon reminded Hincks that purely on a population basis the
minorities would not have got two seats in the cabinet., James Leslie
and Aylwin were very closely associated with the French cause.
Leslie opposed the Union in 1841 and Aylwin with Caron took a leading
part in the various negotiations between the Tories and the French,
before 1848, for places for the French in the council.

19. Elgin - Grey Papers, vol. 1, 161, Elgin. to Grey, May 10, 1848,
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Scottish respectively, This distribution was accidental and was not
continued later. With regards to Canada Bast section the pattern was
continued, the two minorities finding representation either in the

cabinet itself or outside.

There was?considerable disagreement and lack of clarity as to the
distinction between the cabinet and the ministry, Lafontaine seems to have
favoured the inclusion of as many important offices as possible in the
Cabinet,<0 Hincks, for reasons of economy, and Baldwin, in his attempt to
follow the British system, preferred.a smaller cabinet, Baldwin explained
to Lafontaine that "the cabinet is composed of the more eminent portion
of the administration", and that the administration or the ministry ine

. . . . . 2
cludes cabinet offices and the executive posts outside the cabinet, 1

The duality that existed in certain offices under the previous
Tory Govermments were perpetuated., The two leaders assumed the most
important offices in the administration,

"By the time responsible government

had been granted the offices of Attor—
neys General for Canada FEast and Canada
West had been the centres where Parlia-
mentary strategy were planned and major
administrative decisions were reached,
It was no accident, then, that found the
two Premiers most frequently operating
from these two offices.”22

20, Hincks, Beminiscences, p 266, Hincks letter to Canchon, Nov. 3, 1851,

21. Lafontaine Papers, (P.4.C.), Baldwin to Lafontaine,ipl. 8, 1848,

22. J.E. Hodgettss Pioneer Public Service)(Toronto, 1955)sps 273,




It is not surprising that the Lafontaine-Baldwin ministry refused
to follow the British Cabinet convention of keeping the Crown's law
officers outside the cabinet, when J.H. Boulton suggested im.23

: was
Thé ' Sélicitor-feneralship/an equally important office because of

the two systems of law that existed in the two sections of the Province,
The former practice of having two Solicitors General was perpetuated.
The question arose as to the place in the cabinet, Aylwin demanded a
seat in the cabinet, on grounds that he was given such privileges under
. . 2L . . .
Bagot's administration. This made some privileges for Canada West
essential, and Blake was given a seat in the cabinet to maintain the
balance. When Aylwin left the ministry in April and his successor
RN : A : 4 * EN s . s 25
appointed in August 1848, the two seats in the cabinet were abolished.

This reduced the cabinet to ten seats with five on each section.

Lafontaine was very anxious to make the speakership of the Legisla-
tive Council and the presidency of the Executive Council, political and
cabinet offices,26 The Legislative Council was considered an important
branch of the constitution, A mejority of its members, at this time,
were Tory mominees, Thus it was found necessary to have a closer control

over that body as a means to strengthen the administration. This

23, The Globe, (P.R.L.T.) May 30, 1850,

2L. R.S. Longley, Sir Francis Hincks,(Torontosl9h3% p,R80,

25. Ibid.

26, Hincks, Reminiscencess p-266, Hincks to Cauchon, Nov. 3, 1851,
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argument had been used by Draper in 1847, when he suggested to Lord
Elgin that the speakership of the Legislative Council should be in the
Executive Council, and made political. This was a part of Draper's
strategy to strengthen the administration and show the French that any
desire on the part of the administration to give representation to the
French was not dictated by the need of their support to stengthen the
administration, but to give them a just and reasonable place.27
Lafontaine was anxious to see the administration strengthened by every
possible means, and, therefore, followed the precedent of the previous

administrations,

These two and the remaining offices were carefully distributed
between the two sectlions of the cabinet so that one section would not
obbtain an overwhelming influence in the country. Hincks in 1851
reminded Cauchons.-

Mihat I desire to impress on you is

that although for the sake of economy

I would consent as I did during the

last two years to see five out of the

nine principal offices filled by Lower

Canadians, I consider that Lower Canada

has no right to complain if it be deemed

advisable, in order to strengthen the

Govermment, that a fifth member should

be taken from Upper Canada.,"z8
the

Of the nine offices the most influential, besides/Attorney Generalship

were the Presidency of the Executive Council and Provinciel Secretaryship,

29

owing to the special duties conferred on them from time to time.

27. Elgin - Grey Papers,vol, 1 ,16. Confidential memorandum, - Draper
to Elgin, Feb. 10, 1847,

28. Hincks, Reminiscences, p.267. Hincks to Cauchon, Nov, 3, 185L.

29, Hodgetts, Pioneer Public ServiceTa p.273,
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These two offices,more often than not, were kept on either section of
the cabinet. When R.B. Sullivan resigned from Provincial Secretaryship
James Leslie (Canada East) was promoted to that office and the Presidency
of the Executive Council was filled by Merritt from Canada West.
Patronage assumed great importance during this time. A change of minis-

. . e . pps 30
try resulted in a large number of changes in administrative officials.
The Crown Lands Department, Public Vorks, Customs, and Post Office were
regarded as very lucrative, There is evidence to suggest that attempts
were made to share the spoils as equally as possible., Commissioners of

. the '

Crown Lands and Public Works, and/Inspector Generalship and Receiver
Generalship were as a rule, with short periods of exceptions, kept on
either side of the cabinet. Cauchon in 1851, remarked that even the Tory

Government in its worst days never kept the Commissionership and Assistant

Commissionership on the same section of the cabinetQBl

The Cabinet, therefore, was a duality, with every possible attempt made to
balance the two sections. which composed it. Hincks pretended not to

understand why the French insisted on equal representation for Canada East

and Canada West.

"No one, I presume, in the present day
imagines for a moment that the policy of
a Government is influenced by a majority
vote in the Cabinet, for whose acts each
minister is held responsible,“32

30, J.B. Brebner - Patronage and Parliamentary Government.
Canadian Historical Association Reports, 1938. pp.22-31,

31. Hincks, Reminiscences; p.262, Cauchon to Hincks, Oct. 30, 1851.

32, Ibid., p.267, Hincks to Cauchon, Nov. 3, 1851,
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The French insisted on equal representation in order to use their
influence on the decisions of the Cabinet. "It was not desired to see

them there except in order to be stayed up by their powerful influence,"33

This was the climex of the application of Lafontaine!s principle of
"equality, nothing more, nothing less'", as far as the cabinet was con-

cerned.

The cabinet conventions were still undefined., Even in England

collective responsibility and cabinet cohesion were imperfecély adhered
to. Yet they were regarded as highly desirable and essential for the
proper functioning of parliamentary institﬁtionsﬁ4 The desire to follow
Inglish precedents and convenﬁions was always present in Canada. Baldwin
often referred to Znglish practices, The French, however, did not show
any enthusiasm about British conventions. While Papineau had an open

contempt for British institutions, the rest of the French had very little

,,,,,

understanding of them. According to Lord Elgin the French

"....adopt at second hand the political
dogmas of the Znglish Liberals and assert
them when ever it is convenient to do so,
with becoming force. But they are
unwilling to admit - I might almost say
they seem incapable of comprehending that
the principles of constitutional Government
must be applied against them as well as for
thelleeoso w”35

The cabinet as a whole was incapable of adhering to most English

33, Ibidesp.275. Cauchon to Hincks, Nov. 8, 1851,

3k S%r Ivor Jennings, Cabinet Govermment, (Cambridge, 1956} pp..15, 85,
267, 278,
35. Elgin-Grey Papers vol. 1, 52. Elgin to Grey, June 28, 1847.




Page 3.5,

practices because of its duality., Responsibility tended to be
sectional and often individual rather than collective. Paradoxically
the closest adherence to any idea of collective responsibility was on
the part of the Canada East section of the cabinet. James Leslie, the
only representative of British interests on the side of Canada East,
after the exclusion of the Solicitors General from the Cabinet, played
no significant role in the Cabinet, He identified himself closely with
the French Canadians. What the Hincks-Cauchon correspondence clearly
revealed wag the fact that the distinction between French and British
origin was always kept alive., The broad division of Canada East and

Canada VWest was forgotten very often. For all practical purposes the

36

distinction was between the French and British Canadians, Cauchon
preferred to consider even Drummond who had very close bonds with the
French, as a representative of distinect !British Canadian!interests.,

"It has been said - Mr. Drummond is a
French Canadian. He is one by alliance

and his affections and feelings, I

confess nothing of this, and I am pleased
to see him in the Administration; but I
should like to see him in it as represen-
ting what he was taken to represent in
1848, when he was appointed Solicitor
General, the British origin..... MNr.
Drummnond would be precisely in the same
position with all those of British origin
who are with the French Canadians in heart
and feeling, and whose political principles
are theirs. You know that it has been my
constant policy to avoid distinctions of
origin, and to combat with all my power
against national prejudices; but I cannot
Torget that there is a public susceptibility
on this point which must be respected for
fears of a greater evil,"37

1
36, This term was used in this correspondence to include almost all non-
French population in Canada. Those of English, Scottish,Welsh and
Irish origin.

37, Hincks, Reminiscences, pe 263.
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Because of the solid backing of the French Canadian members in the
assembly, the French section of the cabinet could minimize any influence
that the minority representative could assert in the cabinet. Cauchon

'

" considered the British Tanadien representative from Canada East in the

' of

cabinet, as a means/avoiding accusations of their exclusion from the
.. 38" o . . . . :

cabinet. Thus for all practical purposes the Canada fast section of

they

the cabinet meant the French Canadians. The close unity that/exhibited

in their aims and aspirations resulted in greater stability in that

section of the cabinet, whereas the Canada West section was from the

beginning divided within itself,

The explanation for this differvence in stability, in the two
sections of the cabinet, lies, in the social and economic differences
between them. In Canada East the society was strongly established and
conservative, and what they expected to achieve through responsible
government was equality and guarantee for their national identity,
Lafontaine was the symbol of their aspirations. Since early 1840s, there
was no great change in political opinion in Canada East. The strength 573f
of the Reformers under Lafontaine remained almost the same. On the
contrary, in Canada West the 1847-48 Election indicated a distinct change
in political opinion, It was not merely a vote for responsible govern-
ment but also for large scale reform, which the Reform group stood for,
Thus the formation of the Great Ministry was regarded as the dawm of an
era of reform, Reform opinion in Canada West was sufficiently repre-

sented in the Cabinet. Except Baldwin,who was for gradual reforms, the

38. Ibid.,p. 268.
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rest were for radical reforms. There was a clash of opinion on this
section of the cabinet, which explains its instability, Further, while
Lafontaine could exercise a strong hold over his colleagues, Baldwin
was not a strong party leader. Thus the Canada East section of the
Cabinet was in a bargaining position in the administration of affairs

of the Province,

Granting of responsible government removed most of the obstacles

to legislation,

"While you continue my advisers, you

shall enjoy my unreserved confidence;

and 'en revanche! you shall be respon~-

sible for all acts of Government.”B
However, legislation was a much more difficult %ask than forming an
administration, Lafontaine declared in 1851 that "the danger today is

the facility with which we may legislate."ho

The first session of the Aésembly of 1848 was prorogued by the
Governor General after one month - (June 12, 1848), in order to give the
ministry sufficient time to plan their programme, The rest of 1848
sessions were spent without any controversial issues coming before the

administration.

The 1849 session started with a significant note, For the first
time in Canadian history. the Throne Speech was read in English and

French and the Governor announced the repeal of the prohibition in the

29, Kennedy: Documents of the Canadian constitution, p 589
Lord Tlgin to .7, Cumming Bruce, Sept. 1852,

40,  Elgin-Grey Papers, vol. 3,904. Lafontaine's speech Oct., 5, 1851,
Reporbed-by-Fhe-Pilot, -
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Act of Union against the use of French as an official language.

This was another measure for the removal of inequalities imposed
on the French under the Union Act.

1T guite agree with you as to the
unpolicy of the attempt to civilize the
French Canadians by measures which are
obnoxious to them and therefore, though
I confess I am sorry to alter the Union
Act as regards the language I shall
almost immediately yield to their wishes
by bringing in a Bill to effect the
desired change,"hz

Lord Elgin was convinced of the failure of the Anglicization policy and
was ready to grant the demands of the French.

"I am very anxious on this point,

Lafontaine is constantly speaking to

me about it. I believe these provisions

to be most unpolitic and calculated to

produce the very opposite effects from

those intended,"ho

) B

The final abandonment of Anglicization was a victory. for which Lafontaine was
fighting, _ . . A . .
Hought, It was also a victory over Papineau., Lord Elgin realized the nec-
essity of strengbthening Lafontaine against Papineau. The latter was the

enemy of the Union, of the British comnection and of British institutions.

Thus the Governor was reluctant to thwart the demands of Lafontaine.,

During the 1849 session the greatest uproar in Canada was created by
the Rebellion Losses Bill. Lafontaine and his colleagues were anxious to
obtain the same treatment for Canada West with regard to the payment of

rebellion losses, The French were aware of the opposition it would

4l. Elgin-Grey Papers vol. 1, 287, Elgin to Grey, Jan. 18, 18L9,

42. Elgin-Grey Papers, vol., 1, 165. Grey to Elgin, June 1, 1848,

43, Ibid.,p 183. Elgin to Grey, June 15, 1848,
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create in Canada West and even doubted whether the Governor General would
assent to an introduction of such a billehh On February 7 1849,
Lafontaine introduced seven resolutions for the payment of rebellion
losses.45 The resolutions were seconded by Baldwin in order to show
cabinet unenimity. Quite apart from the justice of the measure it was
of immense political significance.,

"Lafontaine feels very strongly on the subject

and I really think if he were thwarted he would

resign and throw the whole govermment into con-

fusion. He is engaged at present in a death

struggle on the French territory with Papineau,

and he camnot afford to loose the credit which

obtaining this act of oblivion would confer on him,"46
However, it was not so much a death struggle for Lafontaine against
Papineau, because Papineau's position in Canada East was revealed by the
vote on the amendment he introduced on the Throne Speech on January 2.4,
1849, He was supported by only three and of the three only one was French

!
ol The death struggle was for the ministry. A refusal to

Canadian,
support the payment of rebellion losses on the part of the Canada West
section of the ministry would mean a break up of the ministry, while sup-
porting it on its merits would mean loss of support in Canada West for

the administration, Even if the principle of the bill was acceptable,

there were details on which the Canada West ministers were

4hy, Elgin-Grey Papers, vol. 3, 1047. Elgin to Grey, Oct. 8, 1850,

45. Journals of the Legislative Assembly, 1849, Feb., 27, p. 108-109,

46. Elzin-Grey Papers, vol. 1, 227, Elgin to Grey, Aug. 24, 1849,

47. Christie, La Terriere and Prince. Journals of the Legislative Assembly
1814-93 pa 211‘6
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in disagreement. J.H. Boulton;,lL8 in January 1850 reminded Baldwin that
the original bill proposed by Lafontaine was utterly indefensible and.
it had been ,

if that-wes allowed to come before the Assembly the ministry would have
been defeated and its majority reduced. The objection was &0 the fifth
resolution, which. stipulated that even those convicted of high treason
and sent to Bermuda should be paid indemnities,h9 Baldwin was convinced
of the consequences of such a measure but was highly doubtful whether
Lafontaine could be persuaded to alter the resolution. On his request
Boulton and Drummond accompanied Baldwin to Lafontaine's house, Yet,-

"He was averse to the chief proposition

as it would exclude Dr. Nelson and others

named in the Ordinance of Banishment to

Bermuda, and sald that he was quite

willing to retire bubt, would not sacrifice

his friends."

50

According to the same source the only albternative was to induce Dr. Nelson
to agree to a settlement., to exclude those banished to Bermuda. Dr.
Nelson was convinced of the argument and influenced Lafontaine to agree to
an amendment in the original resolution. Boulton stated.® that if it were
not for this amendment the Canada West Reformers would have opposed the

measure,5l This evidence is supported by Lord Elgin's views. expressed

before the resolutions were introduced. He informed Earl Grey that

&, J.H., Boulton was formerly a Tox but supported the administration of
v - n, 3
Lafontaine and Baldwin duringthis time.

L9, Journals of the Legislative Assembly, p. 109, Feb. 27, 1849,

50, Baldwin Papers. (P.R.L.T.), J.H, Boulton to  Baldwin, Jan,>23;.1850,

51. ZIbid,
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Lafontaine intended.to include the convicted rebels like Dr, Nelson and
W,L, MacKenzle, especlally the former because of his rivalry with Fapineau.

The Montreal Gazette further confirmed the accusation against Lafontaine

for trying to pay convicted rebels.53

The life of the ministry was dependent on the support of the French.
This made it easy for Lafontaine To use the threat of resignation. Lord
Elgin re-affirmed his views on the Rebellion Losses Bill three years after,

"The measure itself was brought officially
under my notice in 1848, in the midst of
excitement endangered by the French and
Irish revolutionary movements - it was
during these convulsions that I was first
asked by Lafontaine whether I would sanction
the inftroduction by him of a bill to carry
out the recommendations of Lord Metcalfe's
commlssioners, with mspect to Losses sus-
tained by the inhabitants of Lower Canada
during the Rebellion. Now when this appli-
cation was made to me I was aware of two
facts -~ Firstly that Mr, Lafontaine would
be unable to retain the support of his
countrymen if he failed to introduce a measurs
of this déscription and secondly that my
refusal to grant the required permission would
be taken by him and his friends that, that
they had not my confidence. In a word my re-—
fusal would in all probability have broken up
an administration which had been imposed upon
me a few months before by a majority of 3 to 1.0
ol
was ,
The Papineau faction/accusing the French section of the cabinet of being

dominated by the Canada YWest section. The acceptance of Boulton's

resolution was pointed «té as a defeat for the French Ministers,ss The

52. Elgin-Grey Papers, vol. 1, 227, Elgin to Grey, Aug. 24, 1848.

53. 1big, vol. 1, 340 (Enclosure).

54. Elgin-Grey Papers, vol. 3, 1047, Elgin to Grey, Oct. 8, 1850.

e 55 Ibid., welsily PPy 342¢3Lk, L'Avenir, Febl9h, Mar, 3, 10, 1849,
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Orangists on the other hand accused the Canada West ministers of

56

submitting to French demands. These views were no doubt expressions

of party hostility., Yelt there were more trustworthy sources expressing
great disagreement in the Ministry.

Depend upon it, there was not one of

the Upper Canadian Ministry in favour

of paying rebels., It is true they did

not speak out against it as fiercely as
their opponents - but how could they!

They could only have flung strength into
the hands of Papineau and raised a confla-
gation which no true friend of the country
would have desired to see. Depend upon it
they acted right throughoute"57

Although George Brown defended the Justice of the bill in the g;ggg,58 he
. had no love for the bill itself,59 When the Clergy Reserves issﬁe wa.s
raised later Brown censored the Canada West Ministry for introducing
Rebellion Losses Bill, before the French pledged for a Clergy Reserves the
. settlement,fc The most rational opinion on the matter was expressed by
Young , the Spéaker of the Legislative Assembly of Nova Scotia,

"The opposition to the indemnity bill

is less excusable because it is

notorious that the leaders were willing

to go as far as even farther, to have
gained the French in previous sessions.

56, Blgin-Grey Papers. vol. 1, 3.0 (Enclosure), Montreal Gazette

57. William Kirby Papers - George Brown to Kirby, July 12, 1848, Cited by,
J M, S, (Careless, Brown of -the Globe (Toronte, 19 59), pPp. 88-89.

58. The Globe, Feb, 21, 1849. cited by Careless, Brown of the Globe p.&88

59. J.C. Dent, The Last Forty Years (Toronto, .881), vol., 2, 234-35,
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He maintained that the "British part of the Cabinet" foresaw the
difficulty when they took office, and they regarded the measure as

a political necessily and were happy to avoid it, if possible,

An immediate consequence of the passing of the Rebellion Losses
Bill was the change of the seat of govermment., The French section
of the ministry itself, was divided on the question, whether to brans-
fer the capital from Montreal or not, Lafontaine and even Viger, both
from Montreal, strongly urged the use of the military to break all
. - 62
rebellious elements and retain the seat of government in Montreal.
Caron, who was from Quebec was in favour of a transfer to Quebec. The
West section of the cabinet insisted on Toronto or Kingston as
the new seat. Neither section of the cabinet could have obtained
sufficient votes in the Assembly, for a permenent seat; so they were
P . o , . .6
forced to combine to alternate the capital between Quebec and Torento.
The difficulty arose as to the first move from Montreal,
"The French members of the administration
declared that, they cannot keep their section
of the party together unless Quebec is the point
to which the first move is made. They are

willing to go to Toronto for 4 years at the
close of the present Parliamenta”éa

665 C.0542/558, (Ps4.C.), Poung to Elgin, June,19,1849.
Rebellion Losses Bill was passed by 47 to 18 votes in the Assembly,
The division in Canada West was 17 to 1lh. Jourmals of the Assembly

Mar., 9, 1849, p. 162. Legislative Council Division was 20 to lh.
Dent, op. cit., 153,

62, Elgin-Grey Papers, vol.2,523, Elgin to Gret, Oct., 19, 1849.

63. The Globe, Feb.,, 6, 1850,

6L, Elgin-Grey Papers, vol.2, 454, Elgin to Grey, Aug., 27, 1849,




Lord Elgin himself saw the advantages in having a Trotating seat of
Government:.

"I am disposed te believe that the
advantages attending this arragement
will be found in practice to outweigh
its inconveniences."65

However, he was aware of the bad effects of surrendering to French

influence too muchs

"Now 1 have great objection to going
to Quebec at present because I fear
that it will be considered both here
and fIngland as an admission that the
Government is under French Canadian
influence and that it cannot maintain
itself in Upper Canadae"éé

The combined pressure of the Governor and the Canada West members
of the cabinel seems to have forced Lafontaine and his colleagues to

67 .,
accept the first move to Toronto. The Quebec Morning Chronicle

. of being
accused the Governor General ©f Tthe person responsible for fixing Toronto

. . o s - I . 6 s . .
inspite of the opposition of his advisers, 8 Lord Elgin did realize
‘thal the French section of the cabinet would not accept Toronto as the

first seat of Government. in silence,

"At the same time I am quite aware,
that, the removal will do some
mischief among the French who are
narrow minded and bigotted on all
these points beyond belief.”69

65. C.0. i 42/560, (P.A,C.), Nov. 18, 1849,

66, Elgin-Grey Papers, vol.2,L5l.

67. Elgin-Grey Papers, vol,2,523, Elgin to Grey Oct, 19, 1849,

68, The Globeg Qcts 30,1849,

69. Elgin-Grey Papers, vol.2, 523. Elgin to Grey. Oct. 19, 1849,
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e maintained that the '"British part of the Cabinet! foresaw the
difficulty when they took office, and they regarded the measure as a

political necessity and were hapyy to avoid it, if possible,él

s 3 o

An immediate consequence of the passing of the Rebellion Losses Bill

3

was the change of the seat of government. The French section of the
ministry itself. was divided on the question. whether to transfer the
capital from Hontreal or not. Lafontaine,and even Viger, both from
Hontreal, strongly urged the use of the military to break all rebellious

elements and retain the seat of govermment in Mbntreal,éz Caron, who
The

was from Quebec,was in favour of a transfer to Quebec, /Canada W

T,

dest
section of the Cabinet insisted on Toronto or Kingston as the new seat,
Neither section of the Cabinet could have obtained sufficient votes in
the Assembly. for a permanent seat; so they were forced to combine to

alternate the capital between Quebec and Toronto.é3 The difficulty arose

as to the first move from Montreal.

"The French members of the administration
declared that, they cannot keep their section
of the party together unless Quebec is the
roint to which the first move is made. They
are willing to go to Toronto for L years at
the close of the present Peu:'l:'Lamerfo."&P

(PG, Young to Elgin, (submitted to Grey), June 19, 1849,

The Rebellion Losses Bill was passed by 47 to 18 in the Assembly.
The division in Canada VWest was 17 to 1k, Journals of the nssemle,
- Mar. 9, 1849. p. 162. Legislative Council division - 20 to 1k, -
J;C, Dent, The Last Forty Years (Toronto, 1881), vol, 2, 153,

62, Elgin-Grey Papers, vol. 2, 523, BElgzin to Grey, Oct. 19, 1849.

63. Globe, Feb, 6, 1850,

6l Elgin-Grey Papers, vol. 2, p.454, Elgin to Grey, Aug. 27, 1849.
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The expected effects of the change of capital was seen in the
resignation of the Recelver Geheral,« L., Viger in opposition to the
removal from Montreal. Caron, the Speaker of the Legislative Council,

submitted his resignation to the Governor General expressing his
disapproval of the fixing of the first seat of govermment at Toronto,

70

rather than at Quebec. He: was, however, persuaded to remain in office,

though the seat in the cabinet was discontinued soon after.

The annexationists at the time made use of the Rebellion Losses Bill
for anti-French propaganda. It was an example of French domination in
but
the administration., Not only the Tories,/even some of the radical
Reformers like William Lyon. liackenzie, Peter Perry, and Dr. Rolph. were

in active sympathy with the annexationists., These left wing Reformers

were dissatisfied with the "stale doctrine of moderation of Lafontaine

and Baldwin"vl Their political organ - The Examiner - warned that

» . . 2 .
falure to secularize Clergy Neserves would lead to annexatlong7 Most of

the Tory newspapers = The Herald, Montreal Gazette, The Courier, The

Transcript and The Witness were full of anti-French feeling. They even
opposed even the constitutional system which gave the French a share in

the government,73. The Examiner, the Globe and the Pilot maintained that

there was no French domination, The IFrench were under-priviledged, as

they did not have even representation according populetion, - said the

70. C.0. 42/565, (P.heC.); Jam, .19, -1850,

71, Careless,- Brown of the Globe, p. 97,

72. IBid.,p. 107.

73. Elgin-Grey Papers,vol. 2, 528, Nov. 1, 1849,
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. . Th . . , P

Examiner, There were many other attempts to disprove the cry of French

domination. A printed paper issued from Hamilton resorted to statistical
of

data as a means/showing that there was no French denomination. In the

cabinet there were only four French Canadians to six of British origin,

in the Assembly 28 to 56, Legislative assembly 15 to 31. The Pilob

office issued a pamphlet comparing the salaries of public officials,

5%89,@20. 12s. 6d, being the total salaries for officials of English

~

g2

origin compared to £20,176, 3s. 2d. for the French officiels. Lord Elgin
considered these statistics : ¢ accurate,75 The speaker of the Legisla-—
tive Assembly of Nova Scotia - Young -~ after his tour of Canada
expressed his views about the political situation in the Province of
Canada,

"The influence which the French exercise is

not tc be reckoned only by the proportion of

their numbers whether they are to be counted

27 to 35 out of 8L. They hold the scale

between the two great parties of British

origin, the comnservaltives and the liberals

and have been courted accordingly and

prostituted by both parties,"76
Commenting on racial feeling he says that the jealousy of the 'Britishers!
especlally Scotch towards the French is tincredible!, and it was this

that prompted Union. They now look to Annexation or some other 'organic

changes.'77

7he The Examiner. Apl. L, 1849,

75 G.0. 42. (P.4.C.) May 28th, 1849, Despebelrsin

76 Co04 42 (P.A.C.) 558, p.”29%. Young to Elgin, June 19, 1849,
~submistbedto-FBard-tres-

77. Ibid.
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Lord Elgin's comment was:
M eeoe @8 Mr, Young observeSeeesss The
French, constituting a minority in the
United Perliament engross from that
very cause an undue share of power,"7¢
O

was
The: Clergy Reserves/a long standing issue - that was bound to come

up under the new circumstances, Baldwin attempted to keep his colleagues
silent on this problem. because he was afraid. that it would excite the
French Canadians 'who are very susceptible to such questions'g79 Jd.He
Price, the commissioner of Crown Lands and Malcolm Cameron, the Assistant
Commissioner of Public Works, were particularly interested in the
guestion. Although the issue was ralised during the first session of the
new Parliament other controversial problems overshadowed it until the
beginning of 1850, Malcolm Cameron, who resigned from the Ministry in
February 1850; urged the secularization of Clergy Reserves during the
debate on the Throne Speech, and Lord Elgin expected the dawn of a new
shase in Canadian politics with this issue.®0

principle of
Secularization,which involved —~ acceptance of the/separation of

church and state was unacceptable to the French Canadian members of the
cabinet., Price and Cameron were always agibating inside the cabinet,
for a measure. for the settlement of Clergy Reserves, Price was a
voluntarist in principle., Francis Hincks favoured secularization as a

of
means /satisfiing the radical elements in the party.

78, Ibid.
79. The Pilot, July 1, 1851

80, Elgin-Grey Papers, vol. 2, 623, Elgin to Grey, Apl. 7, 1850,
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Baldwin objected to the .union of church and state, but did not
think endowménts for religious purposes objectionableegl Hincks openly
announced that the Assemblyuhad no authority to deal with the question,
due to the imperial act‘of 1840982 but secretly, together with Price he
brought pressure on Lafontaine to

"Take theiearliest opportunity possible to bring
under the consideration of the cabinet the
present position of the question relating to the
Clergy Reserves with having the policy of the
administration regarding them se”&tled,“83

Price and Hincks had been giving excuses to the rédical Reformers
like Dr, Burns and William McDougallﬁto the effedt that the Government
was too new in 1848 to take on suchﬂé?big igsue, and in 1849 the
rebellion losses agitation occupied thé atteﬁtion of the c::5170:111@1:@8‘1L
After thése disturbances the radicals were given to understand that the
Candda West section of the cabinet would try to persvade their Canada
East colleagues to join in an address to thé Queen for an amendmsnt of
the Act of 181.;0@,85 It was the deadlock in the cabinet that led to the
introduction of the. thirty-one resolutions of Price on Clergy Reserves,
The debate on the regolutions_exPosed the deadlock in the cabinet, The

cabinet decided to make it an open question. It was therefore possible

for the ministers to express their personal views.

'8l. Dent, op. e¢it., vol, 2, 208,
82, .. Longley, Sir Francis Hincks (Tovonto, 1943), p. 283,

83. Lafontaine Papers, (P.A.C.), Hincks to Lafontaine, Jan, 9, 1850,
8he J.S. Moir, Church and State in Canada West (Toromto, 1959), v. 55.

85, Ibid,




Baldwin recognised no particular estsblished church in Canada “West.
The only recognized church in the whole Province was the Roman Catholic
Church 41799}~ He equally rejected the 1840 settlement as the final
solution. He was not opposed to separation of church and state but
appealed for justice. Cameron, (out of the cabinet now),urged the

government to make Clergy Reserves a cabinel question, Baldwin, as usual,

The been
referred to English cabinet precedents./ Slave Trade had/an open question
' the same

under Pitt, and Catholic Emancipation./under Canning and Wellington,
Baldwin reminded Cameron that under Wellinglton open questions were rather

the rule than the exception.

It is true that open questions wéré common in Engiand at this time,
but they were considered harmful for the proper working of parliamentary
institutions ~ merely a means Lo maintain oocalitions, and a substitution
of govermment by individuals for government by political pr-:'aniples.,8'7
The agreement to disagree which Baldwin referrved to in the Assembly was
mainly due to the opposition of the French Canadian members of the
cabinet against secularization. Lafontaine used his influence in the
administration to prevent - secularization. He argued that the question
was not exclusively a Canada West question; that Canada East was
affected indirectly. They would judge the question on its merits. He

spoke strongly in Tavour of vested rights and opposed any attempts to use
BN (e hant ¥ L & N

86. The Globe, Jine 22, 1850,

87. Sir Ivor Jemnings, Cabinet Govermment, pp 278, 281
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feligious endowments for secular purposes, The ministry, on the whole,
expressed its inability to introduce a measure for a settlement during
the session, Price's resolutions were voted one by one and the majority
in favour of the resolutions varied from 63 to 2, The 29th resolution
which resolved that "no religious denominations can be held to have such
vested interests in the revenue derived from the proceeds of the said
Clergy Reserves.,,...,"88 was passed by 36 to 34. Baldwin, Hincks, Price,
and
Tache, Drummond,/J.S. MacDonald. ysteq.: for the resolution while
Lafontaine was in the opposition. The vote further indicated that there
was a balance of opinion in Canada West itself, with 18 votes for, -and

89 1y

18 against, the 29th resolution, In Canada East it was 18 to 16.
is difficult to come to a definite conclusion about the policy of thé
cabinet on the basis of this vote, However, it illustrated that a
considerable part of the Canada East section in the Assembly was not in

favour of vested rights in the Clergy Reserves. The main obstacle seemed

to be Lafontaine,

For the rest of the period of the Lafontaine - Baldwin ministry, the
main reason given for the postponement of the issue was the delay in
repealing the act of 1840 by the Imperial Govermment. =arl Grey was not
in a hurry to repeal the Act and opposed radical reforms in Clergy

- 0 s . . - . .
i:;eserves.9 Lord Elgin sympathised with the need for reforms and thought

The
887 Globe. June 25, 1850,  Heport on the proceedings of the legislative
Assembly.,

89. Ibid.

90. Elgin-Grey Papers. vol.2, 8265 Grey to Elgin, June 20, 1851,
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that an early repeal of the imperial act was advisable in order to

break the growing strength of the Clear Grits,9l Lord Elgin never
indicated a desire for secularization or another form of radical re-—

form in Clergy Reserves,

ks the year advanced the Clear Grits formed a strong opposition
to the govermment on the vaccilating policy on Clergy Reserves, Their
explanation for this vaccilation was French . demination in the cabinet.

92

The Bxeminer of James Lesslie’” and the North American of NgﬂMcdmugaii393

gecused the French Canadians in the Assembly of obstruction., The attacks
were mostly concentrated on Lafontaine because of his uncompromising
attitude against secularization and his strong hold over the French
Canadian members of the Assembly,

"If Mr, Lafontaine stands in the way,
after yilelding to this gentleman and
making the obnoxious Rebellion Losses
Bill a Cabinet measure and bringing all
the strength of the Party to bear in
carrying it through, lashing a large
party into a fury of excitement invol-
ving the country in irreparable losses
esees if after Upper Canada Liberals and
to support the Government in a measure
which they did not like, but what they

91. Ibid,pp,819-21,:827<28, Elgin to Grey, May 9, 1851, June 14, 1851,
' was
92. James Lesslie, an old Reformer, /dissatisfied with the Ministry mainly
because he did not obtain a lucrative position in the administration,
and also because of the preference given to the Globe as the
ministerial organ,

93. licDougall - a young radical Reformer and the organiser of the Clear
Grit movement.
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believed to be just..... if we say, after
all this, the first time lr, Lafontaine

is asked to allow a measure, which Upper
Canada alone is interested in, which is
Jjust and popular; on which he knows his
colleagues went into power, to be made a
Cabinet question, he refuses and will break
up the Government rather then do it - let
it be broken up - the sooner the better -
we want no tyrants of his description - in
Canada West.'g)

Such was the opinion of the North American. George Brown, who had been

the strongest defender of the administration against the cry of French
deminationg~ was himself becoming convinced that Lafontaine was deter—
mined to prevent secularization, but he preferred to put it mildly.

Mle trust the Lower Canadians will support
us on the Clergy Reserves question, and we
feel sure they will, when they come to study
it fairly - but we shell never ask them to
give a dishonest vote on the plea: of dis-
honest vote having been given for them., We
denounced the double majority when our
opponents tried it, and we shall not now
palliate it, because 1t might be convenient
for ourselves.,

We heartily wish that Mr, Lafontaine could
have gone with us in the Clergy Reserves
matter and we yet hope and think that he

17 i
will do so. 95

S were . . .
These views exe not without concurrence from more impartial observers.

Lord Elgin in April 1850 wrote; -

"The best friends of the Bishop and the
Church are Lafontaine and his adherents -
the very people who had been the objects
of their ummeasured abuse,"96

QL. The North American,- cited by the: Globe, May 16, 1850,

95, The Globe, May 16, 1850,

96, Elgin-Grey Papers, vol. 2, = 623, Elgin to Grey, Apl. 7, 1850,
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There 1s evidence of more genuine feeling than those expressed by the
Clear Grit papers.
"Je shall get no real reforms from the
French. There is some truth in the
story of French domination, depend upon
it., What does Hincks mean by saying that
the French do not feel much interest in
settling the reserves? Why that they
oppose it, of course°“97
By the beginning of 1851 George Brown was gradually drifting away
from the government camp and was giving only critical support to the
government., By May 1851. he was definitely opposed to the administra-
tion, An important reason for his dissatisfaction was the vacillation
of the ministry on the Clergy Reserves question. He was a voluntarist
and had been criticising the Catholic Church too often while =~ in the
ministerial party. This won him the opposition of Lafontaine, Baldwin
himself had occasion to disagree with Brown, while Hincks had no love
. 08 . . . ,
for hlm,9 Price, being a voluntarist, was the only.close contact Brown

Q
had in the cabinet,/9 When in May 1851 the ministry amnounced that no

for in
measure/settling - the Clergy Reserves would be brought/duriag that
sesslon, Brown found sufficient reason to accuse the govermment of

. Z - . & 1
bowing down to French influence,

97. Clarke Papers§~ Lindsey to Clarke, Jan, 18, 1850.
{Ontario Provincial Archives),
98, Careless, Brown of the Globe, p. 12l.

99. Ibid.

100, Ibid., p,.133,
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Though Brovm-and his Globe did not join the Clear Grits, they
formed a united front at least on Clergy Reserves agitation, and in
their condemnation of the Canada Vest ministers. as being dominated
by the French Canadian members of the cabinet, This change is
clearly seen four months later when in August 1851, The Globe referred
to Lafontaine as -

".....our greal enemy on Reserves and
Rectory questions..... we admire lr,
Lafontaine as an honest stern public

man, But his principles are the
oposite of Liberals, and the iron sway he
exercised over his followers has been

as unreasonable as pernicious,"lOI

There was no doubt that Lafontaine exercised: a strong hold over his

~colleagues and followers from Canada Hast., The Examiner's appeal to the
tLiberals! of Canada East above the head of Lafontaine is sufficient
indication that it was Lafontaine who constituted the main obstacle and that
his influence was exercised strongly at cabinet level. Lafontaine was

determined to resist all radical reforms in either section of the

Province., A French Canadian ministerial organ - Journal de Quebec -

frankly expressed the opinion of the French section of the Assembly.

Meeo.- let us abstain from descending to
the infected walls of soclalism or to the
poised haunts of demogogue..... our des—
tinies being linked with hers - ‘Canada
We particularly allude to the Clergy
Reserves and the RectorieS,..... From
1824 to 1840 the Liberals of Upper Canada

10L, The Globe, Aug. 30, 1851,
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had indeed carried some electoral
victories, but those victories had been
without any results - administration being
invariably in the hands of their enemies...

Without the Unlon the position of the
Liberals of Upper Canada would probably be
what it was before the constitutional trans-
formation - beaten today, tomorrow victories,
but never governors. In 184L, indeed, it
was only by means of the 32 Liberal  votes of
Lower Canada that they came into power, they
had but 7 votes in the House and even now it
is more than doubtful whether they have a
majority taken from Upper Canada.

Let them remember that Lower Canada has
a voice as well as Upper Canada in the
question raised by them, with such violence
and which they decide as if they were the
sole and super dispensers of them., The 42
Lower Canadian members are determined to
follow no one blindly....."

went on to say that Canada West was unable to solve these

problems without Canada East, and that Canada West could not complain

of lack of devotion and sacrifice on the part of the Canada East

Liberals,

The Journal

"This Union between the Liberals of Upper
Canada and Lower Canada..... cannot subsist
unless upon reciprocal concessions as far
as possible, and of a perfect understanding
between them..... You must before all avoid
those who in 1845 and 1846 having no con-
fidence in the sincerity of your principles
and sympathies wished us in Lower Canada

to adopt the double majority system, Be
assured that the least division among you
tnder any pretext whatever could under such
system transfer power to your adversariesth,

warned the Radicals of Canada West 3

"1t is the system of 'all or nothing',
we will say to that party, whose organ,
the Examiner is; you want 'all! you will

have 'nothing!, you will destroy the
administration." oo

102, Journal dé Quebec, cited by the Globe, Apl., 2, 1850 (Italics writer!s).
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The Globe'ls comment on this article of the Journal de Quebsc was a

warning to the Reformers of Canada West, The ministry had only a bare
majority in Canada West and that they had no right to dictate to Canada

103 . .
East on the Clergy Reserves. The Examiner referred to this lexbtracr-

dinary article! and asked:
Are the advantages of the Unicn with Lower

Canada to be purchased on the sacrifice of the

natural rights of the people of Upper Canada?“10&

The Globe, which was still the ministerial orgaen in Canada West, admitted
the immense difficulties that tﬁe Canada VWest section of the ministry en-
countered as a result of its having to carry the Canada East section with
them on questions not felt to be anm evil in Canada Bast. The Clear Grits,
taking advantage of this position,accused the ministry of infidelity on
these questions,

M, .owell knowing that the desire to see these

objects accomplished would compel them to keep

silencecsee

DD OO0 CROOIOCOBOOPROOLPVOOOCCYORICO0GOOOGOEOECIOO O

Let every Reformer reflect that Mr, Lafontaine

is the head of the administration and having

nearly one half of the House to back him can

choose his Upper Canada Colleagues. 5
The opinion of the above journals shows the nature of the Lafontaine =
Baldwin ministry., The Quebec Journal obsdrved thabt double majority was not
a dead principle. AU least the French regarded it as an essential
principle, and it warned that the least division among the Reformers of

Canada West would lead to a transfer of power to the Tories according to

this principle. The Examiner admitted that the Union cannot work under

103, The Globe, Apl. 2, 1850,

104, The Examiner, Apl. 3, 1850,

105, The Globe, Apl. 4, 1850,
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such an arvangement, while The Globe reminded its readers that Lafontaine
was the determining factor, He could break up the administration and ally
with the opposition. In view of these powerful factors it is not
difficult to understand the position of the Canada West ministers. They
were helpless in the face of Lafontaine's unshakeable position, The
French had achieved a dominating political strength under responsible
govermment, They used this strength in the cabinet and the Assembly to
obstruct the growth of radicalism in Canada West as a guarantee for the

safety of their institutions,

However, certain measureé which concerned only Canada West did not
face the same problem of obtaining the support of the French Canadian
seétione Baldwin's University Bill of early 1849 was regarded as a Canada
West problem.106 With regard to separate schools, the principles involved

since

concerned bobh sections. The Catholic population had increased &a 1843 when
the attempt to establish Common Schools and common system of education was
abandoned. The Roman Catholics of Canada West were anxious to obtain
greater privileges for their own education. Hincks! Separate Schools Bill
of June 1850 amended the 19th clause of the existing act so as to replace

the discretionary authority of the municipal councils in establishing

separate schools with their duty to authorize the establishment of such

106, Moir, Church and State in Canada West, p. 102,




schools at the reguest of twelve or more inhebitants. 07 The bill

was rushed through the assembly, and there was some susplcion as to why

(] o SR S b 304 - P RN Y o Y - - e T = 7
the Reman Catholic members who were supposed o vote against the bill

t Tthe last moment, T

ing laws without giving sufficient notice and timeleg It found that
19th clause was changed due to pressure from French Canadian nembers.

"We much regret that the Inspector General should
have given way to the pressure wupon him and

altered his schools bill so far as to admit sep=
arate schools for foman Catholic inhabitantso”log

he Globe censured the ministry for pass-

the

On October 9th The Globe asserted that Hincks had given in on sep-

arate schools to save his party from revolt of the Canada East members

However, Brown's accusations were not baseless. The Mirror - the Catholic

organ in Canada West -~ threatened that the "Ministry that would introduce

a measure to repeal the nineteenth clause of the present bill could not

live twenty=£four hours after,"lll

An unavoidable result of the duality in the administration was
sectional legislation. The Journals of the Assembly provide numerous

examples of bills brought forward by members of elther sectlon on

107. Ibide, po 143
108, The Globe, Oct. 15, 1850,
1109, The Globe, July 9, 1850,

110, Ibid., Oct, 9, 1850,

111, The Mirror, Oct. 31, 1851 cited by Careless op, cit., p. 136,
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. . \ < . s oy . 112 o
mavters dealing with their own section of the province, Baldwin

concentrated on the Municipal Corporations Act, the University Act and

a number of measures dealing with the judicature of Canada West.,
Lafontaine's major work was the Rebellion Losses Act, besides numerous
measures dealing with the Canada HZast judicature, Hincks concentrated

on commercial questions, amd tariffs,and railroads. It was only in

these matters that sufficient agreement was possible in the Cabinet,

Thus under the Great Ministry, with the initiative and support of the
Governor General, important measures were taken for éommerical and railway

development.

The ministerial changes of the time indicate the relative stability
of the Canada East section of the Cabinet, Except for the resignation of
Viger, the Heceiver General, on the question of the seat of government,
there were no indications of uncompromising political opinion among the
French Canadian members of the Cabinet. T.C. Aylwin;- the Solicitor
General for Canade Easts resigned on Aprdl 24, 1848 to occupy a seat on the
Bench. James Leslie, the only !'British Canadiant! in the Canada East

w e -

section of the Cabinet, remained in his seat throughout the Great Ministry

112, The Journals of the Assembly of 29 Jan, 1849 illustrste the sectional
nature of legislation., Bills brought forward on this day.
Canada West. 1. Morrison - Limited Partnership Bill

2. Hincks - Assessment Bill
3. Smith —~ Registry Laws Bill
L. Morrison -~ Mortgages Bill
Canada Bast, 1. Cheaweau-Ffrivolous Opposition Bill
2, Lafontaine -~ Rebellion Losses Bill
3. Lafontaine ~ Court of Appeals and Criminal
Jurisdiction Bill,
4, Lafontaine — Court of Civil Jurisdiction Bill
5. Lafontaine - Gaspe Judicature Bill
one 0. Laurin - Winter Roads Bill

No single/of these bills involvesboth sections of the province.
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but did not play an important role in the controversisl issues of the

time,

In the Canada West section the resignations save. for . Sullivan's
113 ‘s . . - . .

and Blake's were on political issues, Radical opinion in Canada West
found sufficient expression in the Cabinet. The seat vacated by Sullivan
was filled by transferring Leslie from the Presidency of the Council to
the Secretaryship of the Province. In order to balance representation
from the two sections William Hamilton Merritt was appointed to the
cebinet on Sept. 15, 1848. He was a strong advocate of free trade and
retrenchment, and, having strong connections with the United States,
_ . s . ‘o . i 11L
favoured greater democratization of political institutions.
"r, Merritt..... is an honest man and by no means
a violent partisan but his opinions are thoroughly
Yankee, taken by the gross from the practice of
the state of New York. They are I hear on many
points incompatible with the maintenance of our
constitutional monarchy form of govermment ang

thoroughly distesteful to the French Canadians who

abhore direct taxes and excessive decentralization,”ll5

.

The resignation of L.M. Viger in November, 1849, precipitated a

cabinet crisis. His place in the cabinet had to be refilled by a French

113. Sullivan and Blake were promoted to the Bench.

1l4. He was born, and spent a good part of his life in New York, On
accepting office Merritt wrote to Lafontaine stating the policy
that the ministry should follow,

(1) Proceeds from Public Lands to form a verpetual fund for
common schools.
(2) Development of communications.
(3) Reciprocity.
(L) Free Trade.(p,A,c.)
Lafontaine raoers//nerflut to Lafontaine Sept 1L, 1848,

115, Elgin-Grey Papers, vol.2 , 622, Elgin to Grey 4pl. 7, 1850,
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Canadian, and Lafontaine had picked I. Chabot for the place.,,116 AT

same time Malcolm Cameron had been waiting for a higher position in the

cabinet, Price had never been comfortable in the cabinet because of his

117

voluntarist leanings. He fought hard for secularizabion of Clergy
: . . \ T s s 118
Reserves, and clashed with Baldwin on the Rectories question, and
threatened to leave the cabinel many times., To avoid a crisis Hincks

proposed a complete recrganization of the cabinet with four ministers

from each side.ll9

. . A : . e .
Viger's vacancy was filled by transferring Taché from the Recelver-

Generalship., This created a vacancy in the Public Works office,
Cameron who had been advocating retrenchment, proposed to unite both the

Chief and Assistant Commissionships of Public Works, preferably under him.

This arrangement was difficult because too many important positions
the v
would come under/Canada West section of the cabinet. Hincks wrote to

Cameron,
"You must recollect that I repeatedly urged
you to assist us by suggesbting arrapgemenbs
that would secure the indispenable object
of finding a department for the Lower
Canadian gentleman who was to fill Mr. Viger's

116. The Examiner, Apl, 24, 1850,

117. The Globe, July 3, 1851,

118. The Examiner, Oct. 10, 1850,

. (P.R,L.T,), . o
119. Baldwin Papers, /Hincks to Lafontaine Oct. 30, 1849. « .. . ..




seat in the cabineb,...

Tt would have been unjust to Lower Canada,
to maintain so great a preponderance of Upper
Canada members in the administration apart
from the expediency of keeping an important
office vacant. 'y 5q

Lafontaine was anxious to bring in Chabot as early as possible,lZl and the
appointment of Chabot as the Chief Commissioner of Public Works finally

resulted in Cameron's resignation, Cameron found a popular excuse in

the argument that the ministry refused retrenchment. However, he

122
admitted that there had been causes for his resignation for twelve months.

Cameron's resignation became a topic for prolonged public discussion,

The govermment was accused of being dominated by the French Caunadj.ans(,3"’23

Baldwin insisted on the necessity of the idea of collective respon-

sibility during the debate on the resignation of Cameron,

"eesoanother ground of his retirement which
had been thrown out in the documents was his
difference of opinion from other members of
the cabinet as to the line of public policy
to be pursued... o 1 the course the cabinet
was pursuing was such as he could not coneur
he would retire... unless the country and the
House held the ministers individually
responsxblee"lz&

120, ZIhe Globe, Dec, 27, 1849, Hincks' letter to Cameron,

121, The Examiner, Apl. 24, 1850, Cameron's speech in the Assembly,

122, The Globe, Dec, 27, 1849, Cameron's letter to the Examiner,

123, The Examiner, Apl. 24, 1850,

12L. The Globe, May 30, 1850. Legislative Assembly debates on May
27, 1850, S



Page 63. -

The Canada West members of the cabinet on the whole showed a strict
adherence to this principle and the resignation of Herritt, Cameron,
Price (October 27, 1851))and even Baldwin were on the guestions of policy
and disagreement with the rest of the cabinet., This greater diversgence

o the

o

*of opinion among the Canada West members was in contradistinction
rare degree of agreement and unity found among the French section of the

cabinet,

s

The climax of the process of disintegration of the Lafontaine -

Baldwin administration was Baldwin'!s resignation in June, 1851, Baldwin's
position in the cabinet was never very comfortable. He was the strongest

link that kept the union of the Reformers of the two sections of the
together,
province / Therefore, in order to maintain harmony, he had to restrain the

radical demands of his colleagues in Canada West. Hincks,who had always
based his actions on expediency, found that Baldwin was too slow and
vacillating.

"The whole moral influence of the government
will be lost owing to the vacillating policy
we invariably pursue and I fear much that the
administration must speedily yield to it.....
I could myself complete the administration

in a permanent and satisfactory footinz in 24
hours, but I found no disposition to act
elther in your part or Mr. Lafontaine’'s.cee..
greatest dissatisfaction exists with the
vacillating policy of the government on every
occasion and I feel myself that things cammot
go on as they have been going.“125

Hincks even informed Baldwin that he was seriously considering resigna-—

tion because of the unsatisfacory state of affairs,126

125. Baldwin Papers (P,R,L,T,)? Hincks to Baldwin, Oct. 26, 1849,

126, Ibid.




On most important issues Hincks did not conform to Baldwin's views,

but always avoided publicly coming to a breach with Baldwin. Hincks

o

was conscious of the need to keep the French section satisfied., He was
The strong man in the Canada Yest section of the cabinet and it was he

who brought pressure on Lafontaine on the Clergy Reserves question,
was
Baldw1n/reconc1led to the domlneorlng position of the French section and

often retreated in the face of Lafontaine!s influence,

Almost every member of the Canada West section of the cabinet found
reasons for disagreement with Baldwin. On elective legislative councils
Merritt wés in complete disagreement with him, Price and Cameron were
too radical for Baldwin, Lord Elgints judgement was the best:i explana-
tion of Baldwin's behaviour; on the qﬁestion of “an Elective Legislative Council,

"Having ‘got what he imagines to be the
likest thing to the British Constitution

he can obtain, he is satisfied and averse
to further change - 1 admire, however,

the perseverance with which he proclaims,
1 fauky, jeter ltancre dela constitution!
in reply to proposals of orﬁdnlc change....
though I fully expect like those who raised
his cry in 1791 he will, yet, if he lives,
find himself and his stateship floundering
among the rocks and shoals towards which he
. - - + + 1
never expected o steer. 127

The Clear CGrits regarded Baldwin as an obstacle preventing reforms

in Canada West., They condemmed his 'stale doctrine of moderation'.lza

127. Elgin-GreyPapers, wol.. 2;: 613, Elgin to Grey, Man. 23, 1850,

128, The Exeminer, Oct. 10, 1849,
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The Examiner was too critical of his legal approach on Clergy Reserves

and Rectories questions; "Legal cobwebs should never be allowed to impede

the stern march of moral principle...." It continued<-
a

"Ais/steadfast and persevering friend of
responsible govermment, (Baldwin) has
Justly merited the esteem and respect
of the Canadian people. As a principle
in planting the fulcrum upon which the
lever:of honest govermment is to play
for the removal of the load of political
corruption and injustice,... he will
always be honored...."

Yet, with this alone, the country was not satisfied, The country wanted
3 2

. T o

power to be applied for solving practical grievances., Public exasper-
ation had been raised after a long, costly, and weary conflict.

"eoo..1 there be a manifestation of coldness,
a bimidity - a miserable half-hearted and half
and half line of policy - need anyone be sur—
prised of the sort of indignation should be
heard on all sides, not from political enemies
but from the most devoted and consistent
friends of constitutional freedoma"129
and
Baldwin was accused for his !'fossilated Toryism!,/branded as a

retrograde in politics,lBO These accusations were, however, not without

129. The Examiner, Oct. 10, 1849.

130. The Exeminer, Sept. 11, 1850, The views of The Examiner expressed
both personal and political enmig) James Lesslie ~ the editor -
was one of the rebels of 1837~38,7/2 close associate of W.L.
lackenzie. He harboured personsl grievances against Bsldwin for
not giving him a good position in the adwinistration. The
acceptance of The Globe as the ministerial organ antagonized him
further,




some justification. There were many close followers of Baldwin who

0

expressed their disapproval of Baldwin's policy,l31 Byven within the
cabinet radical opinion was strengthening. On the attempt to make
the Legislative Council elective Baldwin wrote to Lafontaine =

T am constrained to retain the same views
upon it which I have so fully but unfortu-
nately so unsuccessfully urged upon my
c0lleagueSesacesvawon

I feel in whatever shape the measure may
come before parliament, it will be my duby
at every sacrifice to offer it an uncompro-
mising hostility,”132

The final decision of his 'colleagues' on April 9, 1850 to bring a
measure for elective legislative councll forced him to send his resigna-

133

tion to the Governor General.

The vote on the motion to abolish the Chancery Court on June 26,
1851, was a convenient pretext for his resignation. The circumstances

of his resignation were themselves very significant. The motion was

131. Baldwin Papers, (P.R.L.T.) Apl. 14, 1849 -~ Eb. Baley to Baldwin,
Baley condemmed the HMedical Bill as a 'Monster Scheme!,
TIbid., Apl. 11, 1849. ¥, Gorham expresse: his opposition to the
same bill.
Ibid.,Mey 15, 1849. T. Grover -~ expressed his disappointment
that no more useful reform measures were introduced during the
session, dJudicial measures involving retrenchment urgent. The
Chancery Court of Appeal = too cumbersome and expensive,
Ibid, May 27, 1849. J.C, Morrison - compleined about the manner
in which the school bill was passed through the House at the end
of the session.

132. Baldwin Papers. (P.R.L.T.), Baldwin to Lafontaine, Apl. 10, 1850,

133. 1Ibid.
However the cabinet decided to drop the issue and supported
Baldwin in his attack on Boulton's resolution for such a measure
in the Assembly. Wilson,- Robert Baldwin, p. 275,
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defeated by 30 to 34, but Baldwin laid grealt emphasis on the nature of
the vote, He analyzed the vote and explained the reasons for his resig-
nation to John RosselBQ Out of the 34 voting against Mackenzie'!s motion
only nine were from Canada Wesb, Four out of these nine were cabinet
ministers, Twenty-five from Canada West voted for the motion and six of
these were considered supporters of the administration., Of the rest,
three had supported Baldwin's Chancery Court Bill of 1849, and seven
135

others were members of the bar, Baldwin considered this as a vote of want
of confidence in him personally, on the part of the Canada West members
of the Assembly., Therefore, he did not interpret the vote as necessi~
tating a resignation of the Upper Canads section of the ministry.

"y colleagues seemed to think at first that

my resignation involved the necessity of their

resigning also, I, however, combatted this

strongly and urged upon them as a duty not to

abandon the views of governmenbteeecoscecccocss

I do not really believe that my resignation

will help them rather than otherwise,a.e"136

His resignation was contrary to the principles of collective

responsibility which he had often emphasized., The double majoriity system
was denied137 by the continuabtion of the rest of the ministry in power,

However the circumstances in which he resigned, and the fact that the only

concrete argument for his resignation was the loss of confidence of the majority

134, Baldwin Papers, (P.R.L.T.), Baldwin to John Ross, June, 28 1851,

135, Ibid.
136. Ibid,

137, Wilson, Robert Baldwin, p. 290,
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in Canade ¥West, ' implied that the 'double majority' was an important
principle, His resignation was an application of 'double majority'
principle to one individual in the ministry. It created a precedent
vhich was often referred to,during the years that followed. While
denying the acceptance of the principle, it became a tacit obligation
to recognize its importance, Zvery ministry that followed always
attempted to achieve !double majority' even 1f they refused to be always
bound to resign in case of a failure to obtain it. On the negative side
Baldwin's resignation. for the first time diminished the effectiveness

of single majority.

The reaction that Baldwin's resignation created on French Canadian
opinion illustrated the position that he occupied in relation to the

French Canadian Reformers as a whole., The Journal de Quebec unhesitating-

1y announced that the French\Liberals’might ook for a new combination,
"In repudiating Baldwin these Liberals (Cansda
West) destroyed their principle and they will
discover it.... Baldwin was a type and a prine-
ciple and to repel him was to repel the prin-
ciple of comstitutional liberty."138
The Quebec Journal disapproved of Hinck!s attitude towards Baldwin
and branded him a Clear Grit.139 The French Canadians were aware of
the Importance of Baldwin's role in the Canada West section of the

cabinet in preventing radicalism from asserbing too much strength.

Lafontaine and his colleagues, once they had removed the inequalities

138. Journal de Quebec, cited by ZThe Examiner, Feb., 11, 1852,

139, Ibid.
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imposed on them by the Act of Union, and established conventions and
legal safeguards for the preservation of their identity, utilized
their bargaining position to prevent the growth of radicalism in Canada

The
West. /only danger now was radicalism, therefore. the resignation of

Baldwin wes the beginning of the bresk up of the Reform Alliance. His

resignation precipitated the resignation of Lafontaine, ~ the most

- dominant figure in the cabinet, th's brought to an end an era in the

history of the Canadian Union,

The working of the cabinet system during the four years of the
Great Ministry illustrates that duelity was unavoidable. The double
majorivy scheme of 1845 had to be followed as closely as possible, The
cabinet was formed and maintained on the basis of balance of numbers as
well as of power and influence. Legislation on the whole was sectional,
on matters that effected the institutions of the two sections of the

. The N :
prov1nce°l/greatest care had to be taken to ensure a majority for govern-

ment measures in both sections of the assembly. Double majority, thus,

became an uvnwritten convention, Its corollary of sectional responsibility

was accepted when on the defeat of the govermment in Canada West, on the
Chancery Court abolition motion, that section of the ministry offered to
resign as a body. BSectional resignation was avoided by Baldwin's accept-

ance of complete responsibility for the reluctance of the cabinet, not

simply to abolish the Chancery Court but also .its the reluctance to reform
the Clergy Reserves, the Rectories and the constitution. Double majority

and sectional responsibility became estallished conventions in order to con~

tinue the legislative union of the two Canades, as will be seen clearly in

the cabinets that followed the Great Ministry.
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CHAPTER II

THE STRUGGLE FOR A MAJORITY

The disintegration of the Reform party of Canada West had been
taking place since the formation of the Great Ministry. The old radical
Reformers like Peter Perry, James Lesslie, John Rolph and Malcom Cameron
were disillusioned by the realization that the party leadership was
conservative at heart, By 1851 they were joined by more zealous and
young radicals like Willieam . McDougall, Charles Lindsey and Charles Clarke.
With the "Papal Aggression' controversy in England, George Brown emerged
as the champion of the Protestant cause in Ganadag> These divisions
weakened the Reform party and its aims., By the end of 1851 the Clear
Grits could no longer be dismissed as "a little miserable cliquerof office

seeking, bunkwm talking Cormorantéo" A

The Tories had spent most of thelir vigour during the rebellion Llosses
controversy and the smmexationist movement and as far as thelr programme
indicated there was little hope of strengthening their position in Canada
West, It was the radical movement that provided the greatest threat to

the Reform party.

This party development in Canada West was destined to complicate the

operation of the double cabinet system and its concomitant - the double

1. The Globe, Jan. 10, 1850.
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majority -. These two conventions had become eufficientiy strong during
the last four years, Their observance became necessary in order to form

a strong administration. This created a dilemma in Canadian politics.

The party positions in Canada in 1845 made it comparatively easy to
put forward a scheme of double majority and double cabinet, The dividing
lines between parties, though not always on politieal principles, were
sufficiently clear., Broadly, there was a two party system in Canada West. .
In Canada East the French Canadian Liberals werevthe only party that
politically'mgttered, The Papineau‘section was insignificant and the
eastern Tories were united in a single party with the Tories in Canada
West, In such-a party division where there were two parties in Canada
West with the possibility of one replacing the other in power, and one
single strong party in Canada East which could command an overwhelming
support in that section of the province, the operation of a double majority
s&stem was not impossible., The period under the Great Ministry illustrated
that the double majority was‘not impossible if it was not applied as a
strict principle invelving a resignation of one section of the ministry on
‘any adverse vote in that particular section of the House. On the whole
the Lafontaine - Baldwin alliance could obtain majorities on either
sections of the House and until the vote on Chancery Court2 the validity
of the administration was not questioned on the basis of the double
majority condition. With this event it was realized that double majority

was becoming a diffieult task, The cause for this difficulty was the

2,  Above,p.66,
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emergence of a third group of politicians in Canada West. No single
group could command an overwhelming majority of votes in the Canada West
section of the House, Hincks, in his speech on Baldwin's resignation
challenged the opposition to prove that any measure affecting Canada West
was carried with the help of Canada East votes., He maintained that "to
attempt to govern ome section of the country by the majority from the
othef could produce nothing but misfortune.v 3  Thus political dwality
created a new dilemma - the struggle to form and maintéin political
combinations in Canada‘%ést in order to sustain the partnership in the

cabinet,

Le Journal de Quebec = the organ of the rightist faction of the

French Canadian Liberal ?arty - had often, and unhesitatingly, declared
that division among the Reformers would lead to new combinations. They
were indicating that the Freneh Canadians would look for an alliance with
the Tories,h The Conservative faction in the Tory party was repenting

that they had lost their chance.’

However, there were rumours of new overtures to the French by the
Toriesgé The Cauchon faction in the French Liberal party was using

the threat of an alliance with the Tories to tame the Canada West radicals

3. The Pilot, June 30, 1851.e Report of Hinck$! gpeech in the Assembly.

bo Le Journal de Quebsg, cited by the Globe, Apl. 2, 1850,

5 Donald Crelighton, John A, Macdonald - The Young Politician,-
(Toronto, 1952) p. iove

6, The Globe, Mar, 26, June 22, 1850,



page 73,

especially the Clear Grits. The Tories, although anxious of coming to
povery were sbill anti-French at heart., Besides the similarity in the
church and state policy there was still no chance of & cordial alliance
between the Tories and the French. It was Baldwin's resignation and its

consequences that focussed . attention on new political combinations.

An important consequence of Baldwin's decision to resign was the
announcement of Lafontaine that he himseif would retire at the end of
the session. This was not surprising because there were signs that
Lafontaine's domineering position in Canada East was also shaken. On
the questidns of an elective Legislative Council and abolition of
Seigneurial Tenure, the majority of his par%vaas opposed to Lafontaine's
views. He faced the toughest opposition of his followers on the question
of the judicial powers of the seigneurs., They rebelled against his
domination and called him a renegade to the party,7 nT am getting too
old to form a part of the new school of fChisellers!, that is a bad
sohool.ﬁ, he wrote to Ba,ldwin,8 It was Lafontaine's continuation in
office after the amnouncement, rather than his desire to retire, that
embarassed the cabinet more, Hincks was impatient because he could nob
take}gg;essary steps to strengthen his section of the cabinet as long as

, L9 s
Lofontaine remained the head of the administration.  Lord Elgin himself

7, The Globe, Aug. 2, 6, 1851,

8., Baldwin Papers (P.R.L.T.), Lafontaine to Baldwin, Nov. 6, 1851,

9. Hincks, Reminiscences, p. 252,
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was desirous of forming a strong ministry. "I ecould have told him,® wrote
Lord Elgin to Grey, "if you are going out at the end of the session to

10
please yourself, go now to please me."

Immediately after Baldwin's resignation Hincks began negotiations
for a new combination in order to assure a majority in Canada West. The
French Canadian press continued to warn the Clear Grits of a possible
alliance with the Tories. This made it sufficiently easy for Hincks to

negotiate with the Clear Grits. The Quebec Canadienne on July 3rd, 1851

remarked,

W, ..5lgns are already visible and there is not the
slightest doubt that new combinations, a new political
order of things will displace the existing order,

' party shades are dissolving, blending together and a
new colour will be formed,..this colour will not be
Clear Gritee.. Mr, Baldwin's retirement from
political life cuts off half the tie which used to
unite the liberals and Upper Canada to the Lower
Canada party: the Clear Grits will do the rest, and
a new order of things must spring up which will I am
certain tend to better our prospects and which in the
end is not so extraordinary as has been hitherto
imagineda"ll

the
However, the passage itself indicates that a combination with/Tories had

been regarded as rather 'extraordinaryt!, The most crucial condition was
the majority in Canada West. Thus Hincks approached the Clear Grits

secretly in July 1851,12‘ Baldwin's resignation had removed the major

10, Longley, Hincks, p. 289.

11, The Quebec Canadienne, July 3, 1851, cited by the Globe, July 17, 1851,

12, T.5, Shenston Papers (Ontario Provimcial Archives.), Hincks to
Shenston, July 25, 1851, !
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ébstacle for such a combination. Further Hincks in his characteristic

" shrewdness realized thal it wes only through an alliance with the
radicals that he could hope to strengthen his following in the Assembly,
The ministry had loSt the support of the Globe and it had to be replaced
with an drgan capable of sﬁanding up to the onsleught of the Globe. On
July 25th Hincks informed Shemston:.

"We agree to abandon all platforms and to confide
in the new administration... to do what is right

VB EeO 0V 0AOEEO000000000PL00B00BEOTOOADIROD 000000000

The Examiner and the North American are to

support the govermment in the futuree"lB
M-cDougall -~ the organizer of the Clear Grit movement - wrote confiden-
tially. to Clarke,

"My offer is Laféntalne, Baldwin and Price are

going out to take in two 'Clear Grits! at least

Cameron and Rolph. The 'glatform' must of

course be laid aside as a whole but the main

principles must be asserted to and we must

pledge the country upon them"lh
The terms of the agreement were to be kerta secret till Lafontaine
fesigned, and if he did not resign by the end of the session Hincks
would submit his resignation,ls Thus, in September, Hincks and Morris, -
the only two Canada West members left in the cabinet,~ submitted their

16 _
resignations te Lafontaine, This made it imperative that Lafontaine, -

13, Ibid.

14, GClarke Paﬁeyh (Ontarlo Provineial ﬁrchlves), ﬂcDougall to Clarke
July 25, 1851

15. The Examiner, Mar. 8, 1854,

16. Lafontaine Papers. (P.A.C.),Hincks to'LafGntaineg Sept. 15, 1851,
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the legal head of the cabinet should resign so that the Governor General

could call in a new head to form a new cabinet.

¥His Excellency the Governor General did me the
the honour to send for me in conjunction with

my honourable friend the Commissioner of Crown
Lands (Mr, Morin) to consult with us in regard

to the formation of a new administration. Upon
one point my honourable friend and I have always
been agreed, and that is, that it is most
important to the inbterests of this country, that
the administration should if possible command a
confidence of both sections of the Province,,ee“l7

It was for this desired purpose of obtaining the double majority that

Hincks compromised with the Clear Grits. However, there was the fear of

he
French Canadian opposition to a combination with/Clear Grits,

#The French have been sounded and they agree to &
allow us by our own mejority to settle the
religious questions in Upper Canadac.. . They
are willing to heal up the breach and let bygones
be bygones,“l8 '

Such was McDougall's message to Clarke. But this concession was obbtained

by Hincks with a eértain amount of difficulity. The reactions in Canada

Bast to the Clear Grit - Reform combination was cerbtainly unfavourable.
1The advance made towards 'Clear Grits! in forming the ministry had had

bad effects here’ gﬁon%reaig ,ﬁ'Lafcnﬁaine informed Baldwin%g Hincks

had given the guarantee to those French Canadian leaders who were

alarmed by the combination that the combination would break up the

17. Hincks, Reminiseences, p. 322,

18, Clarke Papers (0.P.A.), McDougall to Clarke, July 25, 1851,

19. Baldwin Papers, (P.R.L.T.); Lafentaine to Baldwin, Nov. 6, 185L,
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"ultra radical schemes@"zo If this were to be the result, the
conservabtive French Canadian leaders like De Blanquierevwere willing to
tolerate the combination,zl Yet there were others who were violently
opposed to a combination with the Clear Grits. Cauchon - the more
conservative leader from Quebec;- expressly stated his disapproval with

marked exaggerabion as to the nature and aims of Clear Gritism.

Clear Gritism is, in my opinion, neither more
nor less than Socialism, and Socialism of the
worst kind, ardently desiring the destruction
of our institutions, and expressingthis desire,
vithout blushing, every hour of the day, through
the mediwm of its press. By introducing it into
the Goverment you admit in the first place, that
it forces itself upon you, and is powerful
enough to command the position you give iteseocn. .°
cooyou admit that it is good and acceptable as
an element of govermment you give it an existence
by authority, and furnish the justification, nay,
more the glorification of its principlee"zz

Cauchon tried to justify this alarmist view by the fact that the Clear
Grits had not abandoned their principles publicly, when they joined
the new ministry., The whole country was of the opinion that they were

23

included in the ministry because of their opinions,

In this respect Cauchon was not very far from the truth. Hincks,
although in approval of the idea of secularization of Clergy Reserves

had no ideological sympathy with the Clear Grits. His main motive was

20, De Blanquiere to Hincks, Oct. 11, 1851, enclosure in Elgin-Grey
Papers vol. 3. 930-31.

21, Ibid.

22, Hihéks, Reminiscences. Cauchon to Hincks., Oct. 30, 1851, pp 260-61.

23. 1bid.
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to make use of the support that the Clear Grits could give during the
'coming election. While the Clear Grit platform was to be abandoned
their principles were to be used for the purpose of winning support in
Canada West. The Clear Grit platform could dengerously bind the
minisbry to undertake difficult reform measures which would naturally
involve a clash with the French Canadians and Catholies, but by leaving
their principles intact Hincks had everything to gain in Canada West,
Hincks! colleague Mbrris; the Postmaster= General, indicated that unless

they obtained the support of the Clear Grits the ministry would be going

to the country shorn of one third of its powerazh The names of the two
Clear Grits, especially Dr. Rolph's, were the magic that Hincks intended
to use to get the necessary majority, George Brown understood Hincks
better than any one else in the Province, though his criticism was not
always valid, He declared that Cameron and Rolph were going to be mere

that
"decoy ducks",25 and warned the Clear Grits / "your Clear Grit im office

6
will be a very different animal",2

The Ciear Grits themselves were nottoo ambitious. Some believed that
the presence of Clear Grits in the cabinet would prevent "bad measuresh
~being brought up by the ministry¢27 Brown's accusation that the Clear
Grits were office seekers was not completeiy unjustified. McDougall

himself wrote to Clarke, who was in & difficult financial condition:.

2h. Series M. (P.A.C.), vol. 116, Morris to Hincks, Oct. 6, 1851,
cited by Longley, Hincks, p. 291,

25. The Globe, Aug. 21, 185L.
26, Ibid., Aug. 7, 1851, ’
27. Glarke Papers (0.P.A.), Spence to Clarke, Feb, 28, 1852,
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BIf we can get to the top of the heap we can perhaps do for you
SOmething more congenial than standing behind the counter."28 What
was definite about the Clear Grit-Reform combination was that its main
purpose was to reinforce the weakening ministerial party in Canada
West, Hincks! eries of”Union, ‘Union, Tories, Tories 1£wand”Peace
Peace iiL" were attempts, not, as the Globe tried to show, to avoid

reform issues in Canada West, bubt to assure the necessary majority for

the Canada West section of the ministry,

Hincks was on the.other hand doubtful of the support of Morin,
Taché and Caron to form a neW'ministry029 It was only natural that
the French Canadians hesitated to work with the Clear Grits in the
cabinet, Yet there was no better alternative, at least not until the

nature e power in Canada West, Hincks' combin-

elections indicated the
ation obtained a majority in the 1851-52 elections. Thus there was no
choice for the French Canadians even if there was a désire to avoid the

Clear Grit-Reform combination of Canada West. The double majority

28, Ibid. McDougall to Clarke, July 25, 1851,

This motive of the Clear Grits is, perhaps seen better in the
appointment of Joseph Lesslie as the Accountant to the Crown
Lands department held by Dr. Rolph. Joseph Lesslie was the
brother of James Lesslie - editor of the Examiner.

The Globe, Feb, 28, 1852,

29. Longley, Hincks, p. 290,
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bound both sides equally. The French fear was that a violation in
the practice might someday bring about a Canada West majoritymiling

with the help of a minority in Canada East, as it was before 1848,

Furthermore, the new French Canadian leaders were not of the same
calibre as Lafontaine, They‘were less rigid and déﬁineering, though
not devoid of the same interest in their rights and institutions. In
July, 1851 the Globe felt that after Lafontaine the Canada East party
would be led by men of more liberal views,BO Later it referred to
Mcrin as ",,.that mild meek constitutionaliste"Bl As McDougall
informed Clarke the French were willing to compromise and let the past

. ~ 2
record of the Clear Grits be forgotten.3

The forming of the new ecabinet was extremely difficult. Lord
Elgin mentioned that prolonged discussions took place among Morin, Hincks
and the Governor himself.33 The practice of balanéing of numbers and
influence in the cabinet was continued as before. Hincks was the
strong man in the new cabinet and he endeavoured to strengthen it by
every means possible, This created a certain amount of suspicion

among the French Canadians.

30, The Globe, July, 17, 1851
31, Ibid,, Aug. 4, 1853.
32, Clarke Papers. (0.P.A.), McDougall to Clarke, July 25, 1851,

33, Elgin-Grey Papers. vol. 3, 900. Elgin to Grey, Oct. 9, 1351,




The new cabinet included the followings

CANADA EAST
AN, MORIN - Provincial Secretary.
4
TACHE - : Receiver General,
CARON ' - Speaker of the Legislative Council.
DRUMMOND - . Attorney General
YOUNG - Cormmissioner of Public Works,
CANADA WEST
HINCKS - Inspector General
J. MORRIS - Postuiaster= General
M., CAMERON - President of the Executive Council.
DR, JOHN ROLPH - Commissioner of Crown Lands
RICHARDS - Attorney General.

A significant feature in this composition of the cabinet was the presence
of two members of British origin in the Canada East section. Drummond, -
the Irish Roman Catholic reﬁresentative in the earlier ministry, was the
Solicitor General for Lower Canada, and outside the cabinefe There was
a convention that the Selicitor General.should be promoted to the office

of the Attorney General if the latter became vacantesh Thus Drummond

3k, This practice was overlooked with regard to the Canada West seciion,
J.S. Macdonald who was the Sé¢licitor General since 1849 was over-
looked in favour of Riechards. The reason was.thab sines the effice of the
Attorney Getwral was considered the most important, it had to be
offered to a very loyal member of the party,.

Hincks, Reminiscences. p. 254.
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was promoted to the higher office. He was found suitable for this
important post because of his experience and his undoubted loyalty to
Canada East interests. Drummond was regarded as almost a French
Canadiana35 Cauchon objected to such considerations and preferred to

place him as any other member of British origin,36

The Protestant British interest had also to be given represenﬁatien
in the cabinet as was done earlier., Young was included because of his
religious and radical affiliations as well as his well known commercial
experience, For the French Canadians it meant an assertion of extra
influence by the British population in Canada Bast, Cauchon refused to
accept office of the Assistant Secretaryship because he found that "The
French Canadian influence in the cabinet has been under the new
arrangement and especially in the substitution of Mr, Young for Mr.
Bourret in. the department of Fublic Works..." 37 Hincks' answer was:

"It must be sufficiently obvious that if in
addition te all other difficulties to be

surmounted such narrow views as those urged
in your letter were to influence public men

it would be almost impossible to effect any
satisfactory arrangement, For instance the

35, Above, p. 35,
36, Ibid.

37, Hincks, Reminiscences, p. 268, Hincks to Cauchon, Nov, 3, 1851.
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Government must be deprived of the assistance
of a gentleman peculiarly qualified from his
previous pursults to be at the head of the
department of Public Works because he happens
to be not of French origine“BS

He explained that Morin had agreed to take every step possible %o

Strengthen the administration in the Assembly. Therefore,

",.o the appointment has had the desired effect;

that the commercial classes of Montreal and

Quebec feel that the offer of a seat in the

cabinet to Mr, Young could have been made with

no other objeect than to convince them that there

was every abttempt on the part of the Government

to afford the means of representing their wishes

in the most satisfactory manner, and that there

was every desire to meet their reasonable demandsaﬁ39

This was an attempt to break through some o the frustrating restrictions
involved in cabinet making, and to pursue a policy which Lord Elgin had
recommended at the beginning of the previous ax:im:’.zn:‘t.strat:icm1‘*’O Lord
Elgin himself influenced the appointment of Young for this particular
post,

"In Lower Canada I am chiefly desirous to get

Mr, Young, whose views on commercial matters,

I have often brought under your notice into

the cabinet,...l think his appointment would
tell well with the mercantile interestse"hl

38, Ibid,, pp. 267268,
39, Ibid.

10, Above, p. 26.

4l. Elgin - Grey Papers, vol. 3, . 918, Elgin to Grey, Oct. 17, 1851,
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Cauchon's objection was on the basis that the weight and influence in
the two sections of the cabinet did not properly balance,

"As we have come to counting and weighing the

value of situations I must also tell you that

by your arr%gements Lower Canada possesses bub

one of those departments, which are of imporit-

ance in regard to patronage, that of the

public works, whereas Upper Canada has three,

viz., the Crown Lands, the Customs and the

Post office,"

. b2

Yet another objection to the new cabinet was in the appointment of men
of the same racial origin to the Commissionership and Assistant

Commissionership of a single department, Cauchon pointed out that this

had not been the practice in the previous ministries°43

It is evident from thié correspondence that the balancing of weight
and influence between the two sectioms of the cabinet was still an
essential aspect of cabinet making. The guarantee of "justice for the
French? was still as a dusl arrangemait with a perfect'balance as far as
possible. In spite of Hincks' defence of the deviations from the former
practice on arguments of strength and talents for the administration,
he was sufficiently aware of the fears that such an arrepgement wsuld

create among the French Canadians, Thus he tried to revive the post of

42, Hincks, Reminiscences, pe. 27k, Cauchon to Hincks, Nov., 8, 1851,

43. Ibid,, p. 262, Cauchon to Hincks, Oct. 31, 1851,

&
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Assistant Secretary for Canada East, which had been abolished since 1841,
This, according to Cauchon,was & mere sop to satisfy the suspicions
created in Canada East@h& The retirement of Lafontaine had, actually,
brought about a considerable change. Cauchon found that ",.. Mr. Morin
by too much feebleness and condescendence, or perhaps by forgetfulness
might cease to affirm a rigﬁt to which he was in a position to give
weight and to which he ought to give weight.“k5 Hincks was the dominant
figure in the new cabinet., Fe always placed expediency before principle
and cared little for narrow sectional differences, sc long as he could
achieve his purpose. His mein interests were railway and commercial
development, “huYebihe wds:oreddy: s to yield even to sectional preju-
b6

dices for the sake of the larger interests of the Province. His

political record since the 1830's justifies the remark of Alexander

47

Cameron that Hincks was a "Robeft Peel statesmant

Once the preliminary motive of ensuring a majority was achieved it
did not take much time for the new combination to exhibit the unavoidable

contradictions involved in it. The majority in Canada West depended

essentially on the success of the ministry in carrying out the outstanding

Lo Ibid,
h5. Ibideyp. 275, Cauchon to Hineks, Nov. 8, 1851.

16,1, The Pilot, June 30, 1850,
i1.0.D. Skelton, Life and Times of A.T, Galt. (Toronto 1920), p. 187
Hincks to Galt, Aug. 3, 1854,

47. Buell Papers. (0.P.A,), Alexander Cameron to Buell, June 13, 1854,



reforms in Canada West. Clear Grit asscciation in the ministry
naturally carried a tacit pledse to undertake some of their reform
programme, at least in the eyes of the electorate. On the other hand,
Clear Gritism in the cabinet forced the French Canadian section te be
more cautious because of the suspicions of their electorate., The major,
unsolved issues inherited from the Lafontaine - Baldwin ministry were
bound to provide the opportunity for the operation qﬁ%his contradiction
in the new combination. As the need for refoyms in Canada West was fell
more and more the dual allegiaﬁce and dual responsibility in the cabinet
began to conflict with greater intensity, The effects of this conflict
were felt more in Canada West where political and sectional differences
were becoming stronger. The net effect was that Canada West had to

struggle hard to maintain a majority,

The most embarassing issue was the settlement of Clergy Reserves.
Judgihg from the reports of the Clear Grit newspapers;- the Exeminer and

the North American,it seemed that there was no definite agreement on

" the Clergy Reserves question between Hincks and the Clear Grits, Brown
thought that Rolph and Cameron had agreed "to set aside the Reservé
question until the Imperial Act, the Rectory question altogether and
what they have agreed on other gquestions nobody knows... e"ks The

North American vaguely assertedj- "We shall never come out as a minis-

terial organ unless the ministry is formed to carry out real 'bona fide!

LS, T.S. Shenston Papers, (0.P.A.), Brown to Shenstom, Oct. 23, 1851,
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reform principlese“kg The Globe however, was persistently demanding

that the ministry éhould make the secularization of Clergy Reserves &

cabinet question and undertake reforms regarding the rectories and

separate schools,

e must say to the French Canadians - these are
our prineiples = if you can agree with us upon
them and go with us in carrying them out we can
Journey together, but otherwise we must part.
COP OO0 0BG O0DICVOOVOBEOROCOOO VDOV OOOECOOOBIGUIOROSTO
It is no question of coercing them - it is they
who coerce usa“so

The Imperial govermment gave a pledge to take action to transfer the

power of settling the question to the local legislature. This,together

with the pledges given by the Canada West members of the ministry was

sufficient support for the ministry at the elections. On November 27,

1851 Rolph declared at the nomination meeting at Norfolk;

#The cabinet were fully and unamimously agreed
on secularization of the reserves and a bill
with that object in view would immediately on
the assembling of Parliament be brought in by
the government.”5l

Although, there was no deliberate attempt on the part of the cabinet to

deceive the electofate there was: suffiéientievidence that the ministerisl

policy was vague and confused., The accession of the Derby ministry in

England with Pakington as Colonial Secretary made the problem still more

9. The North American, cited by Globe, July 31, 185L.
50, The Globe, Aug. 5, 1851, o
51, The Globe, Feb, 13, 185,




Page 88,

difficult. There was a strong clamour that the settlement of Clergy

Reserves should be entirely in the hands of the local legislature,

] can assure Her Majestyls Govermment with the
utmost sincerity, that there will be no end to
agitation in Canada if the abtempt be made to
settle this question permanently according to the
public opinion in England instead of that of the
province itself, and I may add that it is well
known that many who are opponents of the
secularization of the Clergy Reserves are on the
constitutional grounds in favour of a settlement
by Provincial Parliamento"52

Hincks'! repeated appeals of this nature did not move the Imperial

government until the Aberdeen ministry replaced the Derby ministry”> Lord
Elgin himself was responsible for the delay and the vacillating poliey of the
ministry. Cameron later maintained that Lord Elgin refused to allow the
introduction of a measure for secularization of Clergy Reserves after

Sb

Imperial permission had been granted. The truth of this view is

sufficiently established by Lord Elgin's letler to his wife after the Hincks
= Morin ministry had resigned., #If I had allowed the last Parliament to

deal with the Clergy Reserves no doubt they would have secularized themg"55

52, Hineks, Reminiscences, p. 287, Hincks to Pakington, May, 3, 1852,
Pakingbon had informed Lord Elgin that the Imperial government would
not place the Clergy Reserves setilement on the accidental majority
of the Canadian Assembly. Ibid, pp. 286-87,

53. longley, Hincks, p. 298.
54, The Examiner, Feb, 22, 1854

55, Lord Elgin to Countess Elgin, cited by Moir, Church and State in
Canada Mest, Po 730 :
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These words show that there was no great opposition from the French
Canadian ministers for secularization. According to McDougall, the
Prench had promised to allow secularization on condition that it was done
through a Canada West majorityeﬁé In August 1852, Morin "pledged himself

o7 Evidently, the French Canadian mini-

unequivocally® for secularization
sters had realized the difficulty of refusing secularization of the

Clérgy Reserves. Yet they were unable to advocate such a policy too
openly in the Province. The Roman Catholic church was strongly opposed

to secularization of churéh property, as a basic principle in church and
state relations., The Globe focussed its attacks mainly on the Roman
Catholic church rather than on the French Canadian ministers,as it was
felt that the priesthood was exercising a great restraining influence over

the French Canadian ministerso58

The Catholiec church in both sections of the province openly declared
their opposition to secularigation and, in general, to all Clear Grit

prineiples. The Catholic organ in Canada East - Melanges Religieux -

declared;

"There is only one word to be said of the

exorbitant designs of the Clear Grits, of which
we will only allude to that which touches more
directly the Catholic question: it is that the
minister who might lend his services to viclate

56, Clarke Papers, (0.P.A.) MeDougall to Clarke, July 25, 1851.

57, Dent, ‘opye cif.js Volse2, 266,

58, The Globe, July 21, 1854,
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the rights of conscience to the detriment of

half the population of both sections of the

Province will not obtain the support of the

House, Still less could the House by ylelding

to a combination of this kind take eredit for

itself for such legislation in the midst of a

free people, Bub it is beyond a doubt, that

the cabinet no more than the House will not
undertake this singualar business, not with-
standing the imperious demands of the Clear Grits°“59

In Canada West, the Mirror reflected the same opinion and went even
further to announce that the Clear Grit doctrinesiwere repudiated "not
only by the ministry as a whole but even by those members of it who

60

were supposed to represent the Clear Grit element in the cabinet,

Hincks himself in July, 1854 told his electorate at Oxford that
Morin and Chabol were not opposed to secularization of Clergy Reservesaél
When Morin was deféated at the elections in 'Terrebornne Hincks ex@lained
the defeat as the result of Morin's declaration in favour of Clergy
AReserﬁes secularizationeé2 The pfessure of Catholic opinion in both
sections of the province against voluntarist principles'df'the,Clear
Grits was very strong. The Roman Catholic Institute of Toronto appealed
to the Homan Catholics of Canada East to unite against secularization of

Clergy Reserves. The Tories and the Anglican High churchmen were still

firmly against secularization. Even those who favoured a radical

N

59. Melanges Religicik, 6ited by the Globe, Mar, 20, 1852,

60. The Mirrer, lod. cit,

61, The Globe, July 27, 1854.

62, TIbid.
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settlement were divided on the details of the settlement. This factor
in addition to the Imperial Act of 1840 provided the excuse for the
63

ministry for their vacillating pelicy,

Unfortunately for the Canada West section of the ministry all shades
of reform opinion found common ground in the Clergy Reserves question,
"The State - Church question is now the grand issue of Upper Canada and all
oﬁhersvmust bend to it," declared the g;ggg.ék George Brown and the Clear
Grit;iglunched a united‘attack.on the ministry since the swmer, 1852,
They’demanded an act of the local legislature on Reserves with a delaying
clause. The delaying clause was to avoid the conflict with the Imperial

65

authority,

The disillusiomment of the Clear Grits came rather early in 1852,
R. Spence wrote to Charles Clarke that the gountry was convinced that
secularization was a "political impossibility" as long as the existing
combination with Canada East lastaiéé There had been a desire to bargain
between the two sections in the cabinet on measures that involved them
more or less separabtely. The Globe censored the Lafontaine -~ Baldwin
miniétry for granting Rebellion Losses before the French pledged for

Clergy Reserves secularization°67

63, John Moir, Settlement of Clergy Reserves 1840-55. C.H.R. 1956
vole 37, Pe 56,

64, The Globe, July 29, 1852,

65, Moir, op. cit. pe. 57.

66, Clarke Papers. (0.P.i.), R. Spence to Clarke, Feb. 28, 1852.

67. The Globe, Aug. 2k, 1852,
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Alexander Mackenzie informed Brown that the Clergy Reserves bill
would not be broughﬁ in during the 1853 session and "this is very
important as the French will not be nearly so managesble after the feudal

tenure bill passes, as they might be nowo"68

Under these circumstances the Canada West section of the ministry
as a whole and the Clear Grit ministers in particular fought a
defensive batilé, The reform elements in Canada Wést‘interpreted the
Clear Grit presencevin the cabinet as an indication of a new attempt to
undertake urgent reforms in Canada West. Brown, of course, had no
illuéions from the beginning. He considered the Clear Grit ministers
as mere '"decoy ducks" and they would not be able to do anything against
ten others in the cabinete Even strong men like Sir Allan‘MacNab or
d.H. Cameron could do nothing‘in.such a cabinet,ég_ Lafontaine had a
different view of Dr. Rolph.- "Dr. Rolph is said to be a greater
ccnservative than you and I, then why is he the leader of the Clear

Grits?u T

The greatest disillusionment was shown by the Clear Grit newspapers
which undertook to back the ministry in the hope of their principles
being given some expression in the administration. The Examiner accused

Lord Elgin and Hineks ‘of purposely deceiving the people, ~of using the

68, Alexander Mackenzie Papers. (OaPoﬂo)gMackenzie to Brown Mar. 7, 1853,

69. The Globe, Nov. 4, 1851.

70. Baldwin Papers. (P.R.L.T.), Lafontaine to Baldwin, Nov. 6, 1851,
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name of Dr. Rolph "to play the game of executive deception.” Since
Rolph's name had always been identified with pepular rights and
secularization he was used to avoiding having to make a decision on

Clergy Reservese7l

The frustration of the Clear Crits was expressed by R, Spence in

early 1852,

"Dr, Rolph is politically .dead, the few who

could be rallied to his support now would

only meke a respectable funeral procession,

In fact Dr. Rolph is super annuated and

never should have been placed in his present

position by the Clear Grit partya"72
According to McDougall the two @lear Grits never acted togehter inside
the cabinet, Personal animosities between the two were so strong that
they hardly spoke to each other,73 The Globe. referred to a Rolph-
Cameron section in the cabinet,{& but Alexander Cameron affirmed; "I
think the Rolph - Richards section of the government are more united
than the Holph - Cameron section."’” Thus it is evident that the Clear
Grits were vnable to assert their influence in the cabinet both owing

to their incompetence and lack of unity., This was what Hincks and the

French Canadian ministers wished to see, Yet such a result was harmful

71. The Examiner, July 5, 185k,

72. Clarke Papers (0.P.A.), Robert Spence to Clarke Feb, 28, 1852,

73. Ibid., McDougall to Clarke Feb, 2, 1852,
7he The Globe, July 29, 1852,

75, Buell Papers (0.P.4,), Alexander Cameron to Buell, Mar, 1, 1853,
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to the combination in Canada West, The Clear Grit ministers were
losing their support in the country because of their inactivity in the

cabinet. Robert Spence was thoroughly disillusioned.

"Dr. Rolph has transferred his influence
if not his active support to the enemy,

I am ashamed to have been concerned in a
movement that has come to such an impo-
tent conclusioNeseeccconcsancasananoncas
SO0 O000O00OGOSOLDO0 OO0 O0000G0O000D0O0000QOO
eso a8s my political leader I repudiate him
altogether"76

Spence informed that even McDougall was dissatisfied and wished to sell

the North American so that he could retire from politicse77

The success of the combination depended on the extent to which
reforms wers carried out in Canada West, Yet it was not possible to
accomodate Clear Grit views with those of the French Canadians in the
ministry. The combination was cutbing both ways, The radical-reform
support for the ministry was rapidly deeclining in Canada West while the
French Canadians were becoming more suspicious. A break up of the

combination was slways expected. At the very beginning John Ross wrote

to Baldwin}

#The very way in which Rolph's name has been put
forward by his friends convinces me that no
ministry will last six months,e. oM 78

76. Clarke Papers. (O.P.A.), R. Spence to Clarke, Feb, 28, 1852,

77, Ibid. |
78, Baldwin Papers (P,R.L.T,), J. Ross to Baldwin,Sept. 17, 1851.
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In January 1853 the North American reported a speech made by Christie -
a prominant Clear Grit,. that the Clear Grits were ready to break the
s 79

new combination, MeDougall was rather late in publicly admitting that
the Glear Grits wers decleved,

Wr. Brown knew Mr, Hincks better than we

did, he knew the duplicity and power of the

priest party in Lower Canada and its

hostility to our principles better than any-

one of those who aided in the combinabtion of

1851.%gg

The disappointment over the vacillating policy of the ministry on

matiers relative to church and state was complemented by the disgust
arising out of the eorrvuption in the ministry. Hincks was particularly
involved in the major railway projects and his poliey was disapproved
even by his closest associates, His associations with British Railway
contractors were condemmed in and outside the House, "Hincks has dis-
gusted his friends by his perambulations with Jackson", wrote W. Leggo

81
to Clarke. McDouzall was more contemptuous in his condemnation of the
mimstmro

WWill the country abandon its govermment to a

band of reilway speculators, hungry lawyers and

stock jobbers?
No man dares to defend Hincks openly."go

79, The Globe, Jan. 11, 1853,
op. cit.,

80, The North American, Oct. 18, 1854, cited by Careless,/pp. 199-200.

81, Clarke Papers. (O.P.i.), W. Leggo to Clarke, Sept. 22, 1853,

82, 1bid, McDougall to Clarke, Sept. 17, 1853,




He strongly felt that after diselosurs of :

N ] S S L e T e I I . RO, JU SR S
should not stay in the cabinet and the combinatic

It was this possibliity of a break up of the existing combination
that attracted the attention of almost all political groups during the
e

bile

years 1853 and 185L. The newspapers of the time‘indicate the insta
ity of the political situation. Various combinations were suggested,
rumoured and denied. As the voting strength of the Canada VWest ssction
of the ministry weakened in the House the cry of French domination
strengthened, The French were deciding Canada West problems with their
solid majority-in the House. In spite of the gaining strength of the Rouge

and Cauchonite factions in Cansda Fast the ministerial group still
& iy

commanded a strong majority in the House,

In 1852 the Ex miner answered the threat of the Quebec Journal of a

Tory=French alliance with a counter threat tc break the Unionagh Brown
was thinking of a more powerful party in Canade West in order to end the
French ‘domination?,

UTE we can't remaln in office without bowing dowm

to Mr, Lafontainets phalanx, and sacrificing the

most vital questions of Upper Canada, it we
betlter that the Tories were in.¥®
85

83. Ibid,

84, The Exeminer, cited by the Globe, Feb, 12, 1852,

85, The Globe, Feb. 28, 1852,
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The radicals in Canada West had sensed the sinister implications of
Hinoksgdeclaration at the closing of the third parliement,

"That Union was above everything - that the

Queents govermment must be ecarried on even if

it could not be done by existing combinations.® 86
This statement indicated the evils of the double majority system. The
political duality necessitated a double majority. And with the |
strengthening of political sectionalism in Canada West the majority had
to be obtained through a combination of widely different opinions.
Such combinations were by their very nature unstable. The necessity of
carryiﬁgzﬂgrench Canadians with them compelled the abandonment or
medification of their political programmes. Such were the results of

the Hincks - Clear Grit combination. The inevitable consequence of this

was the loss of support for the Canada West section of the ministryo

The Union had become a contract rather‘than a constitutional act.
No change in the Union Aet was possible without the co-operation of the
French.,Union = "the rod by which it was intended to destroy" the French
Canadians was used "to save! themselves and te place them "in a command-
ing position.! 81 The means adopted for this purpose were the double
cabinet and the double majority. BEquality of representation in itself

was impotent of giving the equality that the French desired. Thus

86, The Pilot, June 30, 1851,~ reporting Hincks speech in the Assembly.

87, Elgin-Grey Papers, vol. 3, u'. 901-902, Lafontaine's speech,
Oct. 5, 1851, : ,
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double majority became identified with the Union, Any political
alliance ensuring the ‘double inajority could be justified in the name

of the Union. No cabinet could centinue in office with one of the

two sectbions m a minority ’ir’x the Hbv.see Throughout the period of the
Hincks=Morin administration the ministry could obtain a majority in

the whole House. Measures were passed and accepted as legal. Yet the
opinion in the country could not telerate a cabinet with one section
depending on a minority supj:ort, Thus combinations became ‘an inevitable

feature in Canada West.
Sir Allan MeNab in August, 1851 declared:

"] will only say and want it to go over the

country that I will do all I can to prevent a

Clear Grit party rising through the land and

‘will ‘support any party to prevent that,.! 88
After this declaration the Tories met to discuss the possibility of

: 9 v

entering the partnership with the Firench. Hos«reve.ar3 in spite of the
eagerness of the Conservative faction, the party was undecided on the
nature and aims of such a partnership. lMcDonald himself was wavering
between the two alternatives of an alliance with the French in a joint

partnership or of an all British party to end the French Canadian

90
supremacy. George Brown speculated on the same lines.

88, The Globe, Mar, 11, 1852,
89, 1ibid.,Feb, 27, 1854,

90, Ibid.
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"Even the Conservatives are now beginning to
assume & spirit of greater liberality and will
soon feel the necessity of standing aloof from
the Lower Canadians and forming with those
liberals of Upper Canada who are opposed to the
present ministerial policy - a progressive party.fgy
If an agreement could be effected on Clergy Reserves and Rectories

: : . X 2
questions such a union was poss:.bleo9

The idea of an all British party meant the violation of responsible
government, as the French understood the term., It could have avoided
the deadlock but could never eliminate the underiying differences be=
tween the two major raclal groups. There was no possibility of main-
taining Union on the basis of inequalibty, or the ascendancy of one
racial group., The double majority, as Baldwin had admitted, provided the

only workable solution.

The Tories were split on the question of co-operation with the
Frénch° Anti-French faction was still too strong. The Gavezzi riots
strengthenéd this faction?B The Clergy Reserves controversy weakened
the Tories as well as the Hincksites and gave sufficient prominance te
the Brownites and the Clear Gritsegk' The Gawazzi riots, further, helped

Browh to the top of the Protestant front,95

91. The Leader - reporting Brown's speech at Chatham in Jan, 1853,
cited by the Globe,dan. 6, 1853,

92@ Ibide
93, Q@g@}g§§a Brown of the Globe, pp. 177-78,

9h. Moir, The Setilement of Clergy Reserves, C.H.R. vol. 3, 1956, pp. 56~9

950+ Qareless, ope Gite,pel76.
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The new strength of the radicals erzesouraged Brown to appeal to

the liberals and radicals to unite, forg<=tting all party ties, on a
wide programme of reforms,

"Liberal Frenchmen, liberal Co=uservatives,

liberal Reformers will all ral T1y under one

bamner and find no differences  sufficient to

divide them, 'be
The Rouges in Canada East were in princiezole for the separation of
curch and state and for republican and de=mocratic institutions@(;?

Brown was appealing to this element of tEme French Canadians., However,

Brown's main platform of representation Eoy population was too radical

| even for the Rouges., Thus the response ﬁ or Brown's appeal came only
from the Clear Grits, the followers of J w=S. Macdonald and thesindependent
reformers, Their programme could accomoclate orﬂ.;;;/h ’;rotestant British
population, In October, 1853 the Globe =nnounced the beginnihgs of a

98

reform combination,

Such poliﬁical currents were underm= mning the strength of the
Hincksite - Clear Grit combipation. In < une . 1854 all anti goverrment
forces in hoth Canada West and East uhit@d to defeat the ministry.
Amendments were introduced in the reply &=o the speech from the Throne

in a mamner that could rélly all shades «=f anti-government opinion

96, The Globe, May 1k, 1853,

97, Careless, Brown of the Globe, p. 18=3.

98, The Globe, Oct. 6, 1853,



against the ministry., The amendments expressed the dissatisfaction
of the House on the failure of the ministry to take action to setile
the Clergy Reserves and Seigneurial Tenure. The words !secularizatbion!
and ‘abolition!' were carefully avoided because of the differences in

- 99 - .
opinion on such reforms, The ministry was defeated by 42 to 29, Of
this number Canada East provided twenty and Canada West only nine, The
opposition vote included 18 Tories, nine radicals from Canade West and

' - 100 .. .
18 from Canada East, On June 22nd the ministry amounced a prorogation

with a view to a dissolution of the House,

(1]

The struggle for political combinations came to a climex with the
dissolutian of the House. Brown immediately summoned a meeting of
Canada West liberals and made a compact to oppose the ministry at the
elections. This was the begiﬁning of the new Reform group under Brown's

leadership,

The new and enlarged Hoﬁse (130 members) presented an interesting
party division, In Canada East the Blues obtained 35 seabs with 19
Rouges and Cauchonites and five independent British members., InFCanada
West ministerialists won 25 seats and the Tories, 26, Radical strength was

' 101
inereased to 1k, This division made it clear that the new ministry

9%, Journals of the Legislative Assembly, vol. 12, 1854, pp. 28=30
2 9

100. P.G, Cornell; The Allignment of Political Groups in the United
Province of Cansda 18540186k, C.H.R., vol, 30, 1949, p. 23

101@ zbi@_as Do Zée
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had to depend on a combination in Canada West, There was no possi-
bility of a new combination with the Clear Grits, The Clear CGrits had
formed a loose front with George Brown who had no faith in Hincks at

all. Hincks was anxious to see thai the radicals were out of the
ministry., He feared that Brown's Reform front would include even the
independent British members of‘Canada East, Therefore Hincks

abbempted to win over the independent members of Canada East by

pointing to the dangers of an alliance between the Rouges and the

radical Reformers of Canada West, This, Hincks pointed out, would destroy

102

the Union, It was only an imaginary fear because these two groups

had neither the strength'nor the mutval understanding to form a
ministry, Hincks' approach to Galt and Holton was in vain., Galt re-
fused to join because he was not ready to sacrifice his voluntarist
principles,lo3 Hincks! arguments went beyond a mere imaginary fear of

a radical alliance,

The fact is that you and Holton are urging the
absurd policy which Brown has long been at, of
separating ocurselves from L.C. majority and
forcing them into the Conservative camp. I have
always said that whether such a result came
about eventually or not, so long as there were
grealt issues on which the L.C. majority were
agreed with us, il would be actual madness to
bring about the crisis which is demandedo"lab

102, 0.D. Skelton, Life and Times of Sir A.T, Galt (Toronto, 1920), p. 187.

103, Ibid., p. 192

Z.Oz}a Ibid—e F] 100 ° Cj_t -3
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This was the characteristic Hincksite principle of providing the
majority that Canada East demanded and gettingtheir support for the
measures he thought were more important. Hincks was concerned with

the railway and commercial development, and any sympathy shown to

Clear Gritism wzzjggf the simple reason of obtaining their support in
building his majority., Thus Galt's insistence on voluntarist principles
was a mere closing of hié eyes to'the great advantages of keeping the

French majority satisfied. The dilemma of such a policy had already

been experienced in the disihtegration of the Reform party.

At the same time Brown was attempting to bring together the
different groups of Reformers in Canada West. He promoted J.S. Macdonald,
iailoﬁingfhimutoinakelthézleadershiplﬁnxairecpmstibutgd”Refoﬁn party,

"L congratulate you most heartily on the result

of the elections, Moreover yow ftailt will, I

imagine be much: longer in this parlisment than

it was in the last, From what I have heard, there

is no doubt of it, Many of the independent

Reformers look to you as a leader and if you take

your stand firmly and wisely and without delay -

the game is in your hando“lg5
Brown assured J.S. Macdonald that he had no ambition of becoming the
leader of the group. The Clear Grits were even hopeful of an alliance

with the Rouges, "It is clear thav the patural allies of the Reformers

. 106
of Upper Canada are the Rouges (so called).% Although there was

105, Alexander Mackenzie Papers. (P.A.C.), Brown to J.S., Macdonald,

106, Mackenzie Lindsey Papers. (0.P.h.), We Spink to Mackenzie, Nov,
18, 185, cited by Careless, Brown of the Globe, p. 191.
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similarity in their principles a working arrangement between them was

almost impossible,

The test of strength came with the election of a speaker. The
ministerial candidate,- Cartier,- was defeated by 59 to 62. Hincks
out-manoeuvred Brown's plan by supporting Sicotte,m the Rouge candidate
- against J.S. Macdonald, The final defeat of the ministry came two
days later on a diéputed election in Canada East. In Canada East the
majority of ?Blaus"remained intact but in Canada West the margin of
the oppositiéﬁ majdrity was sufficientlyvlarge to place the ministry
in a minority in the whole House. The ministry had no alternative but
‘to resign in a body, This Was the end of Hincks'! struggle to maintain
a majority for his half of the cabinet, 'His nexﬁ mo&e was the shaping
of an_entirély new‘combination for the same purpose of assuring a

majority in Canada West.

In 1852 the ministerial organ of Canada Bast - Le Canadien -

announced

"The 'idea has been long since .abandoned by us of
seeking to form indissoluble alliances, offensive
and defensive in Upper Canada.

Our position, it is known for years past has
been this: The govermnment of Lower Canada by the
Lower Canadian majority. The government of Upper
Canada by the Upper Canadiasn majority. This is
an anomaly in govermment we are aware we did nob
originate the incogruity, but those who united
under ene govermment, two people professing laws,
manners, customs, religion and social conditions,
altogether different,"lgﬁ

107, Le Canadien, cited by the Globe, Mar, 20, 1852,
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The determinism:: involved in this anomalons political system was
admitted by Hincks in his resignation speech.
"eeo the administration was defeated on the
speakership by a majority of 12 from Upper
Canada. Honourable members who understand the
position of public men, will believe that this
wag a cause of very much embarassment to me in
the position that I occupied. In endeavouring
to sustain my honourable colleague (Mr, Morin)
I expected to be able to bring to his support
the confidence of a majority of the represent-
~atives of that portion of the Province to
which I more particularly belong, so as to
enable us conjointly to carry on the Govermment.
The vote on the speakership plainly indicated
that 1 should not be able to do that." j08

Accordingly, the Tories who obtained the highest number of seats formed
the basis for 2 new combination, MNineteen of the 25 ministerialists
followed Hincks in combining with the Tories to form the majority for
Canada West. Thus double majority was achieved by a reconciliation
between factions which had been traditionally hostile to each other and
bxfbompromise of programmes which & :few months before would have been

unthinkable,

Cabinet instability during the period of the last two ministries
was mainly-a-result of the growth of radicalism in Canada West.
Padicalism grew out of deep rooted and long standing grievances. it

was, however, the political duality established under the Union that

108, Hincks, Reminiscences, pp. 326=27.
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strengthened and popularized the radical movement, The Great Ministry
embodied the hbpe of reform, but the conflict arising from the dual
respon8ibility of the cabinet drove the radical elements out of the
ministry. Frustration of radical opinion inside the ministry stren-
gthened its voice outside., By the end of the Third Parliament
radicalism could force Baldwin out of the miniétry, Hincks%combination
with}%iear Grits revived the hope of reform, The difficulty of accomo-
dating their prineciples with those of the French Canadians in the
cabinet contributed greatly to the break up of the Hincks - Morin
ministry. Repeated disappointments were shaping thé radicals into a
new Reform party and with a change of emphasis in their programme,
While the Tory - Conservatives were reconciling to the political system
established during the past five years, the new Reformers were beginning
to threaten the system which they themselves had helped to build. The
frustration experienced under the double cabinet and double majority

system strengthened the cry for representation by population as the

‘solution for the existing deadlock,
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CHAPTER TII

THE TORY-CONSERVATIVE SUBMISSION

The emergence of a third political group in Canada West had made
the double mejority a difficult condition to be fulfilled, No siﬁgle
group could obtain an overall majority¢- Thus coalitions became an
unavoidable feature in the Canada West section of the cabinet. The
election of 1854 weakened the ministerial party and left the Tory-
Conservative party as the largest single group, This made a new
coalition of Canada West parties necessary in order to obtain a majority.
The same problem that faced Hincks in September, 1851 faced Sir Allan
MacNab in September 1854.

#Sir Allan and Mr. Macdonald are very san ulne

of securing a parliamentary majority and

doubtless they will go so long as supported by

Hinckso"l
In spite of his radical principles Brown himself expected to be invited
by MzelNab to assist in forming & new cabinet .2 However, Hincks and
Morin had discussed the terms of & new combination before MacNab
approached Morin for the indispensable support of the French Canadian

3

majority,” Two Hincksites, Ross and Spence,were to be admitted into

1. Toronto Patriot, cited by the Globe Sept. 19, 1854,

2. Sir Joseph Pope, Memoirs of Sir John A, Macdonald, (Toronto, 1930L,p3131

3. The Globe, Sept. 19, 1854k,
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the cabinet as "a guarantee for the measures before the House,"

The 185k election returned a largze number of members pledged for
the outstanding reforms of the two provinces, Galt!s main argument
against the combination of Tory-Conservatives and Hincksites was that
nearly four-fifths of the House were pledged for the secularization
of Clergy Reserves and abolition of Seigneurial Tenure. Thus there
was no necessity for such a combination, The TorV»ConserVative‘party
was opposed to secularization of Clergy Reserves,5 The general opinion
of the House, except for the strong radicals like Brown, Rolph and
J.5. Macdonald, was that the nature of the political combination was less
important than the reform measures that the country needed., Thus a fair
number of members from both sections of the House openly declared that
they would support any combination pledged to settle the major problems,
Loranger declared, “there is no change in the measures or principles,
only in the persomel of the Upper Canada section of the ministry., The
‘Lower Canada section remains the same,“é'rhe same indifference to the
traditional party division was expressed by Hartman, Marchildon,

7

Southwick, Loranger, Pouliot, Prevost and Langton,

This trend of thought, that political parties in themselves were

e Hincks to Macleb, ¢¥4ed by thé Globe, Sept, 12, 185k.

5. Debates of the Legislative Assembly (Microfilm), Septe 13, 1854,

6. Ibid.

7. Jbide,Sept. 11, and 13, 185L,
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impotent in the face of sectional differvences was the underlying factor
that helped te forge the French and the conservative elements into a
close alliance, The Tory-Conservative group was not only forced to
adopt a policy less rigid, bubt were also forced to submit to the poli-
tical system that had developed under the earlier ministries, The
cabinet was the instrument in bringing sbout this reconciliation of the
Tories and the Consefvatives to the exiéting political reality. They
were forced to abandon the racial policies they advocated Before,Ato
accept the double cabinét and double majority system and even to submit

to the ascendancy of the French Canadian section in the cabinet.

Morin remarked, "the honourable gallant knight was activated by
the spirit of purest patriotism in bending before the expressed will
of the ceuntry.“g There was no doubt that the Tory stalwart had sub-
mitted to the political reality and agreed to enter into an equal
partnership of power with the French Canadians, For the radicals this
was ",,, the most infamous and unparalleled apostasy... ."9

#5iy Allan MacNab, the hero of Navy Island and
My, Augustine Norbert Morin - the still more
famous aubthor of the 92 RegblubionsSicce o

ees could these men possibly have united ;.-
in the honest hope of earrying out the distine

tive principles and measures which each stood
pledged before the countny,“le

8@ Ibid.og Sept’o ]—lg 185&'0
9. Ibid., Dr. Rolph's speech.

10. The Globe, Sept. 19, 185k
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In the new cabinet the Canada Fast section remained as before.

MORIN - Commissioner of Crown Lands
TACHE - Receiver General

CHAUVEAU - Provinecial Secretary

CHAROT - Commissioner of Public Works
DRUMMOND - Attorney General

In Canada West the division in the cabinet was much greater than ever

before,

MACHNAB - President of the Executive Council.
CAYLEY - Inspector General

MACDONALD - Attorney General

ROSS - Speaker of the Legislative Council.
SPENCE - _ Postmaster -General

The 'old Tory blood! in MacNab was a burden in the cabinet, "You say truly

11 il was Macdonaldls

that we are a good &eal hempered with fold blood!,"
view of MacNab%,presence in the cabineﬁ. Ross, a close disciple of
Baldwin,rarely agreed with MacNab, However their railway interests
provided a common ground in the cabinet, Broadly the Canada West section
of the cabinet was divided into three groups on party principles, MaclNab

was still attached to old Tory loyalties, while Macdonald and Cayley

followed a more progressive policy. Ross and Spence were bound by the

1l, Pope, John A, Macdonald, p. 107, Macdonald to Captain Strachaen,
Feb, 9, 165k
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policies of the Hincksite following in the House. Thus cabinet cohesion
was a lesser possibility, Under Baldwin and Lafontaine the cabinet
showed considerable unity on a bi-sectional basis. After 1851 Hincks
had to tolerate representatives of a different political group in his
section of the cabinet, Under MacNab the division was greater. While
ﬁhe Canada East section of the cabinet could maintain the same unity

and relative stability, in Canada West the division was becoming numerous.,
Thus stability could be mainbained not :-byrdngisting -+ on a united and
definite policy but by giving greater latitude to the different opinions.
Furthermore: fundamental issues on which agreement was difficult had to

- be avoided,

The principle of a double cabinet was accepted by the Tory-Conser-

vative members in the cabinet, Duality was unavoidable. Not only the
' but
duality,/even the minor divisions in the cabinet were accepted and

continued, Macdonald in 1858 gave careful consideration to the convens -

tions laid down during the earlier ministries.

"Macdonald knew the complicated rules well. And
Cartier was always willing to expound them in
. his vigourous staccato style. Apart from the
Solicitor General who was not formally a member
of the eabinet there had to be in every self
respecting administration two members from the
district of Quebee and three from the district
of Montreal, one of these must be a 'British!
not a French Canadiane”lz :

12, Creighton, Macdonald, The Young Politician, p. 288,
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Although at cabinet level the Tory and Conservative ministers had
submitted to the principles of equality in power and influence for the
two sections of the province, the conversion of the rank and file was
still a problem. John A. Macdonald becamebthe advocate of the new
principles of partnership in power. He hadjzze acknowledged leader of
the Conservative faction of the Tory party since 1847. The Conserva=
tives urged a moderate policy in order to prevent the French Canadians
from falling completely into the camp of the radicals in Canada West.,
However the annexationist and Orangist movements were closely associ-
zbed with the Conservative faction of the Tory party. Although there
was a mellowing of their attitude towards the French, the aim of
British ascendancy and the %§§imilationkpolicyv%re never openly
‘gbandoned. Even after lSh???§bar they exhibited their most violent anti-

French feeling, the Tories and the Conservatives continued to accuse

the Reformers of submission to French domination. The Union of the

two provinces was for the ascendancy of the British population andthey had

been supporting the movement for represehtation by population.

It was the gradual abandomment of this poliey by the Tory-Conserva-
tive party that sﬁrengthened the alliance between the French 'Bleus! and
the Conservatives. This change in the attitude of the Conservatives
had to be imposed from sbove. Macdonald was the prophet of this policy,
and constantly reminded the rank and f£ile of the need to respeet the
position of the French Canadians, This was especially difficult because
of the Tory-Conservative element in Canada East which felt the French

ascendancy directly. Once the Tory-Congervative elements entered the
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cabinet they realized the strength of the French section = gradually

submitied ©o the sameldomination' they had been condemning..

Before the alliance was formed Macdonald himself had been appeal-

ing to the British population against French domination.

¥Between the great mass of the Reformers:in Upper
Canada and this largest or liberal section of the
Conservatives there is little difference of
opinion, Not one great principle divides them,
Nothing but all recollections of antagonism and 2
reluctance to yield up the Reserves... prevents
them from working cordially together. When they
unite ..., French Ganadia@supremacy will be at an

end,”
13

During these early days of his career Macdonald did not adhere to any';v"
political principle. His success depended on his political tactics
rather than on any principles. While he was appealing for an all
British party against French supremacy he was expecting to join the
French Canadians to form an administration.

",.. there must be a change of ministry after

the election and from my friendly relations

with the French I am inclined to believe my

‘assistance will be sought,"lb
However, after forming a cabinet with the French Canadians his endeavour

was to convince the diehard Tories and suspicious Conservatives that

13. The Globe, Feb, 27, 1854,

14, Maedonald Eagers,'{P;Aeg;g} Macdonald to Strachan, Feb., 9, 1854,

a ‘/;‘@
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15 .
the assimilation idea was impracticable, Party commitments com-

pelled him to publicly defend the rights of the French against the

o

hopes of British ascendancy. Writing about the' British population in

Canada Bast to Brown. Chamberlain of the Montreal Gagette, Macdonald

maintained;

"You struggle not for equality but for

ascendancy, .... you have not the honesty to

adnit it, You can't and won't admit the

prineiple that the majority must govern. The
Gallicans may fairly be reckoned as two thirds
against one third of all other races, who are
lumped together as Anglo-Saxons, The only
remedies are in migration,and copulation of

these will work wonders. The laws are gener-
ally administered to the British as the French@"lé

Thus Maecdonald recognized the double majority and the division of ﬁﬁe
Province on the former boundaries, In essence it meant’ that Macdonald
abandoned the original purpose of the Union. Furthemore Macdonald

defended the cultural identity of the French pebplee

"No map in his senses can suppose thab this
countr% or a century come:bo be governed by a
totally unfrenchified govermment. If a Lower
Canadian British desires to conquer he must
'stoop to conguert!. He must make friends with
the French without sacrificing the status of
his race or language, he must respect their
nationality... . Call them a faction and they
become :. factious. Supposing the numerical

15, Creighton, J.A. Macdonald, p. 225.

16, Brown Chamberlain Papers, vol. 2, Macdonald to Chamberlain,

11111

Jane. 2L, 1856, cited by Creighton, op. ¢it., p. 227,
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preponderance of British in Canada beconmes much”

greater than it is, I think the French would give

more trouble than they are sald now to do... ,

from a sense of self preservation they will act

as one man and hold the balance of powereeces I

doubt much however if the Freneh will lose their

numerical majority in L.C. in a hurry eee , I am

inelined to think they will hold their own for

many days yet,.!

17
Thus Macdonald had reversed the Tory - Conservative policy. He not
only recognized the existing political duality as unavoidable but also
himself '

showed his willingness to reconcile/to the bargaining position of the
French., It was this new abtitude towards the French that strengthened
the Conservative alliance with the French. The Tory-Conservative
party not only had to bow down to the opinion in Canada West but was
alsc forced to abandon the ideas of British supremacy. The natural
conservatism of the French Canadian 'Bleus! and the Conservatives was
insufficient to bind them together iﬁ a lasting alliance unless the
Conservatives recognized the position and influence of the French
Canadian people, The alliance was further strengthened by the growing
popularity of the radical movement in both sections of the Province,
Brown's cry for representation by population threatened the influential

position held by the French, and the Conservabtives in their defence of

the existing situation strengthened their claim for "h: French support,

On February 26, 1856 Brown embarassed the Conservatives by a

17. Ibid.
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powerful attack on the "betrayel of their prineiples.” This provoked
Macdonald to a violent outburst of personal animosity against Brown.,+8
It was during the very first session of the new parliament that Edmund
Murney; - the Loyalist member from Hastings - accused the Conservatives of
sacrificing their principles for power and holding office "at the mere
whim of those to whom they had been opposed all their lives."? He
expressed hisvdisgust at such unprincipled behaviour of the Conservatives

. . . . 2
and desired resignation of his seat, 0

The new cabinet had undertaken to settle the Clergy Reserves and
Seigneurial Tenure questions and to make the Legislative Council
elective, The Tories and Conservatives had always opposed the principle

hag
of secularization. HacNab admitted in the House that he/opposed secular-
21
ization for twenty five years, Macdonald in September 1852 appealed to
‘ the
the French Canadians to use their power to end/agitabtion of the radicals
for secularization, He declared that no French Canadian should Ylend
his influence and support te a party who were seecking to destroy all
ecclesiastical institulions, who would never rest until they tore down

. . . . 22
every church establishment in British American.® However the

Conservatives realized that the rigid opposition on this issue was

18, OCreighton, 0ps.cil., Phsy 228220, i

iy

19, Debates of the Legislative Assembly (Microfilm), Sept. 11, 185kL.

20, Ibid.

21, ;Egg,ySept, 13, 1854,

22, The Patriot, Sept. 24, 1852, cited by Creighton, op. cits, Pp. 186-187,
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strengthening the radical elements in Canada West. Yet they were
unwilling to accept secularization., They therefore proposed the idea

ol denominational division of Clergy Reserve funds, Before the 1854
election, at a party caucus, Badgey and Sherwbod urged the adoption of the
secularization principle, MacNab was adamant on the old policy but
expressed a willingness to Ybow down to the voice of the country" when the
need arose,ZB When the elections showed that the majority of the
electorate favoured secularization, the Tory-Conservative group could
conveniently accept it in principle, However, some of the Téry news=

papers continued to hold fast to the old policy. The Hamilton Gazette

warned Morin not to undertake secularization.<4 The Catholic press

was indignant and tried to maintain that

Bithen Mr, Morin announced that secularization of
reserves in a popular sense he did not intend it
to be carried out according to Hincks ideas of
justice or equity. The political programme
announced by the present ministry embraces "ithe
Reciprocity Treaty", "the remodelling of the
Legislative Council", "The Clergy Reserves", "The
Seigneurial Tenure! and ... the amendment of Mr,

Ryerson's handiwork = the separate schools bill «@"25

23. The Montreal Gagzette, July 19, 1854, cited by Creighton, op. cit.,
PPe 204-05,

2L, Hamilbton Gazette, cited by the Globe, Sept, 22, 185L.

25, The Globe, Sept. 22, 185h.
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The Canada East section of the cabinet remained unchanged. Morin

1 and Tache personally presented no opposition for the secuwlarization of

Clergy Reserves, They were zlarmed by the strengthening of the Rouges

in Canada East. The main platform of the Eouges was the fallure to
abolish Seigneurial Tenure., Thus the French Canadian ministers were
willing to give their supportrfbr Clergy Reserves secularization in

return for the abolitién of Seigneurial Tenure., The:Hincks=Moriniministry
had pledgggﬁfifsettle the Clergy Reserves question in an enlarged House,

Therefore the Canada East section of the cabinet undertook to support a

settlement,

Before the end of 1854 bills were introduced for secularization of
Clergy Reserves and the abolition of Seigneurial Tenure. An amendment
was introduced by a powerful Orangemen,- J.H, Cameron - to Macdonald's
bill for secularization. It intended to save a large portion of Clergy

2
Reserves funds for the church. Cameron
trepresented the old itraditioniof concern for
Upper Canada Protestantism and Upper Canadian
sectional interests, which the old Tories had

cherished in the past and which they had never
yet distinctly repudiated@"27

26. Creighton, ops cits, Pp. 211w212

27, Ibid, pe 213.
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The declaration of cabinet policy o©on secularization did not convert
the rank and file of the old Tories, They had to be gradually tamed

by the use of the French Canadain majority.

What actuall& threatened the bill was i@ elause III which, while
admitting the need to separate thechurch and state provided that
commutation be paid to the incumbents. For the radicals this waé the
antithesid: of sécularizationoz8 On this clause the radicals in Canada
West made.a determined effort to defeat the ministry in Canada West.
ihe ministry itself required a frantic effort to avoid defeat. The

29

radicals failed in their object only by four votes,

¢ i
Seigneurial Tenure was Ygranted for Canads East as a quid pro quo
for settling the Clergy Reserves,"3¥ As in the case of Clergy Reserves

the Tory=-Conservative members of the cabinet had to abandon their

former policy. Macdonald himself in April 1853 had:introduced:dn.amendment

against the use of Canada West funds to compensate Canada East seigneurs.

#That it is ‘inexpedient and unjust to the tax

payer of Canada to appropriate any portion of the
Territorial revenues of the Province te the pay-
ment of indemnity to be awarded to the seigneurs
of Lower Canada in as much as the proposed legis-
lation under the bill as nowfremed is of local

interest only, and such indemnity should be paid

by the parties immediately benefitted by thase.“Bl

28, Moir. Secularization of Clergzy Reserves, C.HoR. vol. 37,1956, p. 53.

29, The Globe, Mar. 1k, 1855,

30, Moir, Church and State in Canada West, p. 77.

Bla The GlObe, Jano 22, 18556
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The same amendment was moved by W.L. Mackenzie_on November 16, 1854,

The Conservatives who voted for Macdonald's amendment in April 27, 1853
voted against Mackenziels ameﬁdmentQBZ The objection to the seigneurial
tenure bill on the part.of the Canada West members was due to the use of
Canada West revenue for the payment of seigneurs in Canada Bast, Brown
opposed the bill because it "robbed the farmers of Upper Canadarfof the
benefit of theééﬁsitainesof-Lower Canadae"33 The least opvosition was
"shown on the reforms in the Legislative Council. It was passed in the
House by 80 to A,Bk Various groups voted for the bill on different

grounds,

The duality inside the cabinét was sﬁrictly maintained throughout the
past six.yearsg In August.185l Hincks forced the resignation of Lafontaine
by the entire resignation of the Canada West section of the cabinet, In
September 1854 MacNab,who was the legal head of the administration,had to
accept en bloc the existing Canada East section of the cabineit. MacNab
only reconstructéd the Canada West section of the cabinet, In February.
1855 Morin,who had been waiting for a seat in the Bench,decided to retire,
This meant’ the resignation of the acknowledged premier of the Canada East
section of the cabinet. The newspapers of the time always referred to

two premiers following in the tradition of the Lafontaine-Baldwin cabinet,

32, Ibid.
33. Ibid.

3k. Journals.of theLegislative Assembly;.vol::12;.185h, p. 766,




Macliab decided to fill the vacency created by Horin by promoting Taché
to the vacant premiership., However, this was contrary to the secticnal
loyalty and responsibility of the cabinet. On February 3 1855 Maclab
announced in the Houses

"His Morin's retirement in the opinion of the

Receiver General Tache and other members from

Lower Canada involved the dissolution of that

section of the administration, and the membeps

thereof placed thelir resignation in my hands

with the authority to make such use of them as T

might think proper in the reconstruction in the
Lower Canada portion of the cabinst.?

35
This was a very clear indication of the cabinel conventions of the time.
There was a definite legal head of the administration, Lafontaine,
Hincks and MacNab were the legal heads in the three ministries since
1848, The two ssctions in the cabinet existed as exira-legal develop-
ments, The double premiership and double ministries were the visible
expressions of this duality in the cabinet. While the double ministries
like the two Attorneys Géﬂeral possessed legal basis the double

premiership was extra-legal,

Under the reconstructed Canada East section of the cabinet Taché
became the leader., Cauchon, Cartier and Lemieux replacea Morin, Chabotb
and Chaveau, The most significant change is in the inclusion of
Cartier who combined his strong loyalties to the French Canadian popu~
lation with the economic interests of the Province as a whole., Soon

.

he was destined to enter into a partnership with J.A., Macdonald., This

35. The Globe, Feb, 2k, 1855,
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combination rivalled the achievements of the great. Lafontaine-Baldwin

combination.

However what dinterested the radicals in Canads West in the new
cabinet reconstruction was the accession of Cauchon. His conservatism

and ultra-nationalist stand was too well known in Canada West,

"Mr, Cauchon will be the master mind of the French
Canada section of the cabinet and there is no
doubt as to the path he will follow,"36

The Globe also feared a conspiracy to establish a completely conserva-
tive ecabinet,

"Mary honest Reformers were disposed to repose a
Aittle confidence in the coalition because they
considered that while such men as messers Morin,
Chabot and Chauveau were in it some regard would
be paid to reform privileges; but now the
political cards have changed; the. ghostly liberal-
ism of the cabinet and the grasping spirit of
Toryism embodied in the coalition have had a com~
pact of scme descripiion...." ‘

The fears of the radicals were not without sufficient reasons. Cauchon
" was the most outspoken critic of the presence of Clear Grits in the
Hincks - Morin ministry. He welcomed the Tory-French combination under
MacNab and Morin and even declared that there had never been a cordial

38

alliance between the French and the Canada West Liberals.

36@ ?_k_l“e G’lqbﬁ; Ja\rle 29} 18559

37. Ibid,,Feb, 7, 1855,

38, Debates of the Legislative Assembly (microfilm), Sept. 13, 1854
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The more important reason was that Cauchon was rallying a considerable
following arcund him in Quebec and in order’ﬁo obtain sufficient
support for Quebec Cauchon had to be given a place in the cabinet. It
was essentially a concession to the more nationdl-minded Freneh rather
than to conservatismvin Canada East,

The settlement of the Clergy Reserves question did not end the
radical agitation in Canada wést?ﬁiaepa?ate schools question had been
a perehnial cause of conflict between the Catholic and Protestant
sections of the population., This guestion had always provided the
reason for the eries of ‘French domination® and ‘priestly rule'., The

Tories and the Conservatives used these cries as often as did the.Glear

Grits in condemning the earlier ministries,

In May 1855 the Tach& Act renewed cries of French domination.
Macdonald introduced in the Assembly a Separate Schools bill which had
earlier been introduced in the Legislative Council by Ta.chée39 Bishop
Charbonnel had been exerting great pressure on the ministry for further
concessions for Catholic education in,Canada'Westehe The new bill
intended to give the right of request for separate schbols to ten

persons whe thereby could claim ./ public funds for such purposesehl

39, Careless, Brown of the Globe. p, 203.

L0, Walker, Catholic Education and Politics, p. 153-170 cited by
Careless, loc. git.

41, Careless,loc.cit,
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Thev?ill was introduced on May 21, and the second reading was
moved fo;jgz, The end of the session was carefully chosen for the
introduction of the bill so as to avoid the opposition of mést of
the Canada West members. Only twenty five to thirty members from
Canada West were left@hz Brown appealed against this injustiece.

However, the bill was passed with a majority of the Canada West members

4
present voting against it,”B

Macdonald defended the bill on the rights of Roman Catholics to
educate their children according to their own principles. However, the
tactics adopted to avold eppositicn were sufficient o expose the fuin-

charges
istry to/of French and priestly domination. The Catholic Citizen in

September 1854 announced,

", .0 the School bill will be placed on such &
footing as to prevent that Machiavel of Methodists,
the chief superintendent of Education from again
dipping his tail or whiskers into the system of
Separate Schoolso"hh

" The Tathé act clearly indicated that Macdonald and his colleagues hag
submitted to the strength of the French section of the cabinet,
Never had the fact of Lower Canadian domination

French Catholic power seemed moré obvious, Things
were no better. They were worse under the coalition

42, The Globe, June 6, 1855,

43, Ibid,
Lh. The Catholic Citizen, cited by the Globe,Sept. 22, 1854,
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and the shift in parties. Never before had the
existing provincial union looked so unsatisfactory
to aggrieved Upper Canadianseﬂks

In January 1856 Bishop Charbonnel issued a declaration that the Roman

Catholics in Canada who did not use their votes on behalf of Separate Schools

6
were gulliy of mortal sinqh If there was any truth in the cry of

tpriestly rule! before it was no less true under the present combina-
tion. The sigﬁificant fact was that the Tory-=Conservative group that
never failed to censor the earlier ministries on such grounds had sub-
mitted to the uvnavoidable consequences of the political duality. As
long as the French section of the House remained a solid group with the
control of half the administration there was no possibility of avoiding
their dominant position in the govermment, In the cabinet the French
formed a strong united fromt which could not be thwarbed wiﬁhout
expecting disastrous consequences., The ministry existed on the partic-
ipation of the majority of the French and the danger of a break up was
ever present. The Tory-Conservative group was:foérced: to submit:to a

situation which they never approved of,before they entered the alliance.

In February 1856 the cabinet faced another crisis, The agitation

over the Corrigan murder trialk7 created tension in the cé,bineta The

L5, Carekess, Brown of the Globe, p. 204.

b6, Ibid, p. 214

L7, Seven Irish Roman Catholics were accused of the murder of Edward
Corrigan, a Protestant at Quebec. The evidence showed that the
victim had identified the chief assailent. The Irish-French
jury and the French Canadian judge returned a verdict of net guilty.
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Hineksite group in the Assembly was dismayed by the new evidence of
French domination. On the other hand}iiz Toryism was still strong

in the administration. The anti-French feelings of the Tory element
were trying to assegﬁlég;ength in thé administration. The ultra
conservative organ,- the Leader announced én Februarj 26. 1856 that a
meeting of the Tories was held under J.H. Cameron to discuss the
governmengé education policy,48 This was regarded as an indication of
an attempt to bulld a separdte Tory party on the old intransigent
prin.c:ip].eselé'9 MacNab had been the nominal leader of the cabinet. His
i1l health kept him away from a@tivg politics, However, his former
principles were never completely abandoned. There was evidence of his
attempts to inspire the movement of the wltras against the 'Francophile!
goverament of which he himself was the heade5o J.H. Cameron,the leader
of this movement,; took advantage of the Corrigan murder trial agitation
to embarass the govermment., He introduced a resolution requesting the
Governor General to submit the report of the judge in the Corrvigan case.
The vote went 48 to k) against the govermnment with only two votes, ;;i
besides those of the ministers themselves, from Canada West,El This

support
was another example of resolutions which weré designed to obtaini the/of all

op.citsn
48, The Leader, Feb, 26, 1856, eited by Creighton, p. 231.
s A

49, Careless, Brown of the Globe, p. 215,

50, Creighton op.' gif., p. 231.

51, Ibid, 232.
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types of opinion in the Assembly. On this resolubtion the appeal was
for the Protestants against Catholic domination, Thus it was not
difficult to obtain a majority against the govermment in Canada West,
The absence of well organized and disciplined parties made it diffiecult
ﬁo maintain a stable backing in the House for the ministry. On issues
pertaining to sectional interests the ministry could not take a
definite stand because of sectional composition of the cabinet, On the
Corrigan case the Canada West section of the cabinet could not challenge
the Canada East section to submit to popular demand in Canada West,
While the cabinet was forced to remain undecided its supporters tended
to desert the government camp, This feature in Canadién Cabinet govern-
ment was present from the very beginning;but was not sufficiently

prominent until the end of the Hincks - Morin ministry.

In the case of Cameron's resolution the supporters of the Canads
West section of the ministrj almosf completely went over to the opposit-
ion., The vole was important because 1t éxpréssed sectional feeling.

The embarassment that the defealt created in the cabinet compelled
Macdonald to announce that the Canada West section of the cabinet would
resign if the resolution was not rescinded. However the cabinet had
found a new refuge in votes of confidence. Immediately after the defeat

a vote of confidence was moved in order to mllify the effects of the

52 . -
defeat on Cameron's resolution. On this vole of confidence the ministry

52. Careless, Brown of the Globe, pp. 219-20,
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won by 75 to 42, The ministry then advised the Governor General not
to comply with the request to submit the report of the Corrigan case

Judgement

This inecident provided the opportunity for the two Hincksite
Liberals in the cabinet to urge a2 reconstruction of the cabinet. Their
particular grievance was the presence of the Tery dead weight at the
| head of the winistry. They argued that the Liberal following could
not be maintained unless MacNab were removed from the cabinet, Hoss
gave the lead in the campaign against MacNab by resigning in April
1856,53 A struggle to oust MacNab and reconstruct the ministry on a
more liberal basis had been going on behind the scenes for some timGQSA
MacNab had become » mere dead weight in the cabinet. The old ambi~
French Toryism was kept alive by his presence in the govermment, The
French Canadians were undoubtedly glad to throw him out. Macdonald
himself had been aiming at the leadership of the party for some time.
Thus the desire to oust MacNab . from the cabinet came from all sides.
However. MacNab tried to linger on even though he was losing support

in his own party. It was evident that only by sacrificing the old

knight eould the ministry survive, ' .

53, Dent, The Last Forty Years, vol. 2, 334.

5ke Careless, Brown of the Globe, p. 220.




Maecdonald had found the answer to the problem that the Tories had
been trying to solve since the 1837-38 Rebellion., Fe had submitted to the
reality of the existence of two distinet racial and cultural groups under
a united system of govermment. Toleration of the duality was the answer,
"True you suffer occasionally from a Gavazzi riot or so, but in the first

place you Anglo-Saxons are nob bad hands ab a riot yourselveS.e. o"09

It was this policy of tolerance and submission to ﬁhe french Canadian
influence where ever necessary that strengthened the alliance. Such a
policy was incompatible with the old Tory spirite On the seat of govern=
ment question Macdonald wrote to his mother: %The French will, I think
be too strong for ué‘and we must submit to going to Lower Canada@,a”56
Macdonald struggled against the French Canadian united front which demended
the seat of govermment permanently in Canada East. He voted against the
motion to make Quebec the ¢apital after 1859 but it was passed in the
Assemblye57 The seat of pgovermment had always‘been an open question,

No cabinet could take a definite stand on it, As a consequence of the
decision to establish the seat of govermment in Quebec after 1859 the
ministry attemplted to provide funds for construction work to shtart in
Quebec, On this question Pepin moved an amendment exposing the lack of

confidence in the govermuent on the way the seat of government question
&

55, Brown Chamberlain Papers, vol. 2, Macdonald to Chamberlain, Aug. 7,
1855, cited by Creighton, op, cit., p. 226,

56, Macdonald Papers (F.A.C.), Macdonald to his mother, Mar. 17, 1856,

57, Crelghton, op, cit., pP. 235,
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was handled. This was defeated by 70 to 43 in favour of the govermment,
yet. in Canada West the ministry was in a minority. This brought to a
climax the struggle to reconstruct the ministry on a more liberal basis,

o8 expressed

The two Hincksites in the cabinet -~ Spence and Morrison -
iheir desire to resign on the grounds that the Hincksite reformers in

the Assembly were refusing to support the ministry. Macdonald and

Cayley made use of the opportunity to submit their resignations too 5 in
a bloc, so as to force MacNab to resign. This was possible because a
large section of the Gonéerv&tive following in the Assembly had

their co-operation for a reconstruction of the cabinet under Conservative
leadership in Canada %*Iest,59 It was purely a sectional cabinel crisis
and did not concern the Canada East section of the cabinet directly,

The resignation of four ministers could force the leader out of the
cabinet because of the sectional division in the cabinet. MacNab was
left alone in Canada West, Besides,MacNab could not obtain a majority
without the support of the four ministers who had resigned. The occasion
itself was the loss of a majority in Canada West on the seat of
govermment question., The Governor Genersl was in strong disapproval of

the policy adopted by Macdonald and the other ministers. He peinted to

the principle involved in their resignation.

58, HMorrison had replaced Ross in April 1856, He was a disciple of
Baldwin and encountered considerable opposition from the old
Heform group in the House against his entry into the cabinst,

59, Creighton, epeicite, Pei238s . » i
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fAs a matter of course I could not compel the

gentlemen to remain in office who insisted in re-

signing - I gave time for consideration and urged

the pernicious character of the prineiple involved

in such a step. The gentlemen in question, messers

Macdonald, Spence and Morrison did not defend the

principle but they could not be brought to defend a

different view of the course to be perceived. They

stated practically their supporters were falling

off from day to day and if they remained it was only

to be defeated immediately on some subsequent

questiono“éo
Although the Governor General used "his influence on the ministers to
disavow the double majority principle he was aware of the strength of
the argument in favour of the need for a majority in Canada West. It
was simple to disavow and condemn the prineciple but to repudiate it
in its practical application was impossible., A ministry could sustain:
an occasional defeat in one section of the province with a diminished
prestige, but to continue in power without the backing of a majority

in each province was inconceivable,

Neither:Sir Edmund Head: nor MacNab. attempted b 111 "the vacant
places in the cabinel in order to continue the administration.  The
ministry as a whole enjoyed a majority of twenbty te twenty»threeveven
“on difficult questions like that of the seat of govermment, Thus there
was no constitutional obstacle in the way of the ministzksattempting
to continue in power. Yet on the practice of the past few years no
such govérnment could be tolerated im Canada West and the French would

not join in a partnership without ' majority support in Canada West,

60, C.0, 42, (P.A.C.), vol. 604. Head to Laboucere, May, 26, 1856,
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Therefore, "to fill up these places in the present condition of things

61

was in my opinion impossible."; wrote Sir Edmund Head,

MacNab had, as the constitubional head of the ministry, no alterna-
tive other than to submit the resignation of the rest of the cabinet.
Thus a few ministers could force the resignation of the whole cabinet

essentially because of the double majority requirement.

1Sir Allan MacNab and the remainder of the Council
though not recognizing a sectional majority as a
sufficient reason for a change of government had
no alternative but to place the offices they now
hold at His Excellency's disposale"é2

Sir Edmund Head explained to Labouchere,- the Colonial Secretary, - the  i-
difficulties arising out of the conflict between the constitutional
theory of parliamentary govermment and the conventions that had developed

out of the peculiar conditions in Canada,

"You will observe Sir that my position was em-
barassing for two facts,
1lst that there had been no ministerial defeat.
Consequently no other party could claim to be
‘sent for as possessing the confidence of the House,
2nd that the peculiar state of, public affairs
with the estimates half voted, necessarily must
make me reluctant to dissolve parliament until the
business was got through°"63

6l. Ibid.

62. E Series (P.A.C.), 1856 pp. 294=95, Sir Edmund's Memorandum to the
Executive Council.May 22, 1856, ;

639 ceOaaﬁg’ (?QAQC;}§ 10@@ 2%6
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The Governor condemned the principle of double majority in the same

tone as .

was done by Baldwin in 1845,

fHis Excellency further expresses his conviction
that he has no alternative but to look upon the
present movement as a virtual dissolution of the
existing administration. His Excellency does not
by this admit or sanction in any way the doctrine
of a double or sectional majority as necessary
for a government in Canada. On the contrary that

it is a doetrine at once irrational and uvnconstitu-.

tional and if carried out might involve the conse-
quence of a ministry being obliged to resign
although the party by whom they had been defeated
did not and could not possess the confidence of the
Legislative Assembly,"éh

The constitutional anomaly involved in the double majority was

_never fully discussed before.

The previous governor had objected to the

principle of the double majority from the very beginning but later ad-

mitted its inevitability.

condemnation of the principle and the practice,

"I have told Colomel Taché that I expect the
government formed by him to disavow the principle
of a 'double majority!, that is to say, to say
clearly that they do not coneceive their position
as a government to depend on their having a
majority of Upper Canada and a majority of Lower
Canada members,? :

65

Sir Edmund Head, however, went beyond mere

The double majority was never accepted and applied as strict prin-

ciple, Its theoretical incompatibility with the working of a united

64. Ibid.

65, 1Ibid.
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legislatufe and an executive was obvious, Yet it grew out of the duvality
in Canadian society and a close adherence to double majority system became
inevitable, If the principle was unacceptable the practice was desirable.
However, the working of the cabinet government was seriously hampered by

this practice.

Sir Allan MacNab was ousted from the cabinet by the use of the
weapon of double majority. His retirement was the climax of the process
of submission of the Tory and Conservative groups to the system of
political duality, Macdonald's accession to the leadership in Canada
West strengbhened the alliancé between liberaf?ginservative elements in
both seetions of the provinece, Although this did not result in a more
iunified or homogeneous cabinet it began to take a uhited stand against
the igrowing .. radical movements in both sections of the province,.

 This further strengthened the alliance between the liberal and conserva-

tive forces.

From the begimning of the second half of 1856 Canadian politics
entered the crossroads, The use of double majority as an instrument to
embarass the governments became more frequent. This resulted in 2
greater deadlock than before, The cabineb remained unstable and unde-
cidedvas before, The search for a solution for the deadlock necessarily
raised fundamentél issues. Single majority; representation by population,
equal representation,federation or separation, these were some of the
issues that left the cabinel divided and therefore without a definite

stand on any solution,
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CHAPTER IV

THE OPPOSITIOCHN IN POYER

Sir Allan MacNab's removal from the cabinet was primarily a movs
to bring a degree of harmony into the cabinet, Undoubtedly the
Liberal elements in the Canada West section of the cabinet found it
easler to co-operate with John A. Macdonald rather than with MacNab.,

the

The settlement of/Clergy Reserves question removed the chief cause
of conflict within the cabinet, After 1856 the ministry tended to
avoid more fundamental issues and was 6n the defensive against the
attacks of the opposition groups on such issues., Thus an oubward
solidarity was heing achieved by the cabinet. The nature of the
political conflict of the time is aptly described by Donald Creighton,

8The Conservatives seemed to have no solution

what ever for the endless problems created by

the cultural division of the province. Almost

every other party, or fragment of a party had

& solution. They represented the degrees of

political indecisiveness from the complete ca-

tastrophic tothe mildly rveformist., Any one of

them could be made to look plausible, and all

of them were given lengthy hearing in the

session of 1858,"1
It was in this background of political indecisiveness that cabinet
goverment in Canada apprcached its biggest crisis in the 1850's,

The removal of MacNab did not strengthen the administration in

Canada West, Ten days after Macdonald assumed the leadership in the

—

lg ‘C'Br:e“%,%hto}": > ;?;Ee ' )Gi‘b @9 pe 263 o
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Canada West section of the cabinet the ministry was beaten in Canada
West by a margin of fiftsen voteso2 However, the ministry decided to
defy the double majority argument against it on the most valid grounds

_'\
that the opposition was unablé to-form an alternate -
govermment, A significant effect of the system of political duality
was bthe ability of even a small majority in one section of the House
to embarass and even force a section of the ministry out of office,
In June 1851 a relatively small combination of anti-Baldwin elements
could force Baldwin out of the ministry and precipitate a cabinet
reconstruction, Similarly in June 1854 diverse elements rallied to
compe%i dineks and his colleagues to resign. The double majority

placing

had resulted in the/of: the cabinet st the mercy of a majority in
one section of the province,

"The effect of double majority will be to

keep the majority of the whole country under

the control of the minority in Lower Canada

coe and the majority in Upper Canada under

the control of the minorityeeae"B
observed Mepritt in the Assembly, Although there was no strict
adlierence to the double majority rule the attempt to rsalize it in
practice gave unduve prominance to small groups in the Assembly, Even
personal 'tailst! of few members could play a deciding role., The

racial di#ision on the other hand made it extremely improbable for

political parties te develop on a national scale., The consequence of

2o Qareless, op. clt., p. 22k,

3, Debates of the Legislative Assembly, (Microfilm), Septe 20, 1854,




This had been not only the heterogenecus composition of the cabinet
since 1851 bub also the inevitable division in the opposition, An
essential rvequirement of healthy cablinet government 1s that the various
parties must alternate in forming the govermment. Lord Elgin realized the
immense significance of this constitutional principle.

"That ministers and oppositions should

occasionally change places is of the very

essence of our constitutional system, and it

is probably the most conservative element

which it contains., By subjecting all. sections

of politicians it obliges heated partisans to

place some restraint on passion and to comfine

within the bounds of decency the patriotic

zeal which when out of place they are wonbt to

be maintained."
After 1848 in Canada there was a unique development of cabinet gove
ermment, The political parties were divided on a racial basis more or
less coinciding to the fbrmer provinclal boundaries. The essentially
sectional politics of the French Canadiansleaders gave them an unshakes
able solidarity among their own racial stock, The double majority checked
any tendencies towards political unity, Under such circumstances the
emergence of a parliamentary opposition capable of forming an alternate
government was extremely improkable., However, some of the advantages

of opposition mule, as Lord Elgin envisaged it, were not completely

absent in Canada at this tims, The Clear Grit opposition was at least

n to Grey, May 27, 1847,

et

Lo Blgin=Crey Papers, vol, 1, L5=46, Elg
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temporarily checked by their association in the cabinet under Hincks.
They agreed to participate in govermment on very modest terms. The
Tory-Conservative ambitions were sufficiently modified by their
association with the French and the Hincksites in the cabinet, Yet
the most essential purpose of the existence of an opposition - the
challenge it offered to the party in power through an alternate pro-
gramme of action -~ was in effectvmade very difficult by the duality in

politiecal life, Here was the dilemma of cabinet government in Canada.

Since Lafontaine and Baldwin formed theiyr ministry on a dusl
basis there was no powerful opposition party or parties in the Assembly
capable of completely ousting the existing ministry. The Clear Grits
were absorbed intc the ministry for a short time and later the Tory-
Conservative group entéred the rump of the Hincks-Morin cabinet.
Since 1854 Brown had?ggzémpting to build a party of his own, He
appealed to the liberal elements but except on an anti-government
feeling there was‘no basis for a united front, Brown'!s plan at first
was to unite the diverse reform elements in CanadaWest into an all
British reform party. On June 22, 185/ when the: Hincks=Morin«govermmuent
was defeated, Brown called a meeting of the Canada West liberals and
radicals and made a compact to oppose the ministerialists at the
coming elections., On September 11, 1854 when the MacNab-lorin

government was amnounced,the opposition from both sections of the

province unitedly issued a statement of condemnation of the coalition.



However, these attempts at united action were sporadic. The diverse
factions did not attempt to come to an understanding. on the basis of
each others' principles, The diversity was too great, There were, in
this group of September 11, 1854, Rouges, like Dorion and his associates,
Galt and Holton, a few French liberzls and disgruntled Bleus., And from
Canada West there were Clear Grits, Rolph and Hartman, along with the

thorough~going independents like W,L. Mackenzie and the Brownites,”

On December 15 1856 the Globe office sent out a circular signed by
Gordon Brown and MacDougall calling for a convention of Canada West
Reformers. It expressed the urgent necessity for a efficient political

movement

",..t0 oppose the reckless administration of
public affairs under which Canada now suffers.
Sustained in office mainly by representatiges
of one section of the province the govermment
systematically pursues a sectional policy
humiliating to the inhabitants of Western
Canada and most injurious to the moral and
material interests of the whole country,"é

The aim of the new movement was therefore to elevate the political life
of the province from sectionalism and also to rescue Canada West from
her humiliating position. Representation by Population was the main

T i

answer, Uniform legislation, a national system of education, and free trade

2o  Careless, op. cit., p. 195-196,

6. Brown Papers (P.A.C.), p. 265, Printed Circular, Dec, 15, 1856,
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were some of the other reforms advocated by the ecircular. On January

8, 1857, 150 Reformers met at Toronto and adopted the platform put fore
ward by the Globe cfficee? Disagreement was fsuﬂé; on Brown's idea of
gradual assimilation of the institutions of Canada West and East, Foley
opposed this policy on the grounds. thalt the French Canadians would be
hostlle and political co-operation with them would be difficult. Broun
was convinced that the Fremch population had to be assimilated to the

. British gradually and that representation by population Shaulé be the

instrument,

In Canada East Sicotte and Dorion were building the Rouge party.
Théy had their own brand of nationalism, opposed to the dominant
" position of the Catholic church, but by no means disloyal to French
Canadian naticnalism. Thus Brown's principle of 'rep by pop' was

destined to keep the two opposition groups divided,

While there was a growing realization ‘of the need of a united
opposition the ministry was attempting to absorb all shades of political
opinion into its own camp. Ca?tiergwho replaced Taché in November 18564
was determined to make the Bleus the only party in Canada East. He

offered seats to Sicolte and Belleau in the cabinet and approached Dorion

7. Careless. op, ¢it., p. 196,

8. Ibid,s Do 235,
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‘through Sicotteeg Cartier attempted to include even the independent
British members in Canada Bast, Galt was offered a seat in the cabinet.,
This calculated policy was vewarded at the election of 1857-58, The
Bleus obtained L9 out of the 65 seabs while the Rouges could obbain only
seven seats, The Rouges were weakened by the use of the cry of "radicalisme
Brownite" against them., In Canada West the ministerialists were returned
in a minority of 28 to 33°ll Three ministers Cayley, Spence,and Morrison
weré defeated and Macdonald was looking for 'loose fish! to strengthen
the ministerial support. The ministerial organ, The Leéd@g, tried to
underestimate the ministerial concern over the loss of the ﬁajority in
Canada West, |

"fhe most that can befall us is the paymant

of a small sum for a few stray Clear Grits,

They can be bought cheap as dirt any daye'y o
Acéording'to the Globe the only Clear Grit who could be bought was
Malcolm Camsfone He.wasleffered a seat in the cabinet if he succeeded in
finding seaﬁs for the defeated ministerselB J.S5. Macdonaldts support
was sought by the ministry in order to obtain the backing of his ttail!

of follewerselh The Globe rumoured that the former Hincksite, Foley,

9. Dent, Canadian Portrait Gallery (Toronto, 1880), vol. 2, 79.

10. Creighton, op. cit., p. 235.

1l. Cornell. C.H.R. op. cib., p. 27,

12, The Leader, cited by the Globe, Jan, 12, 1858,
13. The Globe, Jan. 12, 14, 1858,

1. Ibid., Jan. 19, 1858,
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was offered a cabinet position if he could find a seat for Spence in
Norfolk@ls Finally J.A. HMacdonald succeeded in bringing back Ross
who was in the Legislative Council. The other vacancy created by the
defeat of the two Hincksites was filled by Sydney Smith,- a former

Refomnerel

The new’feature in the cabinet was that it was becoming essentially
a collection of individuals., The old party divisions of Tory,
Gonservaﬁivé;and Liberal were merging in Canada West. :All except the
radicals of the Brownite type the others could be accomodated in the
cabinet, Malcolm Cameron and J.S. Macdonald were mere independent
leaders with a radical background. Thus Macdonald wés trying to include
these elements to make the cebinet mbfe representative, This was a
check against Brownite radicalism. In‘Canada East the Roﬁges were
accused of 'le radicalisme: Brmwnite*, The atﬁempt was to prevent a
‘united rédiéal nmovement, The politiéalydivision was gradually develop=-
ing on a radical éntiaradiéal basis. Ohly ﬁhé radicgls offered a new
policy with regard to the questions of representation, church and state,
Edu;ation, Union and Federation. Thus radicals were begimning to form a

distinct opposition to the ministrys though by no means united,

15, Ibid,, Jan, 1k, 1858,

16. Ibid, Jan. 22, 1858,
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The Macdonald - Cartier cabinet was composed of the following

members.
CANADA EAST
CARTIER - Attorney General
SICOTTE = Commissiocner of Crown Lands
BELLEAU - Speaker of the legislative Council
ATLEEYN - Provincial Secretary
IORANGER - Chief Commissioner of Publie Works

CANADA WEST

L

JOHN A. MACDONALD Attorney Gensral

CAYIEY - Inspector Gensral

VANKOUGHNET - President of the Executive Council
ROSS - Receiver General

SYDNEY SMITH = Postmaster:=General

This arrangement was the result of careful observation of all complicated

rules of cabinet making established since 18A8@l7

The added strength of the opposition in Canada West was giving Brown
hopes of forming a ministry in the future. Therefore since January 1858
o been S : - :
Brown hed slowly/exploiting every means possible te come teo an understand-

 ing with the different opposition groups. The issues that came up during

these early monbhs of 1858 militated against the hope of forming a united

17. Creighton, op.'git., p. 256.
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opposition group, While the govermment in ibs uncommitted defensive
position could maintain its outward solidarity, the opposition was

getiing divided more and more,

Representation by population had been Brown's most comsistent plat-
form since 1852, By December 1852 he could obtain a majority of Canada
West members in supporéf;his principle, In March 1858 Brown's amendment
for the adoption of 'rep by pop! received 32 to 86 votes, 411 32 votes
were from Ganada,WESi and . only 28 were on the side of the ministry from
Canada West%g Of greater significance than the unamimous opposition of
the French Canadians o' this principle was the split in the opposition
itself, Dorion, the Rouge leader and McGee, the new convert to Rouge
ranks were opposed to the principle of ‘'rep by pop!, J.S. Macdonald
himself voted against Brown's amendmen"a;l9 John A, Maedonald declared
that the govermment was not.going to take any stand on the issueezo He
had personal objections to the principle on the ground that it would

lezad %o universal suifrageezl

'"Rep by pop! agitation had made the French Canadians M.« Look on

the once hated Union as a treaty, charter and fundamental documente“zg

18, Montreal Pilot,Mar. 1, 1858,

19, Ibide
20, The Globe, Mar, 15, 1858,
21, Skelton, Galt, p. 211,

22, WiPM, Kefinedy, The Constitution of Canada, 1534<1937 (Torento, 1938),
pe 276,
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Silcotte, the Comnissioner of Crown Lands in the Maedonald - Cartier
cabinetswas an exponant of the double majority principle as a consti-
tutional rule. In defense of this principle he considered the Union

as a federal arragement. Thus no majority of one section could rule

23

over the other,

Thibaudeau maintained that the Union was a sort of a Confederatidn
and reminded the House thal the proposal to accept representation by
population was supported by only a few French Canadians in 18A992h
It was Cauchon with his strong sectional bias who explicitly identified
double majority with the Union., In his famous resolution on double
majority he asserted that equal representdion accepted the Federal

principle within the Union and,

Y.eo that the parliament of Canada admitted and
sanctioned the same principle when in increasing
the number of the representatives ... it main-
tained a numerical equality between the two
provinces; that Canadian Parliament gave it a yet
more decided and expressive sanction by extending
it to the Legislative Council... that Her Majesty's
representatives in selecting their Executive Councillors
as a rule, in equal numbers from Upper and Lower
Canada have also acknowledged this principle of the
Union... that the same acknowledgement of the
principle by the administration can only be
substantial so long as the Executive Councillors
taken from either section of the Province possesses
the confidence of that section, expressed by the
majority of its representativesa“25

23. The Globe, Mar, 15, 1858,
L. Ibid,, Mar. 19, 1858,
25, Mbntreal Pilot, Mar. 18, 1858,
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Although the same explicit terms were not used by all French Canadians
a departure from the double majority was generally considered by them
as injurious to the Union. For Canada West a departure from double
majofity was essential and could be effectively achieved only by the
application of the principle of 'rep by popf. Even the ministerial
supporters of Canada West were in favour of the principle and feared
that if double majority was accepted as a constitutional rule as
Sicotte, Thibaudeau and Cauchon advocated the agitation for ‘rep by
pop!t ﬁight bevkilled926 The principle of *rep by pop! could be
challenged only by the double majority prihcipleﬁ theiefore the Globe
had been advocating that the ministry should either accept the latter

27

- principle or reject it. Brown condemned the double majority as

enshrining the existing duality but under the existing praciice
Macdonald should resign as he had already lost his majority in Canada

Westezg

The attitude of the opposition on this question was aptly des-

cribed by the Pilot,

"The opposition would be glad to get
possession of power by means of the Double
Majority fallacy in which they do not be-
lieve or profess to believee"29

26. Ibid, Mar., 25, 1858,
27, The Globe, Mar. 23, 1858,
28, Ibid, &p. 1k, 1858,

29, The Pilet,.Mar, 25, 1858,
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Brown was trying to exploit the apprehensions of the French to a
single majority system, in order to induce “he French Canadians to

force Macdonald to resign,

1T he, J.A, Macdonald, couldlet him rule
with a Lower Canadian majority, but he broke
up the MacNab ministry on the same point that
he will never rule Upper Canada with a Lower
Canadian majority. If he has changed his

’ views = let him go ahead O but Lower Canada
should remember the rule works two ways,"BO

Since January the ministry had virtually existed on a single majority
basis, Yet the ministers from Canada West were unable to accept it as
a rule because of the fears of the French Canadians,

#0f all things the dominant party in the eastern

province dread most is an Upper Canadian majority

controlling their internal affairs, and that will

surely come if they attempt to rule the west with

their majority. Nobt one French ministerial

Journal has yel adopted the single majority idea

which the Leader and the Colonist have pressed

upon them so indecently,“Bl
- Je5, Macdonald supported the double majority on the logic of the devel-

opments that took place under the Union. He quobted the precedents

established by Baldwin's resignation and the ousting of MacNab.,B2

30. The Globe, Jan. 18, 1858,
31, Ibid., Feb, 15, 1858,

32, ©Skelton, Galt, p. 212,




The double majority became the main topic of discussion both
inside the House as well as outside@ The newspapers in both sections
of the province were giving prominence to this topic during the first
few months of 1858933 However, the position of the cabine®t on this
issue remained unchanged. The dangers of a single majority and its
natural corollary, representation by population, did not allow the
French Canadian ministers to abandon the existing system. The main
criticism of the cabinet at the time was its vacillation along with
its unwillingness tec take up a stand on any important issue, The
Pilot accused the ministry of a lack of vigour, It recalled the down-
fall of the earlier ministries due to such a lack of vigour in

opposing the "tactics like Double Majority',3

The combined attack of the Rouges and the Canada Vest radicals
came to a climax on the seat of govermment guestion in July, On the
28th Es U, Piché moved an amendment that Ottawa ought not to be the
permanent seat of govermment. The opposition adopted the traditional
practice of wording the amendment in a manner that could attract the

35

biggest support possible, The seat of government had always been
the thorniest question, and was never a cabinet issue, The decision
to refer the final selection of a place to the Queen was the means

adopted by the MaclNab - Taché cabinet to avoid a break up of the

33. The Globe, loc, cit,
3L. The Pilot, Apl. 27, 1858,

35, Ibid,, July, 1858,
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especially George Brown, condemned the

o
(]

minisbry,

action of the ministry as a shirking of cabinet responsibi i ty. He

oo

maintained that it was a dangerous precedent to avoid difficult

guestions by referring them to outside authority., The Queen could not

)

come to a decision without the advice of her ministers, and those min-

T

isters nauurlev depended on the recoimendations made by the authorities

in Canada, It was impossible for the ministers in England to come to a

36

AWV]

decision based on the requirements of the Province.”~ "Can a minister

who has never set his foot in Canade grasp all those arguments and
estimate each at its true value."2! However it wes the decision itselfy

to make Ottawa the capital rather than the manner in which the decision

was arrived at that resulied in the defe@t of the ministry on Piche!
amendment, The vete placed the whole ministry in a minority of 14,

(64 to 50), Brown immediately appealed to all those who vebed for
Piche's amendment to vote for an adjourmment. Macdonald however, re=-
sorted to the usual ministerial tactics by declaring the vote on the
motion for an adjourmment as a vote of want of confidence. This saved

38

the ministry by 6L to 50. It was not,however, a victory for the mini-
stry. The cabinet met immediately after and decided to resign as a
,b106939 This decision was undoubtedly a means to prove effectively that

the opposition could not form an alternate govermment,

36. The Globe, June 15, 1857,
37. Ibid.
38. Careless, 0p, cit., pe 26L4,

39, Ibid., p. 265,
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"Here, you have long clamoured for power; you
. have for years posed as the champion of Upper
Canada, you have denounced me as the slave of
French influence: here is my office; let us
see what you can do."
9]
This was the challenge of Macdonald to Brown and his colleagues. Could

the opposition form a cabinet with differant personnel and with the

backing of different political groups?

The circumstances of the resignation of the Macdonald - Cartier
ministry were significant in relationhgg the changes in the earlier
ministries, Since Lord Elgin in 1848/called the then opposition to
form a ministry, no complete ministerial change had taken place., All
cabinet changes were no more than patch work: on a staﬁic frawework.

-In Canada West the power was handed over by the Reformers to the Con-
SGrvatives with continuation maintained by the presence of a rump of
the former ministry and also in the commitment to carry out the policy
of the former ministry., In Canada East the cabinet never changed as a
bloc. In fact since 1848 one single ministry continued with occasional
changes in the leadership and personnel, Certain ministers like Taché

: remained in the cabinet from March 1848 to November 1857. Drummond was

outside the cabinet until October 1851 and from that dabte occupied a

place in the cabinet until May 1856, Thus the cabinet remained

© fundamentally unchanged. Before respoéible government was granted

similar features were present in the Executive Council. Daly remained

40, Pope, gp. cit.y ppe 202-203,
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in office from 1841 to 1848, The major change in the cabinet took

o

plabe when the Tory»ConservatiVe opposition took the place of the
Reformers as the dominant group in the Canada West section of the
cabinet, In effect they were absorbsd into the cabinet and gradually
mouldéd to suitb the'existing pattern, The evolution of an opposition
party on a different political programme was made difficult by the
essentially sectional character of political life, Thus when the oppo-
sition was called in to form a government not only the House of

Assembly but the whole province was kept guessing as to the nature and

the programme of the new government,.

The resignation of the Macdonald - Cartier ministry without a
proper defeat in the House was regarded as uncelled for and even
unconstitutionalohl However the supporters of the ministry justified
it on the ground that it was expedient.kz The Pilot referred o a
necessity of higher kind and that in resiﬁning the ministry perfomaed
a thigh and chivalrous duty'hB This duty obvigusly was the necessity

.

to submit to the defeat of the ministry in Canada West.

Brown had been busy since the elections in trying to come to an
understanding with the Canads East opposition. He always considered
the Rouges as the natural allies of the Canada West radicals, However,
the similarity in their anti-church and state policy and democratic

ideals did not go very deept It required a great amount of sacrifice

Ll. The:Pilot,. July,31:1858,

e g

L2, Ibid.
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of principles on both sides for them to come together, Brown's msin
platform was 'rep by pop?! and if Canada East could be brought to
accept this principle thé rest was not difficult, Thus Brown had
entered into a series of direct and indireect negobiations with the
opposition leaders of Canada East since the begianning of the year.
Holtongw the Canada East radicals~ was the main channel used by Brown.
He was instructed by Brown to consult Doriong- the Houge leadery-— on
matters concerning ‘rep by pop! and federatione In 1856 Dorion had
suggésted the federétion of thé two Canadas as an alternative to ‘rep
by pop'eﬁ% On January 22, Holton reported to Brown the resulis of his
discussions with the Houges. The Rouges, he informed Bfown, were. pre-
pared for a federztion "oub on'rep by pop' they are afraid that they
might be termed tralbors." Holton continued, "They are the betier
Judges of the feelings of their countrymen bubt they overabe it nhkd
Again on January 26th, Holton wrote that thelr movement would have
little success because of theyreligious_antipathyf FProtestant!

1Catholic!, these terms should be removed from the political vocabulary,!

The contradiction in Brown's position is sufficiently evident in his
OWR WOTdSe

"No honest man can desire that we should
remain as we are, Jeb what other way out

Lhe Careless, op, cite, pe 251,

45. Brown Papers, (P.A.C.), Holton to Brown, Jan. 22, 1856,

L6, Ibig, Jan, 26, 1858,
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of our gifficulities can be suggested butbt a
genuine legislative union -~ or dissolutiofees o7
dissolution would be as ruinous to any party as
voo 1t would be wrong. 4 federal union camot

be entertained for Canada alone but when agitated
must include all British Americay; eeee-covvscsooo

D000 000G O0 6000000 G0EREODAOCROGEHOLOOSTTLTEOOOOEEOOD

Qur friends here are prepared to consider dis-

passionately any scheme which may emanate from

vour party in Lower Canada. Their plan is for

trep by pop! and fair trial of the Union in its

integrity, Failing that they are prepared o go

in for dissolution, I believe, but if you can

suggest a federal or any other scheme that could

be worked it will have our most amdious examinatione"&7
Brown was anxious to work the Union fin its integrity! and this was what
the French had opposed from the begimning. In order to form an opposit-
ion party Canada East was essential, but, the only way that their support

could be successfully obtgined involved the violation of the Union in

favour of a federation or separation.

Brown at the same time approached the Sicotte group in Canada East
thréugh John Simpson and Henry Starnes, Simpson was a Legislative
Councillor and an influential business man in Yontreal and Starnes was
the brother-in-law of Sicc;me,l’:8 Brown with difficulty succeeded in
converting Starnes to the principle of representation by population,
but was doubtful of any support from the French because of the difficulty
of advocating the principle in Canada East., He informed Holton that
Starnes had declared;

",.. that he and his friends (Sicotte, etc., I
suppose) were prepared to go full anti state

L7. Alexender Mackenzie Papers (F.A.C.), Brown to Holton, Jan. 29, 1858,

48, Careless, ops -€ite, po 252,
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church ticket -~ and that they admitted that

'rep by pop'! must come and were prepared to

concede it, but how to do that and be re-

turned for Lower Canadian constitueneiss they

could not see, I endeavoured to put the

megsure in the most favourable light and de-

clared that so long as we had the principle

fully admitted and adopted we were ready to

hear reasons as to any df the detailse"49
Thus Brown was forced to be more flexiblé: and bend to the stronger
loyalties of the French Canadian opposition. Brown was also in con-
tact with the well known exponent of French Canadian Liberalism -
Joseph Doutre, In February Doubtre explained to Brown that a practicable
platform had to be found in order to form a strong opposition. On the
Schools question he expressed his disagreement with Brown, but on all
other questions he was ready to accept the policy,5o However, Doutre
assured Brown that if he wished to obtain French Canadian support his
views had to be modified greatly, e.g. the Separate Schools should be
continued with a view to future reforms. The Globe had published

he

Doutre'!s sympathy with the 'rep bypop! principle and/was therefore

afraid that the "French preés will jump'on me on ‘rep by pop'"ﬁl

™~

The most consistent aim of Brown, as illustrated in these

negotlations;was the desire to see that the present deadlock in politics

L9, Alexander Mackenzie Papers, loc., cit.

50, Brown Papers, (P,A,C.)3 Doutre to Brown, Feb., 11, 1858,

51. Ibid.
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should end. There should be a change in the existing duality., Bubt
in order to find a solution he had tc compromise his radical platform.
The truth of Lord Elgin's statement was beginning to appear,

"By subjecting all sections of the politicians

in their turd to official responsibilities it

obliges heated partizans to place some restraint

on passion and to confine within the bounds of

decency the patriotic zeal which when out of
place they are wont to be maintained,®

52

In spite of Brown's racial and religious bias his attempt to form an
opposition or an ﬁnderﬁtanding between the two major groups was:
creditable. The difficulty of the task was intensified by the anti-
Catholic and anbtieFrench policy followed by him in the past. Although
he was willing to modify his views there was no possibility of the
French .Canadian majority supporting his govermnment, His negotiations
had almost collapsed before he was‘summoned to office in July 1858,
Thus Brown had to start from scratch in order to find support for an
administration under him.

UGrave difficulties lie on the way but none

which may not be surmounted by fimmness,

mo@eration and prudencee"53

Brown's obvious partner for the leadership in the Cabinet wes

Dorion. Dﬁring the short time he was given, Brown negotisted with ‘

Dorion in order to find some basis for a reasonably united cabinet.

52, Elgin-Grey Papers, vol., 1, A45=46, Elgin to Grey, May, 27, 1847,

53, The Globe, July,30, 1858,
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According to Brown's speech at Toronto Dorion agreed to represente
ation by population with constitutional guarantéss for the French, in
the form of federal rights or a Bill of Rights, The gzal of goverrment was
to be a cabinet question., On the guestion of Schools some of the
principles of the Lrish system were to be adopted,Sh However, if there
was an agreement i§%as extremely vague, and the leaders did not intend
to take a definite agreement before the electorate. Dorion in his
election speech abt Montreal declared;

",,. L can assert with confidence that in

consulting to form a part of an administration

of which Mr. Brown was to be the chief I had

neither to renounce any of my political prin-

ciples nor to exact from him the saecrifice of
any of his."

55
Drummond gave Morin his reason for joining Brown's cabinet; "Mr. Brown
is our man,he has ylelded everything before I have taken office under

56

him¥,

Even if Brown could come to a broad agreement with Dorion there
was no guarantee that the rest of the eabinet would agree on the same
basis. The search for individuals for the cabinet itself indicated
that there was no hope of a united cabinet. It was destined to be
nothing more than a collection of individuals with their owh opinions

on various lssues.

54, Alexander Mackenzie, Life and Speeches of George Brown (Toronto, 1882)
PP @ 268"'77 ° .

55. The:Pilet, .Atg,.. 9,7 1858,

560

The ‘Daily Atlés;.Atig. 5. 1858,
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Brown tried to get Cauéboﬁ57e the man who had received his -
severest criticism in Canada East during thevpast few years. It ﬁas
doubtful whethey Brown could have come to any agreemeni with Cauchon
except on the basis of Federation or complete separation. Cauchon
had a folldwing of about eighteen members from the Quebec area,,,s8
Brown was aiming at this vote rather than for men with whom he could

find a basis of agreement.

Sicotte was equally influential among the French Canadiens in
the House. Therefore Brown offered him a cabinet position and
tgufficient latitude of action' in return for his support,59 Sicotte

refused to come to any alllance with Brown. The new cabinet was gomposed

ofs
CANADA EAST
DORTON - Commissioner of Crown Lands
DRUMMOND - Attorney Gengral
HOLTON - Commissioner of Public Wofks
LEMIEUX - Receiver General
THIBAUDEAU - President of the Executive Council .

CANADA WEST

BROWN - Inspector General

J.S, MACDONALD - Attorney General
MOWAT - Provincial Secretary
FOLEY - Postmaster <General

J. MORRIS - Speaker of the Legislative Council

57. Careless, op. ¢ite, pp. 265-266
58, The Globe, Aug. 30, 1857,

59, Dent, The Last Forty Years, vol. 2, 371=72,
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It is difficullt to realize how this combination could come
to an understanding on principles which Brown had advocated before.
J.5. Hacdonald and Dorion had been strong advocates of the Separate
Schools system., Thibaudeau. only a few months back had mainbained
that double majority should be a constitutional principleeéG On
almost every issue they had expressed uncompronising views in the

past,

Brown could not avoid the double cabinet system., Three French
Canadians were included in the Canada East section of the ministry
for the obvious purpose of maintaining some balanceeél Drummond was
to represent the Irish Romen Catholic population?QThibaudeau and
iemieux were also the representatives from Quebec, and Laberge
from Montreal. Monbtreal British Protestant elements were represented
by Holtom, 2

In Canada West Brown avoided the ulitre Clear Grits like
Macdougall@é@'JQS, Maedonald could bring some support to the ministry

especially from the eastern section of Canada VWest., Mowat was a

strong Brownite and Foley was a former Hincksite Reformer.

Thus on the whole the cabinet that the opposition offered was

much worse than the exdisting one. The more important factor was how

60, The Globe, Mar, 19, 1858,
61, Laberge was the Solicitor General and outside the Cabinet.

629 Den‘b, & ecitag pe 3720

63, Careless, ope citsy ppe 265-266,
6h. Ibid.,265,



w ministyry could obtain the support of the House, or the province,

the
che

The reaction of the province to the new ministry, as far as can be
guaged by the newspaper reports, was extremely hostile, However, the

Herald announced tbat Brown's ministry would be the strongest since the

-t

i

afontaine and Beldwin ministry, "It will have none of the vices and
weaknesses inherent in a coalition.! 65 The Globe emphasised the
difficulty of the task and avoidéd loud boasts of the type in the Herald.
The Daily Atlas, the new Conservative orgsn even went to the extent of
accusing the ministry of an alliance with Bishop Charbonnel, arrived at
through DlArcy McGee, promising the safety of the Catholic interests.

£
It referred to Brown as the Ypolitical Judas Iscariot.,”éO Le Canadian
sarcastically remarked:
"In vain Mr. Brown tells Lower Canada and the
Catholics that he had come to an understanding
with Dorion that Catholies in the future will
be free from abuse and insult,..., We incline
not te throw ourselves into the arms of Clear
Gritimm even though the sincerity of its
Chief!s sudden regard for 'la race inferieur!
be vouched by his late colleague, Dorlono“é7.

In the House the coalition forces under Cartier and Macdonald

were determined to defeat the Govermment as early as possible. The

65, The Herald, cited by the Pil Pilot, July 31, 1858,

66, The Daily Atlas, Aug. 5, 1858,

67, Le Canadien, cited by the Pilot,; Aug. 16, 1858,




two leaders had brought their men together, 26 from Canada West and
49 from Canada Bast,to discuss the policy towards the new ministxyeég
The Pilot warmed that certain members wers planning to bring a vote
of want of confidence as soon as the House met@é9 This ecourse was
in fact followed on August 2nd and the ministry was defeated by 31 to
71970The Legislative Council adopted a vote of no confidence with

16 to 8, Brown had no alternative but to ask for a dissolution which

was refused according to the indications given by the Governor General
(=3

before.

The constitubtional aspect of this cabinet crisis atiracted
considerable attention in the Province as well as in England. Without
going into the details of the procedure adopted by the Governor General
and the argumenté used in favour and against the ministry and the
Governor General,7l it is evident that the main question at issue
was the governor's power bo refuse a dissolution requested by a
ministry., On this point there is sufficient argument for both the
Governor General and the Brown=Dorion ministry. Precedent in England
showed that the person called in to form a ministry could remind the

Crown of the mutual obligations, indicating the just claim of the

68, Thée Pilet,.Aug, 18) 1858,
69, Ibid

70, Journals of the Assembly, (1858) part 2, p.937.

71l. Alexander Mackenzie, George Brown, pp. 59=08.
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72

ministry for a dissolution. In 1851 Stanley undertock to form a
winistry on the tacilt understanding that the Queen was willing to
grant a dissolutiona73 On the other hand in 1858 the Queen refused
to pledge a dissolution to Lord Derby. In his analysis of the Browne
Dorion case, Todd states:

"It is not expedient that the Crown should

be required to decide before hand upon any

theoretical or hypothetical question not

requiring to be immediately determined.

Nevertheless a governor is entitled to

stipulate the promotion of the public inter-

ests before he proceeds to wexsrcise the

power of dissoluticne"75 '

Sir Edmund Headt!s defence was based mainly on the fact that s new
L4 . o, . . : R 76
election would have been harnful to public interest, He expressed
his fear that an election might precipitate a racial and religious
77 .

clash, Such an argument was valid because of the stronghostility
that the French and the Roman Catholics in general showed towards a
ministry under George Brown. Although the majority of Brown's cabinet
were Catholics and there were three French Canadians, yet there was no

hope of obtaining the support of the majority of ’oheélectora,tee The

other reasons given by the Governor as to the untimeliness of an

72. Jennings, Cabinet Government pe. 421.

73. Ibid.

The L1bide, Ppe 422=423,

75, A, Todd, Parliamentary Govermment in the British Colonies {TLondon,
1894), vol. 2, 760, '

76, Alexander Mackenzie, op. cite, ppe 63=5k.

77. Ibid.



election could be challenged on precedents during the past few-yearse7%

The Liberal - Conservative forces were solidly behind the Governor,

In fact there was little doubt that John A, Macdonald had a part to play
in the strategy followed by the Governor. M,L, Greene from Kingston
informed Browns

W1t may seem strange that a cligue of

Macdonaldts supporters should be in

possession of the Governor'Generalis in-

tentions in relation to you and your

ministry long before he communicated the
same o you@"79

The Governor could safely refuse a dissolution to the Brown-Dorion
ministry because he was certain of the support of the majority of the
people for his course of action. The sectionalist polities had con-
siderable influence in making the Governor's pesition much mors than a
mere constitutional head. An important roie that Lord Elgin had to play
was to arbitrate between the two sections in the.cabinet on matters where
agreement was difficult, The immense importance of this role of the
Governor was clearly exhibited on the seabt of wovermment guestion in
1849 and during the rebellion losses controvarsy. Those who accused the
cabinet of French Canadian dominétion requested the Covernor to asserd
more pover over the execubive govermment of the Province, In the case

of the Brown-Dorion minlstry, Sir Edmund Head counld safely use the

weapon of refusing a dissclution to a ministry because he was cerbain

78, Careless, op, cite pp. 274=276,

79. Brown Papers (P.A,C.), M.L. Greene to Brown, Aug. 6, 1858,




of the public backing of his actions. The constitutional issue involved
was overshadowed by sectional political interests, The preservation of the
harmony bebween the two major sections of fhe population had become a
special function of the Governor. In the execubtlon of this function the

influence of the Governor over the executive. government of the Frovince

tended to he strong.

The actual crisis was not in the constitutional aspect of the ques-
tion, The Brovm~Dorion ministry illustrated all the problems involved
in forming an alternate government, The form of govermsent that:had existed
since 1848 was entrenched in the political duality established under the
Union. There waé no possibility of challenging it on principles hostile
to it, There was no opportunity for an opposition to come to power wnless
by surrendering to the established order. The greaver need for reform
in Canada West and the racial and political background of the people
facilitated the emergence of a strong radical movement., Bub the diffi-
culty of acemmodating théir opinion in a cabinet entrenched in dualism,
with one section protecting the safeguards that the cabinet offered
for their righits and influence, drove them to a position where their
influence came to be dependent mainly on racial and religious prejudices.
This made it almost impossible fof them to f£ind a basis for an agree-
ment even with the minority of radical elements on the other side. The
failure of the Brown-Dorion ministry illustrated the cabinet in Canada

had become a contrivance to protect the political duality,
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EPILOGUE

'

-

it was the attempt not merely to place two distinct racial and

cultural groups under one legislature but also the abtempt to use
the same congtltuulonal machinery to overcome the division that

. the
explains /development of the Canadian cabinet during these years on
a dual basis, The French Canadians were forced to find safety for
their identity in a constitutional machinery where even the only
recognition of thelr earlier separate existence in the form of equal
representation was meant explicitly to weaken thelr identity. Even

eof

after the 1dea/asszmmlatlen wag officially abandoned the constitution
provided no safeguards for the French Canadian identity, Thus the
most significant achievements of men like Lafontaine were not in the
field of winning responsibls govermment but in the building of a

system of conventions to protect their identity in a system of

government devised to weaken it,

The double cabinet and the double majority provided the only
working arrangement under responsible government., where the French
as the more united group could exercise their influence, These con-
ventions soon foind that Union and equal representation provided the

consbitutional structure on which they could operate.

The difficulty in finding political unity in Canada West made

&
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the solid group of French Canadian Bleus the pivot of parliamentary
manoeuvring, The failure to obitain the support of this group meant
chaos or separation. To aveoid both the cabinet was forced to main-

tain a duality and a combination of political groups in the Canada

T-
b

est section in particular, This arragement gave the Canada Rast
source of

section of the cabinet a/bargaining power. Unfortunately they failed

to uwtilize this bargaining position for purposes other than merely

safeguarding their identity.

Under a dual arragement in the A$sembly and in-the .cabinet the
development of political parties embrac;nﬂ both sections was difficuli.
The existing Liberal and Conservative grou%%gi Canada West were
absorbed into this system without a hope of/risming above it without
creating political chacs. The fapid decline in the pelitical position
of leaders like Baldwin and Hincks was greatly due to the game of sec~
tional politiecs, Th elr political position was rooted in the Reform
movement in Canada West long before the Union, Yet onece they entered
into the partnership of power in the cabinet they were compelled to
overlook even some of the just claims of Canada West for which they
sbood earlier, This was necessitated by the desire to maintain the
alliance with the French Canadians in order to carry out the govern-
ment of the province. Thus not only did the gectional nature of
politics hinder the development of political parties but it also

destroyed the party gystem that was emerging out of the turmoils of

the 1830is. The Reform and the Tory groups could have déveloped inte




- 1

arties, bubt the need for new political tactics
the
resulting from the political duality under/Union and responsible

L

strong political

government contributed to their collapse, Thus by 185/ cabinet
dvality was so strongly established that the existing pax

differences began to change. The new division was more on the

basis of "ministerialistst and the radicals,

The cabinet from this time became a mere collection of in-
dividuals with The primary purpose of maintaining the duality and

of
also/satisfying the minor groups in the cowntry by giving thenm
representation as far as possible. The radicals who found it
difficult to submit to the existing order were forced to advocate
methods to alter its basis. Constitutionally they were impotent
to put their principles into practice. Thus the solution to the

deadlock arising from the duality had to come from a realization

by all sections of the defects of the existing system,

The Confederation only sanctioned some of the cabinet conven-

tions established since 1848, Sectional representation and balancing

of influvence became an essential part of the cabinet under the
Confederation, The development of national parties was equally
difficult, The direct and indirect effects of the cabinet conven-
tions under the Union in the Confederation arragement could find no
better explanation than that given by the words of Mackenzie King.

L0y

W r mind there can be nothing more unfortunate for this

dominion than that any part of it should have cause to feel that it
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is not to have its voice in the Council of the country, I feel
that the whole purpose of Confederation itself would be menaced
if any great body of opinion, any considerable section of‘this
dominion of Canada should have reason to think it was without
due representation in the shéping of naticnal policies, and in

carrying on of our public affairs.® %

% Rogers, N.M., Federal Influence in the Canadian Cabinet, Canadien
Bar Review, vol., 11 No. 1, Jan. 1933. p. 112,
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NOTES
Abreviations.
F.A.C, - . Public Archives of Canada
PoReL.Ts - Public Reference Library, Toronto
0.P.A, - Ontario Provincial Archives

- Co.HoRe : = Canadian Historical Review
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CABINETS 1848 - 1851,

11lth. March to 25th. April 1848.%

CANADA FEAST

Lafontaine - Abtorney General

Caron - Speaker of the Legislative Council
Taché - Chief Commissioner of Public Works
Viger - Receiver General

Aylwin - Solicitor General

Ieslie = President of the Executive Council
Baldwin - Attofney General

Hincks - Inspector General

Price - Comni ssioner of Crown lLands

M. Cameron = Assistant Commissioner of Public Works
Blake - Solicitor General (acecepted office 22 Apl.1848)
Sullivan - Provincial Secretary

% These dates indicate the offieial appointment to or resignation
from the Executive Council and do not coincide exactly with the
dates of Cabinet appointments and resignations.

Indicates Resignations.

... JIndicates Appointments.



26th April to

CANADA BAST

Lafontaine
Caron
Tache

Viger
Leslie
CANADA EAST
Baldwin
sulliven
Hincks
Price

Cameron

-
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14th September 1848,

Attorney General
Speaker of the Legislative Council
Chief Commissioner of Public Works
Receiver General

President of the Bxecutive Counecil

Attorney General
Provincial Secretary
Inspector General
Comnmissioner of Crown Lands

Assistant Commissioner of Public Works

15th September to 26th November 1849,

CANADA EAST
Lafontaine
Caron
Tache
Leslie
CANADA WEST
Baldwin
Hincks
Price
Cameron

Merritt

Attorney General
Speaker of the Legislative Council
Receiver Generai
Chief Commissioner of Public Works

Provincial Secretary

Attoreny General

Inspector General

Commissicner of Crown Lands

Assistant Commissioner of Public Works

Presgdent of the BExecutive Council
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27th November fto 12th December 1849,

CANADA EAST

Lafontaine
Tache

Leslie

CANADA WEST
Baldwin
Hincks
Cameron
Price

Merritt

13th December 1849 to

CANADA EAST
Lafontaine’
Taché
Chabot

Ieslie

Baldwin
Hincks
Camexron
Price

Merritt

Attorney General
Redeiver General

Provineial Secretary

Attorney General

Inspector General

Assistant Commissioner of Public Works
Commissioner of Crown Lands

President of the Executive Council

1st February 1850.

Attorney General
Receiver General
Chief Commissioner of Public Works

Provincial Secretary

Attorney General

Inspector Genersl

Assigtant Commissioner of Public VWorks
Commissioner of Crown Lends

President of the Executive Council



17th April 1850

CANADA EAST
Lafontaine
Taché
leslie

Bourret

CANADA WEST
Baldwin
Hincks
Price

Merritt
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to 11th Februery 1851

- Attorney General

- Receiver General

o Provineizal Secretary

- Assistant Commissioner of FPublic Works
- Attorney General

- Inspector General

- Cqmmissioner of Crown Lands

- Chief Commissioner of Public Works

12th Febrvary to 2lst February 1851,

CANADA EAST
Lafontaine
Leslie
Tache

Bourret

CANADA WEST
Baldwin
Hincks

Price

- Attorney General
- Provincial Secretary

- Receiver General

- Chief Commissioner of Publie Works
- Attorney General

=  Inspector General

- Commissioner of Crown Lands




20d February to 3lst March 1850.

CANADA EAST

Lafontaine P
Taché -
Chabot, -
Leslie -

CANADA WEST

Baldwin -
Hincks -
Price -
Merritt -

1st April to léth

CANADA EAST

Lafontaine -
Taché -
Leslie -
CANABA WEST

Baldwin -
Hincks -
Price -

Merritt -

Atterney General
Receiver General
Chief Commissioner of Publie Works

Provincial Secretary

Attorney General
Inspector General
Commissioner of Crown Lands

Pregident of the Executive Council

April 1850,

Attorney Ganeral
Receiver General

Provincial Secretary

Attorney General
Inspector General
Commissioner of Crown Lands

Chief Commissioner of Public Works
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22nd February to 27th October 1851,

CANADA EAST

Lafontaine Attorney General

Leslie Provinecial Secretary

Taché Receiver General

Bourret Chief Commissioner of Public Works

CANADA WEST

Baldwin Attorney General
Hincks Inspector General
Price Commissioner of Crown Lands

Jas, Morn's

Postmaster: General

G EM ED W 6D W e ox oD me G G e ey Or oy Gp we G &

28th October 1851 to 22nd September 1852,

CANADA EAST

Morin Provincial Secretary

Taché Receiver General

Qéggg Speaker of the Legislative Council
Drummond Attorney General
*Y oung Chief Commissioner of Fublic Works

CANADA WEST

Hincks Inspector General

Morris Postmaster  General

M, Cameron President of the Executive Council
Rolph Commissioner of Crown Lands
Richards Attorney General

# Resigned in September, 1852,



23rd September 1852 to 2lst June 1853,

CANADA EAST
Morin
Taché
Caron
Drummond

| CANADA WEST
Hincks
Morris
Cameron
Rolph

Richards

-

22nd June to 1lith

CANADA FAST
Morin
Taché
Caron
Drummeond

Chabot

Provincial Secretary

Receiver General

Speaker of the Legislative Council
Attorney General

Chief Commissioner of PublicmWorks

Inspector General

Postmasteér: General

President of the Executive Council
Commissioner of Crown Lands

Attorney General

Augus‘b 18 53 °

Provincial Secretary

Heceiver General

Speaker of the Legislative Couneil
Attorney General

Chief Commissioner of Public Works

Page 18%4.
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CANADA WEST

Hincks - Inspector General

Morris - Postmaster: General

Cameron - President of the Executive Council
Rolph - Commissioner of Crown Lands

Ross - Attorney General

15th August to 30th August 1853.

CANADA EAST

Morin . - Provineial Secretary

Tache - Receiver General

Drummond - Attorney General

Chabot - Chief Commissioner of Public Works

CANADA WEST

Hincks - Inspector General

Morris - Speaker of the Legislative Council
Cameron = . Postmastér:: General

Rolph - President of the Executive Council
Ross - Attorney General

31st August 1853 to 10th September 1854,

CANADA EAST

Morin - Commissioner of Crown Lands

Taché - Receiver General

Drummond - Attornéy General

Chabot - Chief Commissioner of Fublic Works

Chauvean - Provincial Secretary



CANADA WEST
Hincks
Camercn

Rolph

Ross

- Inspector General

- Speaker of the Legislative Council

- Postmaster: General
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- President of the Executive Council and
Minister of Agriculbure

- Attorney General
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11th September 1853 to 20th January 1855

CANADA EAST
Morin
Taché
Drummond
Chabot,
Chauveau
CANADA WEST

MacNab

J.A, Maecdonald

Cayley

Ross

Sgence

- Commissioner of Crown Lands

- Receiver General

- Attorney General

- Chief Commissioner of Public Works
- Provincial Secretary

- .President of the Executive Council and
Minister of Agrieulture

- Attorney General

= Inspector General

- Speaker of the Legislative Council

- Postnaster: General
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27th January 1855 to 18th April 1856

CANADA BAST
Taché -
Drummond -

Cauchon -

Lemieux -
Cartier -
o S ]

CANADA WEST

"~ MacNab -

JeA. Magcdonald
Cayley -
Spence -

J.C. Morrison

B

oo ow we

2hth May 1856 to 30th

CANADA EAST

Taché | -

Cauchon -

Lemieux -
#Terrill -

Cartier -

Receiver General
Attorney General

Commissioner of Crown Lands
Chief Commissioner of Public Works

Provincial Secretary

President of the Executive Council and
Minister of Agriculture

Attorney General
Inspector General
Postmaster: General

Without Porifolio
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April 1857

Speaker of the Legislative Council
Commissioner of Crown Lands
Chief Commissioner of Public Works

Provincial Secretary

Attorney General

% Resigned in April 1857.



CANADA WEST

J.A, Macdonald
Cayley

Spence
Momison

- Vankoughnet
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Attorhey General
Inspector Generai ‘
Postmaster: Jeneral
Receiver General

President of the Executive Council and
Minister of Agriculture

1st May to 9th November 1857.

" CANADA BAST
_Taché
Lemieux

Cartier

CANADA WEST
JoA. Mecdonald
Cayley

Speneé
Morrison

Vankoughnet

Speaker of the Legislative Counecil
Chief Commissioner of Public Works

Attorney General

Attorney General
Inspector General
Postmasber: Jeneral
Receiver General

President of the Execubtive Council and
Minister of Agriculture

10th November to 24th November 1857,

CANADA EAST

Taché

Speaker of the Legislative Council
Chief Commissiocner of Public Works

Atborney General



CANADA WEST
Je.A. Macdonal
Cayley

Spence
Morrison
Vankoughnet
25th November 1857.
CANADA EAST
Lenieux
Cartier
Sicotte
QéﬂADA‘WEST
Jeho Macdonald
Cayley

Spence
Morrison

Vankoughnet
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Attorney General

- Inspector General

Poshmaster: General
Receiver General

President of the Executive Council and
Minister of Agriculbure

Speaker of the Legislative Council
Chief Commissioner of Public Works
Attorney General.

Commnissioner of Crown Lands

Attorney General
Inspector General
Postmaster:: seneral
Receiver General

President of the Exeecubive Council and
Minister of Griculture

26th November 1857 to lst Februsry 1858,

CANADA EAST
Cartier
Sicotte

Belleau

Alleyn

Smommassm

Loranger

‘Attorney General

Commissioner of Crown Lands
Speaker of the Legislative Council
Chief Commissioner of Public Works

Provincial Secrebary



CANADA WEST
J.A. Macdonald
Cayley

Spence
Morrison

Vankoughnet

2nd February 29th July

.'CANADA EAST
Cartier
Sicotte
Belleau
Alleyn
Loranger
'CANADA WEST

AT

J.Ae Macdonald

Cayley
Vankoughnet
#*Ross

#3idney Smith

Attorney General

Inspector General

FOStmastafnGeneral

Receiver General

President of the Executive Council and

Minister of Agriculture

1858.

Attorney General

Commissioner of Crown Lands
Speaker of the Legislative Council
Chief Commissioner of Public Works

Provinecial Secretary

Attorney General
Inspector General

President of the Executive Council and
Minister of Agriculture

Receiver General

Postmasiery aGeneral

% Resigped in July
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30th July to lst August 1858,

No Cabinet

2nd August to 4th August 1858,

CANADA EAST
Dorion
Drummond

Lenmieux

Thibaudeau
FmpTTT———erTe commeeessy

’ Holton

CANADA WEST

Brown

J. Morris

J.5, Macdomald

Mowat

T
iy

Foley

prm———s

. Commissioner of Crown Lands

Attorney General

Receiver General

President of the Executive Council and
Minister of Agriculture.

Chief Commissioner of Public Works

Inspector General

‘Speaker of the Legislative Council

Attorney General
Provincial Secretary

Postmastér: General




